Copyright Warning & Restrictions

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

ABSTRACT

REPEATED LOW-LEVEL BLAST INDUCES CHRONIC NEUROINFLAMMATION AND NEUROBEHAVIORAL CHANGES IN RAT MODELS

by

Arun Reddy Ravula

Blast-induced neurotrauma (bTBI) is a signature medical concern for military personnel when they are exposed to explosions in active combat zones. However, soldiers as well as law enforcement personnel are also repeatedly exposed to low-level blasts during training sessions with heavy weaponries as part of combat readiness. Service personnel who sustain brain injuries from repeated low-level blasts (rLLBs) do not display overt pathological symptoms immediately but rather develop cognitive impairments, attention deficits, anxiety, and sleep disturbances over time. An improved rat model of rLLB was developed in this thesis by applying controlled low-level blast pressures (10 psi) repeated five times to model the true mechanism of injuries sustained by service members.

Neither the etiology of rLLB nor the consequences of repeated exposure to this low-level blast are well understood. Thus, this study examined rLLB-induced acute and chronic pathological and behavioral consequences in our rat model. The first aim investigated anxiety, motor, and memory impairments at acute (1-3 days) and chronic (>25 days) time points following rLLB using elevated plus maze (EPM), novel object recognition (NOR), and Rotarod tasks. Rationales for choosing these behavioral tasks were based on the literature; for example, EPM has been widely used in bTBI to assess anxietylike symptoms, and the NOR test has shown consistent memory impairments at different BOPs whereas Morris water maze (MWM) has not. Finally, compared to other motor assessments, Rotarod has sensitivity for detecting motor coordination impairments in low-level blast. Results indicated that animals exposed to rLLB significantly displayed acute and chronic anxiety-like symptoms, motor, and short-term memory impairments compared to control (unexposed) and single low-level blast rats.

The second aim explored the molecular mechanisms involved in neurobehavioral changes, including superoxide-producing NADPH oxidase (NOX1), microglial activation, and reactive astrocytosis as likely contributing factors. Of the many pathological mechanisms present following brain injury, chronic neuroinflammation has been observed for up to 17 years post-TBI and has neuroinflammation been observed even months after bTBI. Chronic persistent neuroinflammation can induce neurotoxicity. Microglia are the innate immune cells of the central nervous system and have both beneficial and detrimental effects based on their activation period. Chronic microglial activation causes continued release of free radicals, cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α), chemokines, and other signaling molecules, resulting in neurobehavioral and pathological changes. Microglial-mediated behavioral deficits can be caused by proinflammatory cytokine IL-1^β. Studies have shown that excessive IL-1 β levels have an influence on anxiety, motor, and short-term recognition memory impairments in clinical and preclinical research. A molecular mechanism that is involved in IL-1 β release is the inflammasome complex, particularly NLRP3. NOX1mediated oxidative stress and NLRP3-mediated IL-1 β release have not been investigated in rLLB. This aim explored the role of the NLRP3 inflammasome complex in regulating caspase-1 activation and subsequent release of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1ß in chronic neuroinflammation. Using immunofluorescence, this study examined NOX1 and NLRP3 expression, microglial activation, and astrocytosis using specific primary antibodies such as NOX1, NLRP3, Iba-1, and GFAP, respectively in the hippocampus due to its high susceptibility for blast wave compared with any other brain region. Results indicated that there was an increase NOX1 and NLRP3 protein expression, microglial activation, and reactive astrocytosis following rLLB.

The third aim investigated the therapeutic effects of MCC950, a specific NLRP3 inhibitor, on neurobehavioral and neuropathological abnormalities following rLLB. This study mainly examines MCC950's protective role against rLLB-induced chronic microglial activation inflammation, NLRP3-IL-1β-mediated and especially neurobehavioral changes. This study performed single immunofluorescence to assess microglial activation and double immunofluorescence followed by colocalization analysis to evaluate NLRP3+ microglia in the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex following rLLB. Treatment with MCC950 prevented short-term recognition memory impairments and mitigated NLRP3 and cleaved caspase-1 expression and IL-1 β release. Furthermore, inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome by administration of MCC950 displayed an improvement in behavioral and pathological changes caused by rLLB, validating the original hypothesis. Therefore, targeting microglial activation by inhibiting the NLRP3 inflammasome activation may have a therapeutic potential to counteract rLLB-induced chronic neurobehavioral changes.

REPEATED LOW-LEVEL BLAST INDUCES CHRONIC NEUROINFLAMMATION AND NEUROBEHAVIORAL CHANGES IN RAT MODELS

by

Arun Reddy Ravula

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology and Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey – Newark in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

Federated Biological Sciences Department

May 2022

Copyright © 2022 by Arun Reddy Ravula

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

APPROVAL PAGE

REPEATED LOW-LEVEL BLAST INDUCES CHRONIC NEUROINFLAMMATION AND NEUROBEHAVIORAL CHANGES IN RAT MODELS

Arun Reddy Ravula

Dr. Namas Chandra, Dissertation Advisor Distinguished Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT.	Date
Dr. Farzan Nadim, Committee Member Professor and Chair of Biological Sciences, NJIT.	Date
Dr. Bryan Pfister, Committee Member Professor and Chair of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT.	Date
Dr. Bruce Citron, Committee Member Professor of Pharmacology, Physiology and Neuroscience, Rutgers University New Jersey Medical School, Newark, New Jersey.	Date

Dr. Tracy Tran, Committee Member Associate Professor of Biological Sciences, Rutgers University, Newark, New Jersey.

P

Date

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Author:	Arun Reddy Ravula
Degree:	Doctor of Philosophy
Date:	May 2022

Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Biological Sciences, New Jersey Institute of Technology-Rutgers University, Newark, NJ, 2022.
- Master of Science in Biomedical Sciences, Rowan University, Stratford, NJ, 2017.
- Master of Pharmacy in Pharmacology, Jawaharlal Nehru Technological University Hyderabad, India, 2014.
- Bachelor of Pharmacy in Pharmaceutical Sciences, Kakatiya University, India, 2011.

Major: Biological Sciences

Publications:

- Ravula, AR., K. Murray, KVR. Rao, B. Pfister, B. Citron, N. Chandra (2021). "MCC950 Attenuates NLRP3 Mediated Neuroinflammation and Memory Impairments Following Repeated Low-Level-Blast in Rat Model" (Manuscript under preparation).
- **Ravula, AR.**, T. Das, A. Gosain, T. Dolalas, S. Padhi, B. Pfister, N. Chandra (2021). "An Updated on Repeated Blast Traumatic Brain Injury". Current Opinion in Biomedical Engineering (under review).
- Ravula, AR., J. Rodriguez, D. Younger, V. Perumal, N. Shao, B. Pfister, KVR. Rao, N. Chandra (2021). "Animal Model of Repeated Low-Level Blast Traumatic Brain Injury Displays Acute and Chronic Neurobehavioral and Neuropathological Changes". Experimental Neurology 349: 113938.
- Murugan, M., A. Ravula, A. Gandhi, G. Vegunta, S. Mukkamalla, W. Mujib and N. Chandra (2020). "Chemokine Signaling Mediated Monocyte Infiltration Affects Anxiety-Like Behavior Following Blast Injury." Brain, Behavior, Immunity 88: 340-352.

- Aravind, A., **AR. Ravula**, N. Chandra, B. Pfister (2020). "Behavioral Deficits in Animal Models of Blast Traumatic Brain Injury." Frontiers in Neurology 11: 990.
- Rana, P., KVR. Rao, A. Ravula, R. Trivedi, M.D' Souza, RK. Gupta and N. Chandra (2020). "Oxidative Stress Contributes to Cerebral Metabolomic Profile Changes in Animal Model of Blast Induced Traumatic Brain Injury." Metabolomics 16: 1-12.
- Kuriakose, M., D. Younger, AR. Ravula, E. Alay, KVR. Rao and N. Chandra (2019). "Synergistic Role of Oxidative Stress and Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability as Injury Mechanisms in The Acute Pathophysiology of Blast Induced Neurotrauma." Scientific Reports 9(1): 1-12.

Provisional Patent:

Perumal, V., AR. Ravula, N. Chandra, KVR. Rao, V. Kumar (2021)."Targeted Nanoparticle for Traumatic Brain Injury and Other CNS Diseases", U.S. Serial No. 63/180,814. If we knew what it was we were doing, it would not be called research, would it?

-Albert Einstein

All birds find shelter during a rain. But eagle avoids rain by flying above the clouds. Problems are common, but attitude makes the difference.

-APJ Abdul Kalam.



< Dedicated to my Family>

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Namas Chandra, for his incredible mentorship and guidance through each stage of the process.

I would specifically like to thank my committee members, Dr. Farzan Nadim, Dr.

Tracy Tran, Dr. Bryan Pfister, and Dr. Bruce Citron for their valuable guidance.

I would like to thank Dr. Kakulavarapu Rama Rao for his valuable suggestions.

I would like to acknowledge Mr. Monuel Aulov and Ms. Esther Hom, for their technical support.

I would also like to thank my peers and colleagues, Dr. Jose Rodriguez, Dr. E. Alay, Dr. Daniel Younger, Dr. Ningning shao, Dr. Agnieszka Agas, Dr. Venkatesan Perumal, Dr. Madhuvika Murugan, and Tulika Das for their stimulating conversations.

I would like to thank Kathleen Murray for her unforgettable and priceless support at final stage of my dissertation.

I would like to thank my undergraduate students Aakaash Gosain, Thomas Dolalas, and Sheetal Padhi for assisting me with experiments through the final months of my research.

I would like to thank my friends Sai Kumar, Jagadeesh Prasad, Tejaswini Reddy, Suraj Benerji and Aditya Kiran for their emotional support during hard times.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Rama Devi and Mahender Reddy Ravula, my wife, Anusha, my sister and Brother-in-law, Anusha and Sasidhar Reddy, my adorable nephew, Anish Reddy, and my lovable Palwai, Kallem, Gade, and Jonnalagadda family members for their sympathetic ear and unwavering love and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

C	hapter	Page
1	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Blast Traumatic Brain Injury	1
	1.2 Repeated Low-Level Blast	3
	1.3 Background on Neuropathology and Neurobehavior in bTBI	4
	1.3.1 Blood-brain barrier dysfunction	5
	1.3.2 Oxidative stress	7
	1.3.3 Neuroinflammation	11
	1.3.4 NLRP3 inflammasome in chronic neuroinflammation	15
	1.3.5 NLRP3 activation	16
	1.3.6 MCC950	19
	1.4 Neurobehavioral Changes in TBI	20
	1.4.1 Cognitive deficits	20
	1.4.2 Anxiety	21
	1.4.3 Motor deficits	22
	1.5 Significance of the Dissertation Research	23
	1.6 Hypothesis and Specific Aims	25
2	CHARACTERIZATION OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC NEUROBEHAVIORAL ABNORMALITIES FOLLOWING rLLB	28
	2.1 Rationale for Specific Aim 1	28

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Chapter	Page
	2.2 Material and Methods	29
	2.2.1 Animal groups	30
	2.2.2 Repeated blast exposure on animals	30
	2.2.3 Neurobehavior studies	32
	2.3 Statistical analysis	39
	2.4 Results	39
	2.4.1 rLLB induces acute and chronic anxiety	39
	2.4.2 Motor functions altered in animals exposed to rLLB	40
	2.4.3 Animals exposed o rLLB display short term memory loss	41
	2.5 Discussion	42
3	CHARACTERIZATION OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC NEUROINFLAMMATION FOLLOWING rLLB.	46
	3.1 Rationale for Specific Aim 2	46
	3.2 Material and Methods	48
	3.2.1 Animal groups	48
	3.2.2 Repeated blast exposure on animals	49
	3.2.3 Tissue collection and biochemical studies	49
	3.2.4 Western blotting	50
	3.2.5 Immunofluorescence and microscopy	50
	3.2.6 Cell counting and morphological analysis of microglia	51

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Chapter	Page
	3.3 Statistical analysis	52
	3.4 Results	52
	3.4.1 Animals exposed to rLLB display oxidative damage	52
	3.4.2 rLLB induces acute and chronic microglial activation	53
	3.4.3 rLLB increased acute and chronic nlrp3 proteins expression	55
	3.4.4 rLLB induces acute and chronic reactive astrocytosis	56
	3.5 Discussion	57
4	ADMINISTRATION OF SPECIFIC NLRP3 INHIBITOR PROMOTES NEUROPROTECTION AND NEUROBEHAVIORAL IMPROVEMENTS FOLLOWING rLLB.	62
	4.1 Rationale for Specific Aim 3	62
	4.2 Material and Methods	63
	4.2.1 Animal groups	63
	4.2.2 Repeated blast exposure on animals	64
	4.2.3 Novel object recognition	64
	4.2.4 Tissue collection and biochemical studies	65
	4.2.5 Western blotting	65
	4.2.6 NLRP3+ microglia cell counting	66
	4.2.7 Microglia morphological analysis or skeleton analysis	67
	4.2.8 Enzymes linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA), IL-1β	69
	4.3 Statistical analysis	70

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Chapter	Page
4.4 Results	70
4.4.1 MCC950 mitigated rLLB induced acute and chronic short term memory deficits	70
4.4.2 MCC950 decreased rLLB induced chronic microglial activation	71
4.4.3 MCC950 decreased rLLB induced chronic microglial activation and NLRP3 protein expression.	73
4.4.4 MCC950 decreased rLLB induces acute and chronic NLRP3 protein expression.	78
4.4.5 MCC950 decreased rLLB induced acute and chronic active caspase-1 enzymes expression	79
4.4.6 MCC950 decreased rLLB induces chronic pro-inflammatory cytokine il-1 β release	80
4.5 Discussion	81
5 GENERAL DISCUSSION	85
6 REFERENCES	93

Table

LIST OF TABLES

3.2	Source, Catalogue Number, and Dilution Factors of Antibodies Used	51
	in Immunohistochemistry and Western Blot Analyses.	

4.2 Source, Catalogue Number, and Dilution Factors of Antibodies Used 67 in Immunohistochemistry and Western Blot Analyses.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	e	Page	
1.1	Dose response curve for the rats exposed to single blast exposures ranging from 60-450 kPa	2	
1.2	Images of 0.50 caliber sniper riffle, carl-gustav recoilless rifle and breaching exercise	3	
1.3	NOX involvement in secondary TBI pathology; Oxidative stress	10	
1.4	Microglia mediated chronic neuroinflammation and cell death	13	
1.5	A schematic of NLRP3 activation and IL-1β release	17	
1.6	A schematic of specific three aims of the dissertation	27	
2.1	A. The shock tube at NJIT. For repeated blasts within short interval (<5min), the surfboard (where rats are placed) is directly connected to anesthesia chamber by tubing (blunt arrow) and isoflurane is continuously supplied directly into the shock tube. B. The tip of the surfboard where the animal inhales the isoflurane (pointed arrow).	31	
2.2	A. A schematic representation of the current study. The 9-inches square cross-section shock tube at NJIT facility and timeline of the study. B . Shock wave curve for five 70kPa successive blasts	32	
2.3	Picture of elevated plus maze apparatus used	33	
2.4	Picture of open field chamber including the novel and familiar object	36	
2.5	Picture of Rotarod apparatus used to assess the motor deficits	38	
2.6	Anxiety/depression symptoms in rats exposed to rLLB. Left panel: Amount of time spent in the closed arm by animals exposed to rLLB showing a significant increase (* compared with sham, $p^*<0.05$). Right panel: Absence anxiety-like symptoms in animals exposed to single blast as indicated by time spent in closed arms similar to that of a sham. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 6-8 animals in each group, and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction as post-hoc test	40	

LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

Figure

41 Motor incoordination in rats exposed to rLLB. Left panel: Latency to fall by animals exposed to rLLB showing a significant decreased latency time 2.7 (* compared with sham, p*<0.05). **Right panel:** Animals exposed to single blast display normal latency time as that of controls showing longer endurance. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 6-8 animals in each group and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction as post-hoc test..... 2.8 42 Animals exposed to rLLB display short-term memory loss. Discrimination index shows that animals with rLLB have significantly less (p*<0.05, $p^{**} < 0.01$) ability to recognize the novel object. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 8 animals in each group and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction as post-hoc test..... 3.1 Representative images of NOX1 protein expression in control and animals 53 exposed to rLLB. A-C control express less NOX1 expression whereas animals exposed to rLLB express significantly more NOX1 at 35 days (p*<0.05, student's t test, n=5). **D-E** Immunoblot analysis also revealed similar pattern as immunofluorescence, there is a significantly increased NOX1 expression at 35 days (p*<0.05, one way ANOVA, n=3). Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 3-5 animals in each group, scale bar= 70um..... 3.2 Representative images of the total number and activated form of microglia 54 in animals exposed to rLLB. Control animals display a normal microglial morphology containing smaller cell soma and robust processes radiating in all the directions (indicated by yellow arrows), whereas animals exposed to rLLB display shortened processes with enlarged cell soma consistent with the activation. Left panel shows enlarged images of activated microglia in animals exposed to rLLB. Scale bar= 40 µm..... 3.3 54 Quantitation of total and activated microglial number in control and animals exposed to rLLB. Note increased microglia number in rats exposed to rLLB only at 35 days post-blast but not acutely, suggesting that microglia proliferation is a chronic phenomenon. Unlike the total change in the number of microglial, the number of activated microglia significantly increased in both acute (24h) and chronic stages (35 days post-injury), strongly suggesting that the activation process is instantaneous following injury. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 5 animals in each group and the data analyzed by Student's t test; p****<0.0001, p***<0.0002, Mann Whitney test; p**<0.01.....

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

- 3.4 Chronic NLRP3 protein expression following repeated low-level blast in hippocampus regions. A-C represents fluorescence images of NLRP3, N=3 per group, one way ANOVA, **p<0.01. Scale bar of 70um.....
- 3.5 Chronic NLRP3 protein expression following repeated low-level blast in hippocampus regions. **A**, **B** represents western blot images and band intensity of NLRP3 protein, N=3 per group, Student T-test, *p<0.05......
- 3.6 Representative images of the GFAP immunofluorescence in animals 56 exposed to rLLB. Left Control animals display a normal GFAP immunoreactivity, whereas animals exposed to rLLB display a robust increase of GFAP immunoreactivity at 35 days post-injury, suggesting that chronic blast induces reactive astrocytosis. **Right** Quantitation GFAP immunofluorescence. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 5 animals in each group and the data analyzed by Student's t test; p*<0.05. Scale bar= 70 µm.....
- 4.1 MCC950 treatment improved rLLB induced short term memory deficits. 71 Discrimination index shows that animals with rLLB have significantly less (p*<0.05, p***<0.001) ability to recognize the novel object whereas, MCC950 administration improved (p*<0.05). Data is mean ± S.E.M of 8 animals in each group and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with a tukey HSD as post-hoc test p**<0.01, p***<0.001.....
- 4.2 MCC950 suppressed rLLB Induced chronic microglial activation. Graphs represents mean process length and number of processes of microglial cell in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex at day 30 in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=4-5), one-way ANOVA, p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001 Mean ± SEM.....
- 4.4 Representative images of microglia morphology (number of processes and processes length) in control, rLLB and MCC950 treated groups. Microglia cells in control group has a greater number of processes per cell in all direction and mean process length per cell whereas, injured group has a smaller number of processes per cell and mean process length per cell.....

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure

4.5	MCC950 suppressed rLLB Induced chronic microglial activation and NLRP3 protein Expression. A) Graph represents total microglial number, B) graphs represents NLRP3+microglial cells in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex at day 30 in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=4-5), on-way ANOVA, p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001 Mean ± SEM.	74
4.6	NLRP3+ Microglia counting procedure. An image represents whole hippocampus region, B images CA1, CA3 and DG region of hippocampus selected for counting NLRP3+ microglia (C, D). C image represents counting total microglia within the region. D represents NLRP3 positive microglia (yellow arrow) and NLRP3 negative microglia (blue arrow).	75
4.7	Representation of NLRP3+Microglia (colocalized cells) in hippocampus (DG) in Control group	76
4.8	Representation of NLRP3+Microglia (colocalized cells) in hippocampus (DG) in rLLB group. More expression of NLRP3+microglial cell in rLLB group compared with control	77
4.9	Representation of NLRP3+Microglia (colocalized cells) in hippocampus (DG) in MCC950 treated group. Colocalized NLRP3+microglial cell was less in treatment group compared to injured (rLLB) group	78
4.10	MCC950 decreased rLLB Induced acute and chronic NLRP3 inflammasome protein expression. Graphs represents NLRP3 expression at day 1(1D) and day 30 (30D) in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=3), one-way ANOVA, p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001, Mean ± SEM.	79
4.11	MCC950 decreased rLLB Induced acute and chronic active caspase-1 enzyme expression. Graphs represents active caspase-1 expression at day 1(1D) and day 30 (30D) in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=3), one-way ANOVA, p***<0.001, Mean ± SEM	80
4.12	MCC950 suppressed rLLB induced chronic pro-inflammatory cytokine IL- 1 β release. Left and Right graphs represent concentration (pg/ml) of IL-1 β at day 1(1D) and day 30 (30D) respectively in vehicle, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=4), one-way ANOVA, p**<0.01, p***<0.001, Mean ± SEM	81

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure

Page

5.1 Schematic of dissertation work on rLLB induced NLRP3 mediated 92 neurological changes. rLLB induced chronic microglia activation through NLRP3 mediated pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1β release which leads to pathological and behavioral changes. MCC950 treatment mitigated pathological changes and ameliorated short-term memory impairments.....

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a major cause of hospitalizations [1] and resulted in nearly 61,000 deaths in 2019 (CDC.gov/TBI, 2019). In the civilian population, TBI occurs as a result of motor vehicle crashes, falls, and assault [2]; in soldiers, blast exposures from explosive devices are the most common source of TBI (bTBIs), accounting for 50% of all injuries [3]. Over the past two decades, there has been an increase in bTBI cases in both military and civilian population due to the increased usage of improvised explosive devices in acts of terrorism and warfare domestically and abroad [4-6].

Blast injuries are caused by an impact of pressure from a blast wave generated by explosive devices which travels at supersonic speed outwards from the explosion site. When a blast wave comes in contact with a human, it induces a sudden rise of pressure within the person's biological system and tissues. Air filled organs such as the ears, lungs, stomach, intestines and cerebrospinal fluid filled brain and spinal cord are highly susceptible to these detrimental pressure changes [7]. The damage associated with explosive detonation (blast explosions) can be classified based on its source: 1) primary damage caused by pure shock waves, 2) secondary damage resulting from penetration of fragmentation (shrapnel) and other projectiles into the brain parenchyma, 3) tertiary damage originating from impact with other objects, and 4) miscellaneous damage caused by exposure to heat and toxic gases [8]. In bTBI, the blast or shock wave induced injuries are categorized as mild, moderate, or severe based on the blast over pressure (BOP) (defined as local pressure minus atmospheric ambient pressure, in kilopascals, kPa)

experienced from the blast wave. Based on mortality rate, our lab has standardized the dose-response curve for a single blast exposure in rodents and categorized them into low (\leq 70 kPa), mild (70-130 kPa), moderate (130-180 kPa) and severe (\geq 190 kPa) [9]. Mild blast exposure is characterized by 0% mortality with no visible changes in neurological severity score (**Figure 1.1**).



Figure 1.1 Dose response curve for the rats exposed to single blast exposure ranging from 60-450kPa. *Source: [9, 10].*

Despite the increase in studies related to bTBI in recent years, there is only a limited understanding of how blast waves interact with the brain to cause injury, which has precluded the establishment of comprehensive diagnostic criteria for bTBI and potential therapeutic strategies.

1.2 Repeated Low-level Blast

Repeated low-level blast (rLLB) exposure is the mildest form of bTBI. Military and law enforcement personnel experience these low-level blasts (about 13-70 kPa) repeatedly throughout their training when routinely using heavy weaponry, including 0.50 caliber rifles and Carl Gustaf recoilless rifles, as well as during breacher training programs [11] (**Figure 1.2**).



Figure 1.2 Images of 0.50 caliber sniper rifle, Carl-Gustav recoilless rifle and breaching exercise. *Source:* [11-13].

Despite a tremendous amount of preclinical research done on single mild-moderate blast exposure and its detrimental effects on the brain, there has been limited understanding of low-level blast, especially rLLB and its influence on the brain. rLLB is becoming a pressing issue for military personnel as service members who experience rLLB do not overtly exhibit the acute neurological and pathological symptoms seen in moderate and severe bTBI. However, personnel often complain of chronic symptoms such as fatigue, headache, mild cognitive impairments, and sleeplessness. It is currently unclear whether these symptoms are due to physical exhaustion or neurological effects of rLLB. This delayed presentation of symptoms has misguided service members or soldiers to return to work where they continue to be exposed to low-level blasts multiple times a day throughout their short training. These repeated exposures lead to long-term neurological problems, including memory decline, anxiety, sleep disturbances, attention deficits, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) [14, 15].

Clinical assessments of service members exposed to rLLB have been limited and rarely include longitudinal studies [12, 14]. Additionally, true animal models of rLLB have not yet been developed. Earlier studies on repetitive blast have focused on cumulative effects of repeated exposures over longer intervals (i.e., 24 hours between blasts) and within a range of BOPs far higher (i.e., 90-140 kPa) than those experienced by service members [16]. In order to mimic the exposures normally experienced by military personnel, our lab developed a rat model of rLLB in which animals receive five successive low-level (70 kPa) exposures within a 10-minute period to represent the use of carl Gustov recoilless rifles and/or 0.5 caliber rifles but not breachers [16]. Generating such successive blasts within a short period is an engineering challenge within a laboratory setting. Our laboratory has established innovative ways of achieving the relevant loading and these methods of rLLB exposure described used in this thesis work.

1.3 Background on Neuropathology and Behavior in TBI and bTBI

In TBI, an external physical or blast insult directly damages the brain, renders individuals unconscious, impairs cognition, deteriorates motor abilities, and triggers psychological disorders [17]. TBI is characterized by primary and secondary injuries. The primary injury is a result of direct mechanical forces (i.e., impact, blast and penetration) applied to the skull and brain at the time of impact. Primary injury leads to skull fractures, diffuse axonal injuries, and brain hemorrahages, and most of these damages are instantaneous and irreversible. In contrast, secondary injuries are non-mechanical, progressively evolve over

an extended period (minutes to years) after the primary injury and manifest as alterations in brain homeostasis which ultimately lead to neuronal cell death [18].

Unlike primary injury, secondary injuries can be reduced and are reversible. These effects develop from complex biochemical cascades and mechanisms that are activated after the primary injury and include blood-brain barrier disruption, neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, brain edema, cerebral hypoxia, neuronal apoptosis, and neurodegeneration [19]. Although multiple mechanisms are involved in secondary injury following TBI, neuroinflammation plays a vital role in the development of chronic secondary injury following aTBI event.

1.3.1 Blood-brain barrier dysfunction

Among the aforementioned primary and secondary injury mechanisms in bTBI, altered blood -brain barrier integrity has been observed in many cases [20, 21]. The blood-brain barrier (BBB) is a selectively permeable membrane that separates the brain from the circulatory system. The BBB is mainly composed of brain microvascular endothelial cells, astrocytes, basement membrane, pericytes, and neurons, collectively known as a neurovascular unit [22]. Unlike peripheral vascular endothelial cells, brain vascular endothelial cells are tightly connected with tight junctional proteins (TJs) such as occludin, claudin -5 and zonal occludens (ZO1-3). Under normal physiological conditions, the BBB constantly supplies essential nutrients to the brain for proper functionality. However under pathological conditions, BBB integrity is compromised. For instance, BBB integrity was found to be compromised in many neurological disorders such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, multiple sclerosis and stroke [23]. Several studies have reported BBB opening

in various TBI models including, controlled cortical impact (CCI) [24, 25], weight drop models, fluid percussion injury(FPI) [26, 27] and blast exposure [28-31].

BBB disruption is regarded as a hallmark of bTBI, since altered BBB integrity has been observed through various methods in many models of mild to moderate blast exposure. In earlier work from our lab, Kuriakose et al reported BBB breakdown in a rat model of bTBI at BOPs of 35, 70, 130, and 180 kPa by observing extravasation of Evans Blue (EB) and sodium fluorescein (NaF) tracers as a measure of BBB permeability. Increased EB and NaF intensity was observed as early as 15 minutes post-injury and persisted for 4 hours in the frontal cortex, striatum, hippocampus, thalamus and cerebellum but returned to the control levels by 24 hours [20]. This study also reported translocation of tight junctional proteins such as occludens and claudin-5 in the brain and blood serum as early as 15 minutes to 4 hours following blast exposure. In another study, Kuriakose et al found a relationship between oxidative stress, NADPH oxidase enzyme 1 (NOX1) and tight junctional proteins in single moderate blast. This study found vascular endothelial NOX1 expression elevated as early as 4hrs along with tight junctional proteins, occludin and claudin 5 displacements, whereas apocynin, NOX inhibitor, treatment preserved tight junctional protein level [32]. Similarly, Stokum et al. also reported a significant increase in EB extravasation at 3 and 15 min and 3 hrs post-injury, which returned to the control level by 24hrs [33].

Conversely, other groups have reported significant BBB opening at later time points such as 3 and 24 hours in the same regions following moderate blast with BBB resealing at 3 days post-injury [30, 31]. This temporal discrepancy in the resealing of the BBB post-injury may reflect the different blast intensities used during these exposures such that the impact of the blast wave on the BBB integrity positively correlates with BOPs. Indeed, Kabu et al observed an increased BBB opening at 24 hours with increased blast intensity [34]. Besides extravasation tracer BBB breach has also been quantified in bTBI by analyzing tight junctional proteins such as occludin, claudin-5 and ZO-1. Abdul et al demonstrated a significant decrease in the concentrations of tight junctional proteins at 6 and 24 hours following mild to moderate blast exposure [35].

These studies not only demonstrated that BBB is an essential mechanism of injury in bTBI but also showed that the intensity of breakage is a function of both blasts overpressure and elapsed time after exposure. Although these effects were observed in models of single moderate bTBI, the repetitive exposures experienced in rLLB may have a cumulative effect on the mechanical rupture since there is not sufficient time for the BBB to recover.

1.3.2 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress results from an imbalance between free radical production and endogenous antioxidant enzymes (i.e., superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, glutathione-S-transferase). Free radicals are highly reactive molecules that have unpaired outer electrons. Under pathological conditions free radical generation surpasses antioxidant enzyme levels. These free radicals aggressively attack lipids, proteins, and DNA, inducing irreversible oxidative modification and resulting in cellular necrosis or apoptosis. Oxidative stress is one of the known mechanisms contributing to secondary injury in TBI pathology [36].

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are the main sources of oxidative stress in brain injuries. ROS include superoxide $(O^{2}-)$, hydroxyl radical (HO·), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and hypochlorous acid (HOCl). RNS refers to nitric oxide (NO)-derived compounds such as peroxynitrite (ONOO-) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). Superoxide is the most common free radical generated immediately following TBI, which is produced when an oxygen molecule gains one electron from other molecules [37]. Increased O^2 – reacts with NO to form peroxynitrite, an extremely neurotoxic RNS, which causes damage of lipids, proteins and DNA through oxidation, inactivation of cellular antioxidant enzymes, activation of proinflammatory nuclear factors and eventual tissues damage [38]. Enzymes involved in ROS generation include NADPH oxidase (NOX), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), cytochrome P450, cyclooxygenase (COX), lipoxygenase, and xanthine oxidase [23]. Of these, NOX is the only enzyme whose primary function is ROS generation whereas for others ROS is a byproduct. Furthermore, recent work from our lab and others identified NOX as a major contributor to the generation of superoxide in the cell following TBI highlighting its role in mediating secondary injury [9, 32, 35, 39-43].

1.3.2.1 NOX activation leads to oxidate stress in TBI.

NOX is a membrane-bound multi-subunit enzyme complex that is mostly present in phagocytic cells (PHOX/NOX2) and acts as a defense mechanism via generating superoxide ions to kill invading pathogens. The NOX enzyme complex consists of both plasma membrane-bound components: cytochrome b558, composed of p^{22PHOX}, gp^{91PHOX}, cytosolic components, p^{47PHOX}, p^{67PHOX}, and p^{40PHOX} and Rac G-protein. There are seven known NOX complex isoforms that are widely distributed throughout the body: NOX1,

NOX2, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, dual oxidase DUOX1, DUOX2. The pathological role of the NOX1, 2 and 4 isoforms have been studied extensively in neurodegenerative disorders, stroke, and TBI [44]. Within the CNS, neurons express both NOX1 and NOX2, microglia predominantly express NOX2 and astrocytes express mostly NOX4 as well as small amount of NOX1 and 2 [44].

NOX acts as a key producer of non-mitochondrial ROS in TBI which initiates further damage after primary injury directly caused by shock waves due to its presence within the plasma membrane of neurons (**Figure 1.3**). Several studies have examined NOX expression in TBI pathology. Post-mortem human brain cerebral cortex samples revealed an increase in NOX2 expression in neurons as early as 6 and 24 hours post-injury accompanied by an increase in DNA oxidation [45]. Similarly, elevated expression of NOX4 was observed in the cortex of athletes suffering from chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE) [40]. A separate group observed an increase in NOX2 expression as early as 1 hour which persisted for 96 hours post-injury after a controlled cortical impact injury (CCI). This study also demonstrated that the acute (1 hour post-injury) increase in NOX2 was observed in neurons whereas chronic (96 hours) NOX2 expression was observed in microglia [42, 46]. These data were supported by another study that showed elevated NOX2 expression at 7 and 28 days post-blast compared to sham controls [47].

Our lab reported an upregulation in NOX1 expression in rat brain microvessels as early as 1hour post-blast which persisted for 8 days [9, 35]. Subsequent research from our lab revealed an increase in spatial and temporal expression of NOX1 and NOX2 enzymes as early as 4 hours post-blast in neurons and microglia of the cerebrum and cerebellum [41]. Similarly, reports from our lab showed a relationship between NOX1 expression in brain endothelial cells and BBB dysfunction. This dysfunction resulted due to oxidative stress induced by superoxide generation post-blast exposure. Administration of apocynin (5 mg/kg,i.p, NOX inhibitor) 30 minutes prior to blast exposure reduced BBB dysfunction, oxidative stress and NOX expression [32]. In support of this data, studies from Luke-Wold et al demonstrated an increase in NOX4 expression and superoxide production in the cortex at 24 hours post-blast after bTBI in rodent model [40].

However, research has not been conducted thus far to examine NOX1 mediated oxidative stress in a repetitive blast injury model. The hippocampus has a high vulnerability for oxidative stress compared to any other regions and especially repeated exposure in particular has a profound impact on the hippocampus [48]. Hence, this study investigated rLLB induced NOX1 mediated oxidative stress in hippocampal subregions such as CA1,CA3 and DG.



Figure 1.3 NOX involvement in secondary TBI pathology; Oxidative stress.

1.3.3 Neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is a known secondary injury mechanism in various forms of TBI, which can persist up to 17 years post TBI [49]. Inflammation in the brain after trauma occurs in two ways: first, by disruption of BBB integrity when microglia become activated locally near the vascular rupture [50] and second, by gradual propagation of glial cells i.e., astrocytes and microglia activation due to neuronal damage [51].

The acute neuroinflammatory response includes secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and free radicals within minutes following injury. The activation of resident microglia (CNS) and infiltration of macrophages (PNS) are key players in neuroinflammatory response after a TBI event. In the CNS, microglia and astrocytes are the two main types of glial cells involved in innate immune response. Astrocytes are majorly involved in BBB formation and provide protection from neuronal excitotoxicity by clearing extracellular glutamate levels [52]. After injury, astrocytes work with brain derived neurotrophic factors to aid neuronal recovery and protect neurons from injury-induced cell death [53]. However, prolonged/hyperactivation of astrocytes can contribute to neuronal damage [54].

1.3.3.1 Role of microglia in TBI pathology.

Microglial cells are the primary immune cells of the CNS which constantly survey their environment for any changes in homeostasis via their long and branched processes. These processes are motile with an average extension of 1.47 μ m/minute and a retraction rate of 0.4-3.8 μ m/minute. Like human microglia, rodent resident microglia display four main phenotypes: resting, primed, activated and amoeboid [55, 56]. In the resting stage, microglia possess a rod shaped soma with processes extending out symmetrically in all directions. Primed microglia possess an oblong cell body with long processes and multiple branches and act as an intermediate stage between resting and activated microglia. Activated microglia have an enlarged soma and fewer, shorter and unramified processes compared to those in the resting and primed stages. Microglia can also release cytokines, chemokines and free radicals during the activation stage [57]. Amoeboid microglia possess an amoeboid cell body and few unramified processes with phagocytic activity.

Boche et al. classified microglial activation into two stages: M1 state (proinflammatory, detrimental) and M2 (anti-inflammatory, defensive/protective) [58]. In the M1 stage, microglia are activated in the presence of pathogens, infection, neurotoxins or tissue damages due to brain injury and produce oxidative metabolites (superoxide, NO), proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. These factors are responsible for host defense but also cause damage to the surrounding tissues in autocrine (acting on microglia) or paracrine (acting on other neural cells including neurons and astrocytes) manner [59]. In the M2 stage, microglia produce anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-10,IL-13 and IL-18 which promote matrix remodeling, angiogenesis and tissue repair and tissue regeneration [60]. Moreover, activated microglial cells are highly receptive to proinflammatory as well as anti-inflammatory substances such as interleukin (IL-1 β , IL-6, II-18), interferons (INF- γ , δ), tumor necrosis factors (TNF- α), NO and ROS (**Figure 1.4**), which are produced by neighboring microglia, astrocytes, neurons and endothelial cells [19]. Microglial activation is considered to be a double-edged sword since activated microglial cells initially protect the brain after injury by separating healthy and injured tissue inorder to minimize the spread of damage in the brain [19]. However, a chronic microglial activation results in the upregulation of several pro-inflammatory cytokines

including TNF- α , COX-1 and 2, IL-1 β , 6 and 12, and INF- δ , and the release of a variety of free radicals which eventually result in neuronal damage [61].



Figure 1.4 Microglia mediated chronic neuroinflammation and cell death.

1.3.3.2 Cytokine release following microglial activation.

Cytokines are small molecular nonstructural proteins with diverse roles, in the CNS including the regulation of key cell functions during development, maintenance homeostasis in mature organisms and coordination of host-defense mechanisms in response to infection or traumatic events. Cytokine levels are low under normal physiological conditions but rapidly increase in response to insult including brain infections, ischemia and TBI. Almost all neuronal cells can produce these mediators and also possess receptors to these mediators [62]. TBI triggers various cells mainly microglia to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines: TNF- α , IL-1, IL-18 and IL-6 or anti-inflammatory cytokines: IL-4, Il-10 and IL-13, which inhibits further proinflammatory cytokine secretion.

1.3.3.3 Role of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1β in TBI pathology.

IL-1 is the first member of the IL family and it is not a single molecule it exists in IL-1 α and IL-1 β . IL-1 α , β both cytokines exert their action through same IL-1RI. On contrary, there is another cytokine within IL-1 family IL-ra, IL-1receptor antagonist which selectively blocks all IL-1 cytokines actions. All three forms IL-1 α , IL- β and IL-ra exist in precursors form such as pro-IL-1 α , pro-IL- β and pro-IL-ra. Except for pro-IL- β , remaining pro isoforms are biologically active whereas pro-IL- β need cleavage by caspase-1 to release as active IL-1 β [63]. NLRP3 inflammasome is one of the mechanisms involved significantly in activation of caspase-1 and releasing active IL-1 β from the cells.

IL-1 cytokines expressed a low-level concentration in the healthy brain, whereas at moderate level, they play an important role in normal physiological process including development, sleep, synaptic plasticity, synaptic pruning and memory consolidation and formation during adulthood [64]. On the other hand at raised levels IL-1 cytokines shows detrimental effects during traumatic event. A rapid upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-1Ra, IL-1 and II receptors (IL-1R, IL-1RII) expression in rat stroke model [65]. Similarly, IL-1 α expression increased in microglia as early as 4 hours after cerebral ischemia [66]. Exogenous administration of IL-1 β exacerbates ischemic damage [67] whereas in IL-1 β knock out experiments revealed an improvement [68]. Earlier studies demonstrated an increase in IL-1 β and IL-18 levels in brain homogenates after controlled cortical impact focal injury. In this study, they have found early raise in IL-1 β at 6hr post-injury which came to control levels by day 7 whereas IL-18 levels gradually increased at day 7 [69]. A study investigated the influence of p38 α (MAPK14) protein kinase involvement in controlling IL-1 β release from microglia following fluid percussion injury. They found an
early raised in IL-1 β (acute, 0-12hrs) levels in p38 α knock out (KO) compared to wild type animals whereas, at chronic time (day 7) the IL-1 β levels reduced in the same p38 α KO animal group [70].

IL-1 β receptors are widely distributed all over the brain but are most densly populated in the hippocampus [71]. Earlier studies demonstrated the influence of IL-1 β on neurotransmitter release and turnover, endocrine functions and behavioral changes including impaired spatial memory, sleep disturbances, decreased exploratory activity, anxiety through exogenous administration (I.P injection or intracranial injections) of IL-1 β [72-78].

1.3.4 NLRP3 inflammasome in chronic neuroinflammation

Microglial cells are the innate immune cells of the CNS which are activated in response to the presence of pathogens associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or endogenously produced damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) through pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) such as Toll like cell surface receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptor proteins (NLRPs) and RIG-I like receptor [19]. Chronic neuroinflammation due to sustained microglial activation is a frequent observation in bTBI [79, 80]. One of the key players contributing to chronic neuroinflammation is the inflammasome complex. The inflammasome is a multi-component cytosolic complex which induces proteolytic cleavage of proinflammatory cytokines such as pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18. The inflammasome complex consists of three major components: cytosolic pattern recognition receptor (NLR, acts as a sensor), caspase1 (effector protein), and an adaptor protein ASC (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase-recruitment domain).

There are various inflammasome complexes including NLRP1,3,6,12, NLRC4 and AIM2. Of these NLRP3 (pyrin domain 3 containing NLLR family) is the most studied inflammasome complex due to its reception for wide range of stimuli. The NLRP3 molecule contains three major components: an amino-terminal PYRIN (PYD) domain, a nucleotide-binding NACHT domain, and a carboxy-terminal leucine-rich (LRR) domain (autoinhibition). The NACHT domain possesses ATPase enzyme activity, which plays a key role in NLRP3 activation (self-association and function). NLRP3 is a multi-protein ensemble that serves as a molecular sensor to detect microbial antigens, environmental irritants, and internal "danger signals" such as ROS, extracellular ATP, amyloid β , mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular damage [81-84]. In response to pathogens or endogenous signaling (i.e., TBI), NLRP3 becomes activated and assembles the inflammasome complex [85]. Assembly and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome lead to the production and release of activated/cleaved caspase-1 and proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β and IL-18). Besides IL-1 β , cleaved caspase-1 is also involved in an inflammatory programmed cell death known as pyroptosis [86].

1.3.5 NLRP3 activation

In general, activation of NLRP3 is a two-step process that requires two signals; priming and activation [84]. The priming signal serves two major functions: 1) transcriptional upregulation of inflammasome components such as NLRP3, caspase-1, ASC, and pro-IL- 1β via NF-kB, and 2) post-translational modifications of NLRP3 such as ubiquitylation, phosphorylation and sumoylation, which autosupresses to maintain its stable inactive form [87-89]. The activation signal is typically initiates the oligomerization and activation of the inflammasome complex that cleaves pro-IL-1 β into its active form (IL-1 β) and is subsequently released from the cell (**Figure 1.5**). So far multiple upstream signals that have been involved in the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome complex including PAMPS, DAMPS, ATP, ionic imbalance (K⁺ efflux, Ca⁺² flux, Cl⁻ efflux), lysosomal disruption, release of cathepsins, mitochondrial DNA or cardiolipin, mitochondrial dysfunction, poreforming toxins, crystalline substances, ROS, TNF- α and cytokines [90].



Figure 1.5 A schematic of NLRP3 activation and IL-1 β release.

The NLRP3 inflammasome is a major mediator of IL-1 β production via activation of caspase-1. An increase in IL-1 β levels exacerbates secondary injury by enhancing oxidative stress and inflammation which eventually lead to neurobehavioral and neurological deficits. Earlier studies observed behavioral changes such as anxiety [91], depression, and cognitive decline [92] associated with increased IL-1 β and TNF- α levels [93] in the animal model. A prolonged and overactive pro-inflammatory state can lead to tissue damage via apoptosis, glutamate mediated excitotoxicity, immune activation, and cytotoxicity [94] and has been associated with the neurocognitive and behavioral deficits observed in the development of Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), stroke, multiple sclerosis, and prion disease [95].

There is a relationship between NLRP3 inflammasome and acute and chronic brain injuries. A study observed an increased NLRP3 level in CSF in TBI patients. In this study they observed peaked NLRP3 level (>6.63ng/ml) in CSF notice in TBI patients with less than 4-year-old compared with more than 4 years old. They also notice the pattern of NLRP3 levels expression for instance immediately increased NLRP3 level 1 day postinjury, whereas low at day 2 but again increased at 3 and 4 days post-injury [96]. It was previously thought that NLRP3 was exclusively in microglia, but it is now found to be expressed in neurons [88, 97]. The time course for the expression following TBI is different between these two cells. For instance, immediately after the injury, the NLRP3 levels increased in neurons, whereas, over time, the NLRP3 level increased in microglia [98]. Similarly, another group noticed an increase in caspase-1, ASC levels in adult severe TBI patients even after 5 months post-injury [99]. Compared with other TBI models, NLRP3 inflammasome was not studied in the blast TBI field. For instance, there is only one study that reported an increase in NLRP3 expression, caspase-1 expression, IL-1 β release along with oxidative stress in moderate blast at 12 and 24 hours [100]. Recently, our lab noticed an increase in microglial activation, NLRP3 protein expression, NLRP3+microglia (colocalization), caspase-1enzyme expression, and IL-1 β release as early as 4hrs to 30days in the hippocampus following moderate blast TBI (unpublished data). Hence, blast exposure might influence NLRP3 expression, particularly in microglia.

1.3.6 MCC950

In recent years, several inhibitors of NLRP inflammasomes have been developed, among which MCC950 is the most potent and specific inhibitor of NLRP3 [101]. MCC950 is one of the compounds that has been widely used to treat systemic and neuroinflammatory diseases [102]. MCC950 (CRID3 or CP-456,773) is a sulfonylurea compound that has a specific binding site on the NLRP3 inflammasome complex and inhibits the cleavage of pro-IL-1 β to active IL-1 β , a process mediated by caspase-1 [103]. MCC950 has been found to bind directly to the NACHT domain of NLRP3 and prevent ATPase activity which is required for inflammasome complex activation [101]. MCC950 has been shown to be specific to only NLRP3 inflammasome [104] and it blocks all forms of NLRP3 activation known to date including canonical and non-canonical inflammasome pathways [104-106].

Compared to other inflammasome inhibitors, MCC950 has several advantages. Firstly, MCC50 has a selectivity for NLRP3 inflammasome and its precise mechanism of action is known. Secondly, can easily cross the BBB ensuring that a systemic route of administration such as intraperitoneal (IP) injection will have a therapeutic effect at minimal dose. Thirdly, MCC950 has been used in a variety of animal models with good compatibility. Fourthly, there have been several research studies on MCC950 in inflammatory and other diseases. Finally, the optimal dosage of MCC950 for rodents is known, so additional experiments are not necessary to investigate dosing [105].

Preclinical studies have shown MCC950 to have good bioavailability and CNS penetration making it ideal for the treatment of neuroinflammatory disorders [101, 104, 107, 108]. Several lines of evidence show that increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines, particularly IL-1 β result in several neurocognitive impairments in acute and

chronic neurological disorders including TBI [109]. MCC950 was first developed by Inflazome Inc, and several preclinical studies have shown that it significantly improves neuroinflammation in stroke [110], Parkinson's disease [111], and Alzheimer's disease [112, 113]. It is noteworthy that MCC950 not only inhibits chronic neuroinflammation in various neurological conditions but also improves neurocognitive functions in animal models of diabetes [114], blunt TBI [115], stroke [116], and several other inflammatory conditions where the brain is affected. Also, MCC950 has shown good bioavailability and CNS penetrability [101, 104].

1.4 Neurobehavioral Changes in TBI

According to the Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center, approximately 380,000 military personnel have been diagnosed with TBI since 2000-2018 [117]. Of these, more than 50% of combat TBI occureddue to blast exposures [118]. Most soldiers diagnosed with bTBI develop cognitive, behavioral and psychological impairments such as PTSD, attention deficits, headaches, anxiety, depression, memory loss, suicidal ideation, tinnitus and vestibular deficiencies [119-122]. Despite significant research on behavioral deficits, the etiology of these deficits following a blast injury is not well understood. This proposal focused on some of these findings with respect to rLLB.

1.4.1 Cognitive deficits

Cognitive deficits have been reported in patients with mild TBI which often resolve within 6 months; however, moderate and severe TBI frequently cause long-term impairments including dementia or other neurodegenerative disorders [123]. Soldiers exposed to bTBI have been diagnosed with retrograde or anterograde amnesia and decreased executive

function [124, 125]. In animal models, bTBI also affects the prefrontal cortex and hippocampal regions involved in cognition [126]. Recognition memory in rodents following bTBI has been mostly assessed using the novel object recognition test while spatial working memory has been studied using Morris water maze (MWM) and Barnes maze.

The novel object recognition test (NOR) measures both short-term and long-term deficits in recognition memory. Animals exposed to single low-level blast (74kPa) do not manifest any recognition memory impairment after 2 weeks [127], whereas animals to higher BOPs exhibited both acute (4-5 days [128], and chronic (2 weeks [79] and 3 months [129]). However, some studies have reported deficits in NOR with low-level blast exposure [130, 131].

Allocentric spatial memory involving the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex has been studied using several different mazes, with the most popular form of assessment being the MWM [132]. In contrast NOR animals tested on MWM only exhibited chronic spatial memory impairment at higher BOPs [133, 134] and acute deficits in lower exposures [135, 136]. Similarly, animals tested on Barners maze test only showed chronic deficits at higher BOPs [137, 138]. This suggests that NOR is likely more sensitive to changes in behavior over a wide range of blast exposures.

1.4.2 Anxiety

Veterans diagnosed with bTBI also report developing anxiety and depression disorders over time. Treatment for military personnel with PTSD and depression has been estimated to cost approximately \$6.2 billion in the first two years post-deployment [139]. In a sample population of veterans exposed to bTBI, it was identified that 50% of individuals exposed to bTBI developed anxiety disorders, 88% developed depression and 60% showed PTSD traits [140].

Anxiety has been evaluated in rodent models of bTBI using tests such as the elevated plus-maze (EPM), open field test, elevated zero maze and light/dark box test. Anxiety measured by the EPM test was identified at chronic time points (i.e.,7 and 15 days post-injury) in most studies, demostrating long-term deficits irrespective of an animal's location in the blast tube [141-144]. Similarly, Awwad et al observed anxiety in EPM at 9 days post bTBI [145]. Another study also observed anxiety using EPM and light/dark box test at acute (1 day [146]) and chronic time points (28 days [147]). Acute deficits in the open field test were observed at 1-7 days post-injury [128, 148] and these changes were also observed at chronic (>25 days) time points [137, 149].

1.4.3 Motor deficits

Veterans diagnosed with bTBI have been known to exhibit balance and vestibular motor coordination issues with symptoms ranging from dizziness, vertigo, postural instability and impaired tandem gait [150-152]. Furthermore, balance deficits are amplified in veterans with a comorbidity of TBI and amnesia or PTSD [153].

Balance and gait impairments in rodent models of bTBI are typically measured using Rotarod, the horrizontal ladder test and beam balance tasks. The Rotarod apparatus is more sensitive in identifying motor deficits in low to mild TBI [154]. Motor learning refers to the rodent's ability to develop a strategy to remain on the rotating rod rather than as a result of improved locomotor skills [155, 156]. While a single low-level blast did not result in any motor deficits in Rotarod test, animals exposed to higher BOPs exhibited acute [157] and chronic motor defects [149]. Animal exposed to blast did not manifest any acute and chronic motor deficits in the beam balance walk or ladder run test [127, 135, 158].

These behavioral data demonstrated that compared with single low-level blast, deficits are more prominent at higher BOPs and can be observed at both acute and chronic time points. In these studies, behavioral deficits were associated with neurodegeneration and increases in oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, brain edema and several other biochemical factors. This suggests that multiple molecular mechanisms are leading to abnormalities in behavioral outcomes such that no single mechanism is proposed to be soley responsible for eliciting these behavioral deficits post-blast. Furthermore, very few studies were conducted on rLLB and these studies demonstrated that deficits were prominent chronically. However, these studies employed a different approach wherein the repetition of blast occurs every 24 hours which is not a typical time interval experienced by military and law enforcement personnel during training with heavy weaponaries.

1.5 Significance of the Dissertation Research

A pressing question in military medical research is the longitudinal effect of rLLB on the human brain over time. Service members who employ artillery, mortars, heavy weaponry and explosive breaching devices are frequently exposed to these low-level blasts as a part of the training program non-combat training program. This rLLB setting is distinct from the higher-level blasts experienced in a combat setting. For instance, in active combat zones, soldiers experience sporadic high-intensity blast exposures, whereas in non-combat training they experience repeated low-level blast exposures. Standard military training protocols involving blasts restrict the exposure to 28 kPa BOP based on damage to the

unprotected human eardrum rather than damage to the brain [159]. However, there are no guidelines regarding the total number of exposures or blast intensity per training session that a single trainee can experience without detrimental effects on health and neurological performance. There are very few studies reporting long-term consequences such as attention deficits or memory impairments in personnel who have been exposed to rLLB for 5 years [7]. Furthermore these studies were self-reported and lack etiological evidence. Unlike higher intensity blast exposure, the rLLB may not induce any diagnosable injury or symptoms during or immediately after the training program which leads to an important question, **"Does rLLB induce chronic neurological or behavioral deficits ?".**

Currently, there are very few animal models on rLLB that aim to study the cumulative effects of multiple exposures. These models lack in simulating the real-life scenario as these models focus on blasts that are given repeatedly (one blast per day) over consecutive days. For example, one model induces repeated low-level blasts on animals giving 24hrs intervals between blasts and the blast exposure ranges between 100-145kPa [13]. However, in a real scenario, soldiers experience between 1-25 low-level blast exposures in a single day and the number of days to exposure varies [12, 13, 160]. Thus, there is no appropriate animal model that could mimic real-time rLLB scenario. The primary reason that researchers resort to longer time intervals is perhaps due to their inability to quickly induce multiple shocks within a short time which is a design and operational problem of the shock tubes.

Furthermore, there is a lack of understanding of the etiology underlying rLLB and its chronic effects on the brain in the long run. To address this, our lab has developed an animal model in which an animal receives 5 to 7 successive low level (70 kPa) shots within a 10 minute period under anesthesia. This model is relatively precise because it mimics both number of blasts and frequency of exposures that soldiers experience in a single day. This study examined the effect of rLLB on neurological defects, especially neuroinflammation, known secondary injury mechanisms, at acute and chronic time points after rLLB injury. Data from these experiments provided insights into long-term neurological defects that result from repeated blast exposure. Furthermore, data from these experiments is useful to design an appropriate animal model that accurately represents rLLB that service members experience during real training conditions. In summary, the findings from this study unveiled a mechanism that is contributes to the long-term neurological impairments and neurobehavioral deficits following rLLB injury.

1.6 Hypothesis and Specific Aims

Based on existing literature and previous work and preliminary data, I hypothesized that *"repeated low-level blast injury induces chronic neuroinflammation through activation of NLRP3 inflammasome leading to neurobehavioral changes"*. A corollary to this hypothesis is that effective inhibition of NLRP3 activation improves neurocognitive outcomes in rLLB. Based on hypothesis, I formulated three specific aims (**Figure 1.6**).

Specific Aim 1: Characterize acute and chronic neurobehavioral abnormalities following rLLB

I examined neurobehavioral changes exposing rats to rLLB. Animals subjected to various neurobehavioral tasks that are aimed to assess a) anxiety, b) memory loss and c) motor deficits at acute (24 hours) and chronic (>20 days) time points post-injury. I expected to observe chronic behavioral deficits in rLLB animals compared to native animals. Changes

in these behavioral patterns were also investigated in rats exposed to a single blast at 70 kPa to compare the effects of single vs. repeated low-level blast. This aim examined if rLLB induces neurobehavioral changes in our rodent model comparable to clinical and how these effects compare in unexposed and singly exposed animals.

Specific Aim 2: Characterize acute and chronic neuroinflammation following rLLB.

I focused on the pattern of acute and chronic neuroinflammation by microglial activation, as well as the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and the pro-inflammatory cytokine such as IL-1β production, that may lead to secondary injury after rLLB at acute and chronic time points. I expected to observe chronic neuropathological changes in the rLLB animal group. *Specific Aim 3: Determine whether the NLRP3 inhibitor MCC950 promotes neuroprotection and neurobehavioral improvements following rLLB.*

I intraperitoneally administered MCC950, a sulfonylurea compound that inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome complex formation and IL-1β production, to a rLLB group of animals following blast for 4 days. Then, I used the behavioral tests in aim 1 and neuroinflammation assessment in aim 2 to determine whether MCC950 improves the neurobehavioral outcome in the rLLB animals. I anticipated that NLRP3 inhibitor reduce the intensity of neurobehavioral changes observed in aim 2 exhibit that this is a possible pathway and can open up therapeutic opportunities. **Figure 1.6** shows the schematic of the thesis with the three aims and their interactions clearly delineated. This study examined and observed chronic neurobehavioral outcomes and prevented chronic microglial activation and neuroinflammation. Thus, these three aims combinedly tested the hypothesis and also established well-designed rLLB animal model to understand rLLb eitiology.



Figure 1.6 A schematic of specific three aims of the proposal.

CHAPTER 2

CHARACTERIZATION OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC NEURO BEHAVIORAL ABNORMALITIES FOLLOWING rLLB

This chapter explores aim 1 in detail, wherein the rationale is established first. Later, some details on the selection of sample size and the methods are described. Results are shown next followed by discussion and the relationships of the outcome of aim 1. In aim 1, I looked at the effect of repeated low-level blast rLLB on chronic neurobehavioral changes in rats. Specifically, I examined the role of rLL in anxiety, memory loss and motor deficits in animals at acute and chronic time points compared to naive and singly exposed animals.

2.1 Rationale for Specific Aim 1

Earlier studies have observed behavioral deficits in NOR at both acute and chronic time in animals exposed to a single moderate blast (around 180kPa) whereas these deficits were not observed in single low-level blast exposed animals [127, 130, 131]. However, chronic recognition deficits were observed when animals exposed to repeated moderate blast exposures with one-day interval (existing repeated model) [142, 147]. Thus, this study examined both acute (1-2 days) and chronic effects (>25 days) of memory using NOR. As per earlier studies, persistent motor deficits in Rotarod were observed in single mild-moderate blast [149, 161]. One study noticed motor deficits that lasted for 14 days but did not persist at 21 and 30 days in a single moderate blast [162]. Similarly, other groups also observed motor deficits at 2 and 24hours and up to 3 days following a single moderate blast

[128, 157], whereas animals exposed to a single low-level blast did not show any motor deficits [127].

Also, a study examined repeated low-level blast (75 kPa) influence, 1 blast/day for 3 days, on motor deficits and they did not find any deficits [163]. In my study, I have observed an acute and chronic motor deficit in rLLB. Elevated plus maze (EPM) is one of the known tests for assessing anxiety in the rodent model. As per earlier studies, a single mild-moderate blast induces acute and chronic anxiety in EPM [133, 137, 145, 164], whereas, a single low-level blast did not induce anxiety in animals [130, 131]. Interestingly, in the existing repeated blast model, animals exhibited anxiety at a chronic time only [142, 147].

2.2 Material and Methods

For this study, I used the control and injured group and conducted behavioral tasks (NOR, EPM, Rotarod) at different time points. Independent samples t-test with a confidence level of 0.05 (two-tailed) was used for statistical analysis. To design appropriately powered study, G*power 3.1.9.2 software was used for power analysis to determine sample size.

For NOR, using n=4 for control group and n=3 for the injured group, no significant difference in discrimination index was found between two groups at both PID 2 (p=0.068, effect size=1.734) and PID 25 (p=0.0693, effect size). Power analysis revealed a sample size of n=8 needed per group to obtain 80% power to achieve significant difference between two groups, if one exists.

For the Rotarod test, using n=4 for the control group and n=3 for the injured group, no significant difference in latency to fall was found between the two groups at PID 1 (p=0.071, effect size=2.121). But at PID 25, a significant difference in latency to fall was observed (p=0.03, effect size=2.471) between the control and injured groups. Power analysis revealed a sample size of n=7 needed per group to obtain 80% power to detect such effect if one exists.

For EPM, using n=4 for the control group and n=3 for injured group, no significant difference in time spent in the closed arm was found between two groups at PID 1 (p=0.106, effect size=1.733). Power analysis revealed a sample size of n=8 needed per group to obtain 80% power to obtain the significant difference between two groups if one exists.

2.2.1 Animals

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (10 weeks old, 300-350 g, Charles River Laboratories) were used in this study. All animals were housed under standard animal room conditions (22°C temperature, 40% humidity, and 12h dark-light cycle) with ad libitum access to food and water. All procedures followed the guidelines established in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Rutgers University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, which monitors the vivarium facility for NJIT. Rats were divided into four different groups: Control groups; repeated blast (n=8) and single blast (n=6), blast injury groups: single blast (70 kPa, n=6, SB), (70 kPa x5, five successive times with a one-minute interval between exposures, n=8, rLLB). Here, control group of animals only get anesthesia (Isoflurane) along with injury group (rLLB/SB) and experienced sound generated by blast whereas injury group received blast exposures.

2.2.2 Rat model of repeated low-level blast

Rats were exposed to incident overpressures of 70 kPa using the 6-meter 23x23 cm crosssection shock tube that has been well validated for field- relevant blast exposures [9, 165-167]. Throughout the entire period of blast exposures, animals received a continuous supply of 5% isoflurane into the exposure chamber through secured tubing with a hose to directly delivered to the animal's nostrils (**Figure 2.1**). Immediately after the blast exposure, animals from both groups were monitored for any signs of apnea and/or respiratory distress. Any animals that displayed these conditions were eliminated from the remainder of the experiment [168].



Figure 2.1 A The shock tube at NJIT. For repeated blasts within short interval (<5min), the surfboard (where rats are placed) is directly connected to anesthesia chamber by tubing (blunt arrow) and isoflurane is continuously supplied directly into the shock tube. **B.** The tip of the surfboard where the animal inhales the isoflurane (pointed arrow).

The blast conditions include the use of Ultra-high purity helium (99.99%) as the driver gas. The driver and driven sections of the shock tube were separated by a 1 mm thick Millar membrane which, upon bursting, developed pressure profiles with peak incident overpressures of 70 kPa. Incident pressure profiles were recorded at 1.0 MHz sampling frequency using PCB Piezotronics Model 132A24 (Depew, NY) sensors. Details of the shock tube and the experimental timeline are depicted in **Figure 2.2**.



Figure 2.2 A. A schematic representation of the current study. The 9-inches square crosssection shock tube at NJIT facility and timeline of the study. **B.** Shock wave curve for five 70kPa successive blasts.

2.2.3 Neurobehavior studies

Animals subjected to sham, single, and repeated blast conditions were used for behavior tests, including elevated plus maze, rotarod test, and novel objective recognition test at different time points after injury.

2.2.3.1 Elevated plus maze (EPM)

The elevated plus maze (EPM) is a very convenient method to assess anxiety and is preferred by many investigators due to its dependence on the natural behavioral preference of the rat. It does not involve a trigger (acoustic or temperature change) nor a fearful stimulus (predator odor or foot shock) or any form of themotivated or conditioned response (levers and food rewards) for it to occur. The main natural behavior assessed is the rat's preference to stay in the dark areas (due to anxious) and its curiosity to explore novel areas when not experiencing anxiety. **Apparatus** The Elevated plus maze is a plus-shaped apparatus with four arms: two open and two closed arms [169]. Our maze is made with matte black acrylic surface and consists of four arms (2 enclosed by 30 cm tall walls and 2 open arms with no walls). Each arm is 50 cm in length, a 10x10 cm center section separated the opening to each of the arms, and the entire apparatus elevated 60 cm above the ground. The elevated plus maze was situated in the center of a brightly lit room that had roughly equal illumination in both the open and closed arms (**Figure 2.3**). Our lab uses Any-Maze video tracking system attached to an overhead 720p camera to automatically detects and record entries and time spent in the open and closed arms and the central region. All test videos were saved locally to the computer to allow for future review.



Figure 2.3 Picture of elevated plus maze apparatus used.

Protocol This test was used to determine anxiety at different time points, including as 1day and 25 days after blast exposure. On a test day, the rat will be transferred to a behavioral

room and acclimated for 30 min. Rats were placed at the center of the maze facing towards the opened arm and given 5min to explore the maze. Anxiety-like behavior was determined by calculating the time spent in closed arms in the maze. Animal movements in the maze were recorded using a video camera positioned over the maze, and data were analyzed in ANYMaze software.

2.2.3.2 Novel object recognition.

Memory is often accessed through spoken or written language in humans wheras, in animals, cognitive functions must be assessed through different kinds of behavioral experiments. Memory tests are important indexes of the brain functions for rodent's behavior. Many memory tasks require external forces (e.g. electric shocks) or intrinsic forces (e.g. hunger and thirst) to trigger the responses. Under those conditions, rodents are under stress, such as pain, tiredness, malnutrition, or dehydration, which potentially affect the natural neural responses. Novel object recognition is a non-force driving and spontaneous memory test. NOR task is used to evaluate cognition, particularly recognition memory, in rodent models of CNS disorders

In recent times, researchers are showing more interest to examine a relationship between novelty and behavior. The novel object recognition test can be evaluated by the differences in the exploration time of novel and familiar objects. This test is based on the spontaneous tendency of rodents to spend more time exploring a novel object than a familiar one. The choice to explore the novel object reflects the use of learning and recognition memory. Its application is not limited to a field of research and enables various issues can be studied, such as memory and learning and the preference for novelty.

34

To test human amnesia in an animal model, the ability to recognize a previously presented stimuli is the basis for the behavioral tests. For rodents the memory tests include, novel object recognition (NOR) test, delayed nonmatching to sample (DNMS), and the open field test (OFT). This test assesses how the animal responds to both a novel and familiar object [170]. The DNMS test rewards the animal upon recognition of the novel object, whereas the NOR test has no reward and is, therefor, able to assess the animals' index of stimulus recognition [171]. Depending on the configuration of the test NOR can be set to measure working and recognition memory [172]. The NOR test has also been used to determine the effectiveness of different pharmacological treatments for TBI [173].

The NOR test is particularly attractive because unlike other behavioral tests that assess memory NOR does not require any external motivation, has relatively little training time, and can be completed in a short period of time [172]. It also can study short, intermediate, and long-term memory by modifying the time between the familiarization and testing phase [174, 175].

Apparatus The open field chamber consists of an empty open particle board box with dimensions of ($60 \times 60 \times 60 \text{ cm}$). The box was covered by black waterproof vinyl to prevent urine and other liquids from absorbing into the porous particleboard (**Figure 2.4**).

35



Figure 2.4 Picture of open field chamber including the novel and familiar object. This test was used to measure short-term memory loss, specifically object recognition in single and repeated blast groups. Rats were assessed for cognitive decline at 2days (2D) and 26 days (26D) post-blast exposure [176].

Procedure Briefly, the NOR test consists of three phases; habituation, familiarization, and testing phase. In the habituation phase, each rat was allowed to acclimatize in the testing chamber for 5 mins 1day prior to the testing phase. I also minimized the learning behavior acquired by the animal for the same objects by changing familiar and novel objects for each time point, which will avoid habituation and potential bias towards only one object by the animals. On testing day, each rat was placed in the testing chamber with two identical objects to familiarize itself with objects for 5min (familiarization phase), then placed back in the housing cage for 1 hour. After an hour interval, each rat was returned to the testing chamber for 3 min, one object replaced with a novel one (Testing phase).

Scoring The total time spent exploring each of the two objects was measured using ANY Maze software. A discrimination index (DI) for the novel object was calculated as the difference between time spent with the novel object (tnovel) and time spent with the

familiar object (tfamiliar) divided by the total time (ttotal) with both objects, which give discrimination ability of the animal between novel and familiar object.

DI= [(tnovel-tfamiliar)/(ttotal)].

2.2.3.3 Rotarod test.

This test is used for assessing motor coordination, balance and motor learning in rodents. Animals must keep their balance on a rotating rod. It is measured the time (latency) it takes the mouse to fall off the rod rotating at different speeds or under continuous acceleration (e.g., from 4 to 40rpm). The latency to fall from a rotating rod is scored automatically using a rotarod apparatus (Touch screen Rotarod (Panlab, Harvard apparatus, **Figure 2.5**). Time is taken by the animal to fall (latency to fall) was recorded as a measure of motor performance [177]. The speed of the rotarod is mechanically driven and may either be held constant or accelerated. Motor coordination can be tested by comparing the latency to fall on the very first trial between treatment groups.

Before the blast, all groups of animals were trained, 3trials/day for 4days in an accelerated mode from 4-40 RPM over a five-minute session. After the blast, animals undergo rotarod test for 25 days at various intervals, and the latency to fall was calculated as the average of three successive trials.



Figure 2.5 Picture of Rotarod apparatus used to assess the motor deficits.

Procedure: Rota Rod test consists of two phases

- 1) **Pre-Training Phase:** All animals were trained for 4 days prior to blast exposure.
- a) <u>Day 1 (Familiarize the rat with the apparatus)</u>
- *First exposure:* Let the rat stand on the Rotarod, while it is switched off for 30sec. If the rat jumps off, place it back on.
- *First trial:* Keep Rota rod on constant mode and set 7rpm as a constant speed. Now put the rat on a non-rotating drum for 5 secs then start. If rat runs for 3min without falling put rat back in cage if not, then put rat again on a rotating drum until it walks continuously 2min.
- Second trial: After 15 min break, now set 12rpm as a constant speed and repeat.
- *Third/fourth trials:* After 15min break, now switch Rota rod to acceleration mode with 4-40rpm in 90sec (2.5secs intervals for 1rpm increment) and repeat as described above.
- b) <u>Day 2</u>

Three trials at 4-40rpm in 150sec (4.2sec intervals for 1rpm increment) with 15 minute breaks. Calculate average latency time and rpm for three trials.

- c) <u>Day 3:</u> Three trials at 4-40rpm in 260 secs (7.2sec intervals for 1rpm increment) with 15 minute breaks. Calculate average latency time and rpm for three trials.
- d) <u>Day 4:</u> Three trials at 4-40rpm in 600 secs (16 sec intervals for 1rpm increment) with 15 minute breaks. Calculate average latency time and rpm for three trials. Now mix and match all animals for control and blast groups before the blast.
- 2) **Testing Phase:** Three trials at 4-40rpm in 150sec (4.2sec intervals for 1rpm increment) with 15 minute breaks. Calculated mean +/- S.E.M of latency time for all trials for each day.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis on behavioral studies, immunofluorescence, and western blotting was performed using Graph Pad Prism 8.0.1 and with values expressed as mean \pm SEM. Based on our preliminary studies, a confidence interval of 80% for power analyses, seeking a p<0.05 for a two tailed t-test when comparing groups, I can predict the sample size to avoid false positive results. Factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni correction was used for behavioral studies. Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests were performed to assess the normality of data distribution and homogeneity of variances, respectively. Mann-Whitney's test was used when the samples failed the Shapiro-Wilk test.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 rLLB induces acute and chronic anxiety-like symptoms

Analysis of each animal performance in EPM showed that animals exposed to rLLB felt anxious and spent more time in the closed arm (p<0.05) immediately after injury at day 1 (acute) and this exious behavior persisted for 25 days (chronic). Conversely, animals

exposed to SB did not display any anxiety-like symptoms as indicated by their normal exploratory behavior and time spent more in open arm area simar sham. Statistical analysis showed a significant difference between rLLB and sham animals at acute and chronic time points (p<0.05) post-blast period. This experiment supports the tenet that repeated low-level blast exerts a substantial influence on animals' composive behavior immediately as well as chronically over a period of time after the blast (**Figure 2.6**).



Figure 2.6 Anxiety/depression symptoms in rats exposed to rLLB. **Left panel:** Amount of time spent in the closed arm by animals exposed to rLLB showing a significant increase (* compared with sham, $p^*<0.05$). **Right panel:** Absence anxiety-like symptoms in animals exposed to single blast as indicated by time spent in closed arms similar to that of a sham. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 6-8 animals in each group, and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction as post-hoc test.

2.4.2 Motor functions are altered in animals exposed to rLLB

Animals were assessed for motor performance using the rotarod test. Animals exposed to rLLB displayed persistently decreased motor performance initiated at 1-day post-injury and reached significance by 4-7 days (p<0.05) and displayed a non-significant recovery; however, such performance significantly deteriorated from 20-day (p<0.05) post-injury onwards. Sham control animals as well as animals exposed to single blast, on the other hand, displayed consistently normal endurance (**Figure 2.7**).



Figure 2.7 Motor incoordination in rats exposed to rLLB. Left panel: Latency to fall by animals exposed to rLLB showing a significant decreased latency time (* compared with sham, p*<0.05). Right panel: Animals exposed to single blast display normal latency time as that of controls showing longer endurance. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 6-8 animals in each group and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction as post-hoc test.

2.4.3 Animals exposed to rLLB display short term memory loss

Novel objective recognition tests were performed 2days (2D), and 26days (26D) after bTBI to examine whether rLLB has any influence on short term memory impairments (**Figure 2.8**); persistent memory impairments were observed in animals exposed to rLLB at 2 (p<0.05) and 26 days (p<0.01) post-injury. The discrimination index showed that rats exposed to rLLB were unable to differentiate a novel object from a familiar object in the testing phase compared with the sham control rats.



Figure 2.8 Animals exposed to rLLB display short-term memory loss. Discrimination index shows that animals with rLLB have significantly less ($p^{*}<0.05$, $p^{**}<0.01$) ability to recognize the novel object. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 8 animals in each group and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction as post-hoc test.

2.5 Discussion

These experiments investigated the effects of the rLLB on acute and chronic neurobehavioral and neuropathological changes in our rat model. One of the highlights of this study was establishing a reliable model for rLLB akin to blast exposure paradigms that service members experience in various training facilities by using a BOP of \leq 70 kPa at 1-minute intervals [13]. It is also noteworthy that, unlike repeated blasts using higher BOPs as noted in the previous paragraph, the few studies using BOPs around or < 70 kPa with longer intervals (24 hours or more) between blasts did not find any significant behavioral changes [147, 178, 179]. This invokes the possibility that a longer time interval gap between blasts (24 hours or more) could either mask any symptoms or induce compensatory mechanisms to counteract injury pathology. It is of importance here that our

current model adapting 5 successive blast exposures to animals instantaneously (within 5 min) did display significant neurobehavioral as well as neuropathological changes, reinforcing the fact that our model is a true representation of occupational rLLB wherein service members also experience milder symptoms such as headache, disorientation, fatigue as well as subtle memory impairments following training. Our model of rLLB showed a significant alteration in neurobehavioral functions as indicated by increased anxiety/depression-like symptoms, decreased motor performance, and loss of short-term memory loss compared with control and single low-level blast. Thus, rLLB although mild still able to produce injury in animals that leads to substantial alterations in neurobehavioral patterns.

Several studies have documented changes in neurobehavioral and neuropathological sequelae in moderate single blast induces acute and chronic behavioral deficits such as anxiety, memory impairments and conditions [180]. In contrast to single moderate blast, preclinical studies on rLLB are very few and do not represent a true rLLB. An initial study by Ahlers et al. noticed a transient memory impairment in the Morris water maze task when animals were exposed to 36.6 kPa repeatedly for 12 consecutive days with one-day intervals [135]. Likewise, using BOPs higher than 10 psi with longer interexposure intervals, studies have shown anxiety/depression, spatial memory loss and motor impairments [137, 181-186]. Unlike studies with higher BOPs, studies using BOPs around 70 kPa with longer intervals did not observe any significant behavioral changes and biochemical changes [142, 147, 163].

As a measure of anxiety like symptoms, this study included data on the increased amount of time animals spent in closed arms while the total distance traveled in the EPM did not show changes between rLLB and control animals. Although the precise reason is not known, previous reports emphasize that time spent in either open arms or closed arms by the animals is considered true representation of anxiety-like behavior [130, 141, 164]. Further, our recent report also showed anxiety-like symptoms in animals exposed to single moderate blast as indicated by increased closed-arm time spent by the animal [176]. One possibility for the absence of changes in total distance traveled by the animal could be that blast did not affected the normal locomotor activity but rather aggravated the restrictive behavioral response of the animal towards moving into open fields. Such abnormality also often referred to as thigmotaxis, would have prevented the animal from withstanding light and height in the open field.

Although as noted above while blast exposure would not have impaired the normal locomotor activity as noted above data from the Rotarod test showed acute and chronic impairment in motor coordination which may pose a contradictory statement. However, it is possible that while normal locomotor functions are intact in blast injury, motor coordination might have been impaired. Supporting this, several studies reported peripheral auditory damage (hearing loss) and associated vestibular disturbances in both preclinical and in soldiers exposed to blast [187-190]. Additionally, any small acoustic disturbance during the Rotarod task would also have increased startle responses in these animals at risk for early fall from Rotarod [191]. In this study, the observation of significant changes in neurobehavioral patterns in rLLB but not a single low-level blast strongly indicates that milder BOPs when repeated, exert a cumulative detrimental effect over a period.

Overall the current studies have clearly shown that rLLB impacts the normal behavioral functioning of the animal over a period of time which to some extent has also been observed in the inconsistent behavioral patterns of service members following the repeated use of heavy weaponry [192]. Thus, this aim demonstrated that the repetition of low-level blast causes long-term behavioral deficits as hypothesized. While neurobehavioral changes are prominent, rLLB also appears to induce neuropathological changes. Few molecular mechanisms that activate after blast injury and cause prolonged damage are oxidative stress and neuroinflammation. Oxidative damage and chronic neuroinflammation has been known to cause neurobehavioral changes in several neurological conditions including TBI [193-196]. Therefore it is highly likely that current observation of neurobehavioral changes could be in part mediated by heightened oxidative damage and/or neuroinflammation and astrogliosis. Hence, aim 2 investigates detailed molecular mechanisms that might contribute for secondary injuries and behavioral deficits following rLLB.

CHAPTER 3

CHARACTERIZATION OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC NEUROINFLAMMATION FOLLOWING rLLB

This chapter represents the second aim of the proposal that examined the influence of rLLB on chronic neuropathological changes in rats. Mainly focused on NADPH oxidase 1 mediated oxidative stress and microglial-NLRP3 mediated chronic neuroinflammation.

3.1 Rationale for Specific Aim 2

Oxidative stress is one of the central mechanisms that can contribute to secondary injury. Existing literature has works clearly established that acute and chronic oxidative stress follows bTBI. An increased ROS levels have been reported as early as 4 and 6 hours post-injury and were found to persist at 1, 7, 14, and 28 days following blast exposure [186]. [184], [143] and [197]. These oxidative stress-induced pathological changes were also accompanied by behavioral changes at 1 and 28 days post-injury. However, these studies only examined either ROS levels or 4HNE and 3NT (oxidative by-products) but not NOX mediated oxidative stress. In our lab, we have previously reported an elevation of several different oxidative stress markers including NOX1 and NOX 2 expression, 4-HNE and 3-NT, superoxide production levels as early as 4 hours in combination with BBB disruption which was reversed by apocynin treatment, NOX inhibitor, in a single moderate blast, [9, 32, 41, 198]. Despite these important findings regarding NOX expression in models of single moderate blast, there is lack of comparable understanding of NOX mediated chronic oxidative stress in rLLB.

Other studies have reported a chronic microglial activation and proinflammatory cytokine production following moderate bTBI. For example, Beamer et al. noticed an increase of microglial activation 10 days after a moderate blast [128]. Readnower et al. found microglial activation at days 5 and 10 after blast [199]. Similarly, Cho et al. observed the microglial activation at 1 day and 2 weeks after moderate blast [79]. Hernandez et al. even observed microglial activation 3 weeks after the moderate blast injury [200]. Ning et al. noticed a chronic IL-1 β release 1, 4, 8 weeks after a moderate blast injury [201]. Sajja et al. observed microglial activation 3 months after the moderate blast injury [129]. Baalman et al. did not notice any microglial activation for 2 weeks after single low-level blast [127]. Elder et al. did not observe any microglial activation when the animals were exposed to three repeated low-level blasts with 24hrs of interval between blasts [163]. Major studies so far mainly focused on moderate blast induced microglial activation and neuroinflammation, there are very limited studies are reported in rLLB.

Besides tissue injury, one of the reasons for chronic microglial activation is proinflammatory cytokines (i.e., IL-1 β , IL-18 and TNF- α), free radical generation, and chemokines. Earlier studies reported external administration of IL-1 β resulted pathological and behavioral changes such as anxiety, recognition memory and motor deficits. One of the molecular mechanisms involved in releasing chronic IL-1 β is the inflammasome complex particularly NLRP3 inflammasome. Earlier studies reported NLRP3 involvement in chronic microglial activation, pathological and behavioral changes in TBI [202-207]. Not many studies examined inflammasome complex (all isoforms) role in blast TBI except 1 study by Ma et al who found an increased NLRP3 expression and IL-1 β release at 12 and 24hrs following bTBI [100]. Interestingly, no one yet attempted to understand NLRP3 inflammasome role in rLLB model. In addition to oxidative stress, in this aim this study examined a detailed molecular mechanism; NLRP3 inflammasome, that contributes to chronic neuroinflammation.

Thus, in aim 2 I focused on the effect of rLLB on NOX1-mediated oxidative stress and microglia-NLRP3 mediated chronic pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β release and neuroinflammation.

3.2 Material and Methods

For biochemical experiments, my study was based on the effect size calculations on prior studies from our lab and similar techniques; western blotting and immunofluorescence, to examine biochemical changes in; NADPH Oxidase 1 (NOX1), reactive astrocytosis and microglial activation in control and single moderate blast injury group. These studies showed a significant (p<0.05) change in NOX1 expression with n=3 per group in western blotting whereas, a significant (p<0.05) changes in NOX1 expression, reactive astrocytosis and microglial activation with n=4 per group in immunofluorescence studies.

Based on this, I have chosen n=3 per group to analyze desired protein expression changes in western blotting experiments and n=4 per group to analyze desired protein expression changes in immunofluorescence studies to design an adequately powered study with a power value of 0.8.

3.2.1 Animal Groups

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (10 weeks old, 300-350 g, Charles River Laboratories) were used in this study. All animals were housed under standard animal room conditions (22°C temperature, 40% humidity, and 12h dark-light cycle) with ad libitum access to food and water. All procedures followed the guidelines established in the Guide for the Care

and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Rutgers University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, which monitors the vivarium facility for NJIT. Rats were divided into two different groups: Control groups and Repeated blast groups (Day1, Day 35).

3.2.2 Repeated Blast Exposure on Animals

Rats were anesthetized with isoflurane and exposed to incident overpressures of 70 kPa using the 6-meter 23x23 cm cross-section shock tube that has been well validated for field relevant blast exposures [9, 165-167]. In order to maintain continuous anesthesia to animals for the entire period of blast exposures, animals received a continuous supply of 5% isoflurane into the exposure chamber by means of a secured tubing with a hose, wherein the anesthesia is directly delivered to the animal's nostrils (**Figure 2.1**). Immediately after the blast exposure, animals from both groups were monitored for any signs of apnea and/or respiratory distress. Any animals that display this condition were eliminated from the remainder of the experiment [168].

3.2.3 Tissue collection and biochemical studies

Animals were sacrificed 35 days after the blast exposure. For the immunofluorescence studies, rats were anesthetized with a mixture of 10:1 ratio of ketamine and xylazine (10 mg/kg) administered via intraperitoneal injection and subjected to transcardial perfusion first with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.0) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and coronal brain tissue (hippocampus) sections (n=5, 20 μ m thickness) were sliced using the Leica VT1000S vibratome. All sections analyzed were between -3.12 mm to - 3.60 mm from Bregma and used for immunofluorescence staining as previously standardized and published by our lab [41].

3.2.4 Western blotting

In order to examine NOX-1, NLRP3, Cleaved Caspase 1, proteins levels in the hippocampus, I performed an immunoblot. Briefly, after perfusion with PBS, desired brains region was excised and homogenized in ice-cold condition using sonicator followed by centrifuged at 14,000x g at 4° C. The protein concentration in the sample was estimated by the bicinchoninic acid method (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Subsequently, 10-20ug of protein per lane was loaded into 4-15% SDS-PAGE gradient gel (Bio-Rad). Protein separated according to their molecular size were transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes using a Turbo Protein transfer instrument (Bio-Rad). The membrane was blocked with 5% milk dissolved in Tris-Buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 and incubated overnight at 4°C with rabbit NOX-1 antibody, rabbit NLRP3 (NBP2-12446, 1:500) and Cleaved caspase-1 followed by secondary antibody. Bands were visualized using Western Pico Chemiluminescence Substrate (Thermo Scientific) on Chemi Doc Imaging (Bio-Rad). For densitometric quantification of western blots, the image was digitized using a Bio-Rad GS800 calibrated densitometer and analyzed with Bio-Rad quantity One software [41].

3.2.5 Immunofluorescence and microscopy

Immunofluorescence was performed using NADPH 1(NOX-1), GFAP, (Iba-1) and NLRP3 to assess oxidative damage, reactive astrocytosis, microglia-NLRP3 inflammasome mediated neuroinflammation respectively. After the blast in the hippocampus brain region. Briefly, fixed tissues were incubated overnight at 4°C with respective primary antibodies to NOX-1, Iba-1, GFAP, NLRP3 (NBP2-67639, 1:100) (Table 1) in 2% donkey serum. Biotin-SP affinity pure donkey Anti-rabbit IgG was added and incubated for 1 hour to
increase sensitivity to the primary antibody NOX-1. For double immunofluorescence, the secondary antibody, Streptavidin Alexa fluor 594 conjugate (S32356) and donkey antigoat Alexa Fluor 488 (A11055), were used for NOX-1 and GFAP, respectively. Donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 488 (A11055) alone was used in single immunofluorescence staining of Iba-1. The specificity of each antibody staining was validated by excluding each primary antibody (negative controls) and visualizing for any nonspecific fluorescence. Slides containing different brain regions were digitized (20x magnification) using Leica Aperio Versa 200 fluorescent microscope and slide scanner. Fluorescence intensities in each region were quantitated using Area Quant software (Leica Biosystems) and expressed as average fluorescence intensity*X unit area [208].

Table 3.2 Source, Catalogue Number, and Dilution Factors of Antibodies used in

 Immunohistochemistry and Western Blot Analyses

Antibody	Company	Catalog No	Dilution for IF	Dilution for WB
Gt-Iba-1	Thermo fischer	PA5-18039	1:250	
Rb-NLRP3	NOVUS	NBP1-12446, NBP2-67639	1:100	1:500
Rb-NOX1	Sigma-Aldrich	SAB420097	1:400	1:1000
Ms-GFAP	Thermo Fischer	MA5-12023	1:400	
Rb-Cleaved Caspase-1	Thermo Fischer	PA5-99390		1:500

3.2.6 Cell counting and morphological analysis of microglia.

The total number of microglia were counted in four different regions of the hippocampus (medial and lateral CA1, CA3, and the Dentate gyrus. In each region of the hippocampus, $500^2 \,\mu\text{m}$ areas (4-5) were selected for microglial counting. The total number of microglia within the region of interest (ROI) was determined by the presence of Iba-1 positive cells

and expressed as the number of cell/unit areas. Further, different stages of microglia during their activation were identified morphologically. Resting microglia were identified by their small spherical cell body with several highly branched processes radiating in all directions, whereas activated microglia were distinguished from resting microglia by their larger and oblong cells soma with shorter and thicker processes, which would later transform into amoeboid shape reported earlier [209-211].

3.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis on immunofluorescence and western blotting was performed using Graph Pad Prism 8.0.1 and with values expressed as mean \pm SEM. Based on our preliminary studies, a confidence interval of 80% for power analyses, seeking a p<0.05 for a two-tailed t-test when comparing groups, we can predict the sample size to avoid false-positive results. One-way ANOVA and Student's t-tests was used for immunofluorescence and western blotting analysis. Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests was performed to assess the normality of data distribution and homogeneity of variances, respectively. Mann-Whitney's test was used when the samples failed the Shapiro-Wilk test.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Animals exposed to rLLB display oxidative damage

Immunofluorescence analysis of the protein levels of superoxide-producing enzyme NADPH oxidase (NOX1) showed a strong tendency to increase as early as 1 day following the blast and showed a significant increase at 35 days post-injury (p<0.05). Additionally,

immunoblot analysis and subsequent quantitation of the protein bands of NOX1 also showed a similar increase (p<0.05) at identical time points (**Figure 3.1**).



Figure 3.1 Representative images of NOX1 protein expression in control and animals exposed to rLLB. **A-C** control express less NOX1 expression whereas animals exposed to rLLB express significantly more NOX1 at 35 days ($p^{*}<0.05$, student's t test, n=5). **D-E** Immunoblot analysis also revealed similar pattern as immunofluorescence, there is a significantly increased NOX1 expression at 35 days ($p^{*}<0.05$, one way ANOVA, n=3). Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 3-5 animals in each group, scale bar= 70um.

3.4.2 rLLB induces acute and chronic microglial activation

We found that exposure of animals to rLLB showed changes in microglial number as well as the activation state of microglia. At acute time point (1-day post-injury) the total number of microglia did not show any change, but the number significantly increased at 35 days (p<0.0001) whereas, the activated number increased significantly (p<0.001) in the acute state and such increase continued even at 35 days post-injury (p<0.01) as indicated by the presence of shortened processes and increase in the size of cell soma (**Figure 3.2** and **3.3**).



Figure 3.2 Representative images of the total number and activated form of microglia in animals exposed to rLLB. Control animals display a normal microglial morphology containing smaller cell soma and robust processes radiating in all the directions (indicated by yellow arrows), whereas animals exposed to rLLB display shortened processes with enlarged cell soma consistent with the activation. Left panel shows enlarged images of activated microglia in animals exposed to rLLB. Scale bar= 40 μ m.



Figure 3.3 Quantitation of total and activated microglial number in control and animals exposed to rLLB. Note increased microglia number in rats exposed to rLLB only at 35 days post-blast but not acutely, suggesting that microglia proliferation is a chronic phenomenon. Unlike the total change in the number of microglial, the number of activated microglia significantly increased in both acute (24h) and chronic stages (35 days post-injury), strongly suggesting that the activation process is instantaneous following injury. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 5 animals in each group and the data analyzed by Student's t test; p***<0.0001, p***<0.0002, Mann Whitney test; p**<0.01.

3.4.3 rLLB increased acute and chronic nlrp3 proteins expression

Immunofluorescence analysis of the protein expression of NLRP3 showed a significant increase at day $1(p^{**}<0.01)$ and an increasing trend at 35 days (p<0.056) following the blast injury (**Figure 3.4**). Similarly, immunoblot analysis and subsequent quantitation of the protein bands of NLRP3 also showed a significant increase (p<0.05) at 35 days post-injury (**Figure 3.5**).



Figure 3.4 Chronic NLRP3 protein expression following repeated low-level blast in hippocampus regions. A-C represents fluorescence images of NLRP3, N=3 per group, one way ANOVA, **p<0.01. Scale bar of 70um.



Figure 3.5 Chronic NLRP3 protein expression following repeated low-level blast in hippocampus regions. A, B represents western blot images and band intensity of NLRP3 protein, N=3 per group, Student T-test, *p<0.05.

3.4.4 rLLB induces acute and chronic reactive astrocytosis

To examine the impact of rLLB on astrocyte response, we stained the cells with GFAP (glial fibrillary acid protein), an astrocyte marker. We observed a strong trend of increase in GFAP intensity at 1 day post-injury time point, whereas such change was significant at the chronic time point (35 days post-injury, p<0.05)(**Figure 3.6**). These findings suggest that rLLB induces astrocytosis immediately after the injury, and these effects persist chronically.



Figure 3.6 Representative images of the GFAP immunofluorescence in animals exposed to rLLB. **Left** Control animals display a normal GFAP immunoreactivity, whereas animals exposed to rLLB display a robust increase of GFAP immunoreactivity at 35 days post-injury, suggesting that chronic blast induces reactive astrocytosis. **Right** Quantitation GFAP immunofluorescence. Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 5 animals in each group and the data analyzed by Student's t test; p*<0.05. Scale bar= 70 µm.

3.5 Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the effects of acute rLLB exposure on chronic behavioral and biochemical changes in response to the activation of secondary injury mechanisms namely neuroinflammation and oxidative stress. Earlier studies suggested that mild to moderate blast exposure can trigger secondary injury mechanisms such as oxidative stress and neuroinflammation via glial activation and BBB disruption [31, 35, 212]. Since previous aim explored the role of rLLB in these neurobehavioral deficits, I examined the influence of rLLB related neuropathological events in the hippocampus due to its involvement not only in memory consolidation but also in the regulation of motor coordination and control of anxiety-related behavioral functions [213-215]. Also studies observed the hippocampus has higher propensity for early metabolic compromise [216], oxidative damage [41, 217] following different BOPs (low-moderate) compared to any other brain regions including frontal cortex, striatum, thalamus, cerebellum and basal ganglia [218-220].

Oxidative stress is one of the known secondary injury mechanisms that evolves after blast exposure due to increased ROS production by NOX1 and 2 in neurons, microglia, and astrocytes [47]. In this study, I examined NOX1 expression at 24 hours and 35 days post-blast in the rat hippocampus and observed an increase in NOX1 at both acute and chronic time points. Earlier studies have reported a relationship between BBB disruption and ROS generation via endothelial NOX1 following single moderate blast [20, 31, 221]. We previously reported increased BBB disruption in the presence of increased endothelial NOX1 expression which was reversed by administration of the NOX inhibitor apocynin [21]. Besides endothelial cells, we also observed a significant increase in NOX1 expression in neurons, microglia, and astrocytes following single moderate blast [41]. Additionally, in the present study, I observed chronic short-term memory deficits in a hippocampal associated NOR task accompanied by NOX1 elevation in the hippocampus at 35 days post-injury. Similarly, other rodent studies also observed behavioral deficits such as cognitive impairments, anxiety, and motor deficits in conjunction with an elevation in NOX1 expression [222-224].

Microglial mediated chronic neuroinflammation is known secondary injury mechanisms following TBI. Microglial activation results in the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, ROS and iNOS that can cause chronic neuroinflammation and neuronal death [225]. Activated microglia express various receptors for glutamate, ATP, growth factors and cytokines to receive signals from other microglia as well as neighboring neurons and astrocytes [226]. Recently, we also reported microglial activation both at acute (4 hours) and chronic (30 days) time points after single moderate blast [227]. Similarly, several studies also observed acute [79] and chronic microglial activation following single moderate blast [31]. Also, in this study I observed acute and chronic neuroinflammation along with behavioral deficits such as anxiety, motor deficits and short-term memory impairments [176]. Similarly, other studies also observed a relationship between neuroinflammation and behavioral deficits after single mild to moderate blast [79, 126, 228].

However, similar experiments have not been conducted in rodent models of rLLB. Iba-1 staining revealed a significant increase in the total number (including both resting and active forms) of microglia, percentage of activated microglia, and number of activated microglia in the hippocampus at a chronic time point. These findings suggest that rLLB might induce sustained microglial activation, resulting in chronic neuroinflammation. Oxidative stress and inflammation are linked such that if one mechanism is initiated, it will trigger the other as well [229]. I observed a significant increase in NOX1 and microglial activation at both acute and chronic time points, showing that both are activated immediately after injury but remain dysregulated for an extended period. NOX not only generates superoxide and ROS but also induces microglial activation and neuroinflammation [42, 230, 231].

Chronic neuroinflammation due to sustained microglial activation is a frequent observation in bTBI [79, 80]. One of the key players contributing to chronic inflammation is the inflammasome. Of the various inflammasome complexes, NLRP3 has been the most due to its reception for a wide range of stimuli including ROS, ATP, amyloid β , mitochondrial dysfunction, and cellular damage [81-84]. In response to pathogens or endogenous signaling (i.e., TBI), NLRP3 becomes activated and assembles the inflammasome complex [85], leading to the production and release of active caspase-1 and proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β and IL-18). IL-1 β then activates neighboring glial cells to cause chronic glial activation and neuroinflammation and interacts with neurons to disturb neuronal function. IL-1 β is majorly produced by NLRP3-mediated caspase-1 activation.

Here, I demonstrated an increase in NLRP3 expression in the hippocampus at both 24 hours and 35 days post-blast in a rat model of rLLB. There is an established relationship between NLRP3 expression and detrimental behavioral and pathological changes at acute and chronic time points in other rat models of TBI. For instance, Zou et al. observed a significant increase in ROS production and cytokine release along with increased NLRP3

expression following weight drop TBI [232]. Similarly, Zheng et al. observed increased NLRP3 expression, microglial activation, neuronal loss, and spatial memory impairments after injury in a CCI model [233]. In another CCI study, Chao et al. noted behavioral changes in MWM and beam balance along with increased NLRP3 protein expression [234]. Thus, our findings support earlier works on the relationship between NLRP3 expression and behavioral changes.

Besides microglia, astrocytes are also involved in neuroinflammation after brain injury. Astrocyte cells are long, star-like projections that make up approximately 90% of the human brain with the ratio of astrocytes per neuron depending on the brain's size and complexity. Astrocytes play an important role in the formation of the BBB and also protect against neuronal excitotoxicity by monitoring extracellular glutamate levels [52]. Astrocytes quickly activate within 24 hours after injury and sustained this activation for longer period [235]. Immediately after the injury, astrocytes play a protective role by forming a glial scar within the brain, which isolates damaged areas and prevents the spread of inflammatory cells to surrounding cells. However, prolonged activation of astrocytes results in neuronal damage [54]. In this study, I examined reactive astrocytosis/astrogliosis using the GFAP antibody, a known astrocyte marker, and observed chronic activation of astrocytes in the hippocampus even after 35 days. Earlier studies reported astrocytes activation as early as 24 to [236] 72 hours [126] and lasting for 6-8 months after blast exposures [237]. Therefore, our results suggest there is a sustained activation of astrocytes following rLLB.

In summary, rLLB caused an increase in NOX1 enzyme expression, reactive astrocytosis and microglial activation at acute and chronic time points. Additionally, rLLB caused an increase in NLRP3 protein expression in the hippocampus at acute and chronic times. Our findings support data from existing literature suggesting that rLLB induces persistent chronic oxidative stress, NLRP3 protein expression, and glial activation, which may lead to behavioral deficits following rLLB. To understand the relationship between NLRP3 expression and behavioral changes in rLLB, this study further examined the role of selective NLRP3 inhibitors in mitigating chronic inflammation and improving behavioral deficits.

CHAPTER 4

ADMINISTRATION OF SPECIFIC NLRP3 INHIBITOR PROMOTES NEUROPROTECTION AND NEUROBEHAVIORAL IMPROVEMENTS FOLLOWING rLLB

4.1 Rationale for Specific Aim 3

Earlier studies reported microglial activation and cytokine release especially release of IL-1 β , Il-18 and TNF- α following bTBI. One of the mechanisms involved in cytokines release in activated microglial cells are inflammasome complexes. NLRP3 is the most studied inflammasome complex and plays a major role in microglia in IL-1 β release. Chen et al. observed an increase in NLRP3 protein expression as early as 6hours and continued until 7 days and an increase in IL-1 β in a weight drop model of TBI and this effect was mitigated with MCC950 [238]. Also, the same group again observed an increased expression of NLRP3 inflammasome complex after neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury accompanied by behavioral changes for motor (Rotarod) and memory deficits (MWM) [239]. Irrera et al. noticed a faster recovery in object recognition memory and IL-1 β release in mouse model of TBI due to a reduction in NLRP3 inflammasome complex expression [240].

Lin et al. observed an increase in NLRP3 activation, IL-1 β release and behavioral changes in a CCI model [234]. Zheng et al. observed an increase in NLRP3 activation and microglial activation in hippocampus and behavioral changes in CCI model [233]. Yi et al. observed an increase in NLRP3 expression and IL-1 β release as early as 1 day and continuing for 7 days post-injury in the weight drop model [241]. Xin et al. observed an increase in NLRP3 inflammation as well as chronic neuroinflammation and long-term

neurological changes following TBI in a CCI model and these effects were minimized by treatment with MCC950 [115]. Thus, although effect of NLRP3 and its inhibitors have been studied in various models of TBI and other neurodegenerative disorders there have been only a few studies in blast TBI and none in rLLB.

4.2 Material and Methods

4.2.1 Animal groups

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (10 weeks old, 300-350 g, Charles River Laboratories) were used in this study. All animals were housed under standard animal room conditions (22°C temperature, 40% humidity, and 12h dark-light cycle) with ad libitum access to food and water. All procedures followed the guidelines established in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by Rutgers University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, which monitors the vivarium facility for NJIT.

Rats were divided into three groups: Control groups+PBS, rLLB+PBS, rLLB+MCC950, n=3-8 rats/group/task (based on Aim 1 and 2 data). MCC950 was obtained from Medchem Express LLC (Monmouth Jn,NJ). The drug is dissolvable in PBS, as per earlier studies and was administered 10mg/kg intraperitoneally to the rats. The first dose was 30 min post-blast and the remaining dose were given once in every 48h until the last day of experiments. MCC950 has been found to bind directly to NACHT domain of NLRP3 and prevents ATPase activity which fails NLRP3 inflammasome complex activation [101].

4.2.2 Repeated blast exposure on animals

Rats were anesthetized with isoflurane and exposed to incident overpressures of 70 kPa using the 6-meter 23x23 cm cross-section shock tube that has been well validated for field relevant blast exposures [9, 165-167]. In order to maintain continuous anesthesia to animals for the entire period of blast exposures, animals received a continuous supply of 5% isoflurane into the exposure chamber by means of a secured tubing with a hose, wherein the anesthesia is directly delivered to the animal's nostrils (**Figure 2.1**). Immediately after the blast exposure, animals from both groups were monitored for any signs of apnea and/or respiratory distress. Any animal that displays this condition was eliminated from the remainder of the experiments [168].

4.2.3 Novel object recognition

This test was used to measure short-term memory loss, specifically object recognition in single and repeated blast groups. Rats were assessed for cognitive decline at 2days (2D) and 26 days (26D) post-blast exposure [176]. Briefly, the NOR test consists of three phases; habituation, familiarization, and testing phase. In the habituation phase, each rat was allowed to acclimatize in the testing chamber for 5 mins 1day prior to the testing phase. I also minimized the learning behavior acquired by the animal for the same objects by changing familiar and novel objects for each time point, which will avoid habituation and potential bias towards only one object by the animals. On testing day, each rat was placed in the testing chamber with two identical objects to familiarize itself with objects for 5 min (familiarization phase), then placed back in the housing cage for 1 hour. After an hour interval, each rat was returned to the testing chamber for 3 min, one object replaced with a novel one (Testing phase).

The total time spent exploring each of the two objects was measured using ANY Maze software. A discrimination index (DI) for the novel object was calculated as the difference between time spent with the novel object (tnovel) and time spent with the familiar object (tfamiliar) divided by the total time (ttotal) with both objects, which give discrimination ability of the animal between novel and familiar object.

DI= [(tnovel-tfamiliar)/(ttotal)]

4.2.4 Tissue collection and biochemical studies

Animals were sacrificed 30 days after the blast exposure. For the immunofluorescence studies, rats were anesthetized with a mixture of 10:1 ratio of ketamine and xylazine (10 mg/kg) administered via intraperitoneal injection and subjected to transcardial perfusion first with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.0) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and coronal brain tissue (hippocampus, perirhinal) sections (n=5, 20 μ m thickness) were sliced using the Leica VT1000S vibratome. All sections analyzed were between -3.12 mm to -3.60 mm from Bregma and used for immunofluorescence staining as previously standardized and published by us [41].

4.2.5 Western blotting

In order to examine NLRP3, Caspase-1 (and active) proteins levels in the hippocampus, I performed an immunoblot. Briefly, after perfusion with PBS, desired brains region was excised and homogenized in ice-cold condition using sonicator followed by centrifuged at 14,000xg at 4^oC. The protein concentration in the sample was estimated by the bicinchoninic acid method (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Subsequently, 10-20ug of protein per lane was loaded into 4-15% SDS-PAGE gradient gel (Bio-Rad). Protein separated according to their molecular size were transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride

(PVDF) membranes using a Turbo Protein transfer instrument (Bio-Rad). The membrane was blocked with 5% milk dissolved in Tris-Buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 and incubated overnight at 4^oC with rabbit NLRP3 (NBP1-12446, 1:500) and Caspase-1 (cleaved caspase-1, p20) antibodies followed by secondary antibody. The concentration of the primary antibodies is listed in table 2. Bands were visualized using Western Pico Chemiluminescence Substrate (Thermo Scientific) on Chemi Doc Imaging (Bio-Rad). For densitometric quantification of western blots, the image was digitized using a Bio-Rad GS800 calibrated densitometer and analyzed with Bio-Rad quantity One software [41].

4.2.6 NLRP3+ microglia cell counting

Double Immunofluorescence was performed using NLRP3 and Iba-1 antibodies to assess NLRP3-microglia-mediated neuroinflammation in the hippocampus; CA1, CA3 and DG and peripheral (PrH) cortex. All sections analyzed were between -3.12 mm to -3.60 mm from Bregma. Briefly, fixed tissues were incubated overnight at 4°C with respective primary antibodies to Iba-1 (goat polyclonal, PA5-18039,1:250), rabbit NLRP3 antibody (Novus-NBP1-67639, 1:100) in 2% donkey serum. For double immunofluorescence, the secondary antibody, donkey anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 594 and donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 488 (A11055), were used for NLRP3 and Iba-1, respectively. The specificity of each antibody staining was validated by excluding each primary antibody (negative controls) and visualizing for any nonspecific fluorescence. Slides containing different brain regions were digitized (20x magnification) using Leica Aperio Versa 200 fluorescent microscope and slide scanner. Fluorescence intensities in each region were quantitated using Area Quant software (Leica Biosystems) and expressed as average fluorescence intensity*X unit area [208].

NLRP3+ microglia were identified using an automated batch processing macro in cellSens. Colocalization analysis was first performed to generate a separate channel displaying colocalized pixels which were positive for both Iba1 and Nlrp3. The channel containing only Iba1/NLRP3 colocalized pixels was then overlaid on the Iba1 channel to create an image that highlighted Nlrp3+ microglia for consistent counting. Microglia containing colocalized pixels in the soma were manually counted in ImageJ. Regions of interest (ROIs) were outlined using the polygon tool to define CA1, CA3, DG, and Prh in each image. Counts were normalized to each ROI area and reported as Nlrp3+ microglia per mm² for each region. Normalized counts within each region in an image were averaged by sample, and sample averages were used to analyze counts by region per group.

Antibody	Company	Catalog No	Dilution for IF	Dilution
				for WB
Gt-Iba-1	Thermo	PA5-18039	1:250	
	Fischer			
Rb-NLRP3	NOVUS	NBP1-12446	1:100	1:500
		NBP2-67639		
Rb-	Thermo	PA5-99390		1:500
Caspase-1	Fischer			

Table 4.2 Source, Catalogue Number, and Dilution Factors of Antibodies used in

 Immunohistochemistry and Western Blot Analyses

4.2.7 Microglia morphological analysis or skeleton analysis

Microglia manifest different morphology based on brain homeostasis; mainly resting and activated form. Resting microglia were identified by their small spherical cell body with several highly branched processes radiating in all directions, whereas activated microglia were distinguished from resting microglia by their larger and oblong cells soma with shorter and thicker processes, which would later transform into amoeboid shape reported earlier [209-211]. In this study, mean process length per cell and number of processes per cell were measured to determine microglial activation after rLLB exposure.

Images for cell counting and microglial morphology were acquired with a Fluoview 3000 laser scanning confocal microscope (Olympus, Waltham, MA). Regions of interest were selected on a 1.25x stitched map of the entire slide showing only the nuclear staining. Multichannel Z stacks were collected by multi-area time lapse under a 20x objective with consistent light and detection parameters using 405, 488, 561, and 640 diode lasers. All sections analyzed were between -3.12 mm to -3.60 mm from Bregma.

Automated analysis for cell counting and intensity measurements was conducted using the cellSens Dimension Count & Measure module (version 3.2, Olympus). An adaptive thresholding algorithm was applied to the whole frame for each channel to detect objects compared to the background, and noise was removed using an object filter by area. Class measurements for images of the same region in both hemispheres were averaged by sample. Sample averages were then used to analyze cell counts per region for each group. All counts were normalized by area and reported as number of microglia per mm2.

Morphological changes in microglia were quantified automatically by batch processing all images in ImageJ. Maximum Z projections were generated from multichannel Z stacks for each image and then separated into images containing individual channels. Only images containing Iba1 staining (488 nm) were processed for morphology. All steps were carried out iteratively for each image using a macro. First, the contrast was enhanced by to improve the Iba1 signal against the background. Automated thresholding was performed using the built-in Triangle algorithm to create a binary image [242]. Objects were then skeletonized using the ImageJ Skeleton plugin, and any objects that were too small to be analyzed were removed using the Particle Remover plugin. Skeletons and branches were measured using the Analyze Skeleton plugin to the record number of branches and mean branch length per cell in each image [243]. This procedure has been previously shown to identify reactive microglial morphology [244-246]. Total process length was calculated per cell by multiplying the number of branches by the mean branch length. Overall mean process length for images of the same region in both hemispheres were averaged by sample. Sample averages were then used to analyze morphology by region for each group.

4.2.8 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β levels in the brain tissue were estimated by ELISA. The homogenized hippocampus sample was diluted in RIPA buffer and loaded onto ELISA plate (ab100768). All the steps of ELISA procedure (washings, incubation time) were conducted in accordance with manufacturer instructions. Plates were visualized and absorption was measured using Spectra Max i3 (Molecular Devices) microplate reader and analyzed using SoftMax Pro 6.5 software.

4.3 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis on immunofluorescence and western blotting was performed using Graph Pad Prism 8.0.1 and with values expressed as mean ± SEM. Factorial ANOVA with a Tukey HSD post hoc test was used for behavioral studies whereas, one-way ANOVA with a Tukey HSD post hoc test was used for immunofluorescence and western blotting analysis. Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests were performed to assess the normality of data distribution and homogeneity of variances, respectively.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 MCC950 mitigated rllb induced acute and chronic short term memory deficits

The behavioral task that was examined to check MCC950 effects on behavioral outcomes was NOR test. This task uses the preference of the rat to novel objects over familiar objects to determine the effect of rLLB on short term recognition memory. rLLB group of rats preferences for novel objects was significantly decreased at 1D (p*<0.05) and 30D (p***<0.001) compared to control group of rats. MCC950 treated rats showed preference to novel objects almost similar to control (p*<0.05) at 1D whereas a trend at 30D (p<0.09) compared to the injured group (**Figure 4.1**).



Figure 4.1 MCC950 treatment improved rLLB induced short term memory deficits. Discrimination index shows that animals with rLLB have significantly less ($p^{*}<0.05$, $p^{***}<0.001$) ability to recognize the novel object whereas, MCC950 administration improved ($p^{*}<0.05$). Data is mean \pm S.E.M of 8 animals in each group and the data analyzed by factorial ANOVA with a tukey HSD as post-hoc test $p^{**}<0.01$, $p^{***}<0.001$.

4.4.2 MCC950 decreased rLLB induced chronic microglial activation

Our earlier works revealed an acute and chronic microglial activation [168] following rLLB. This study examined MCC950 influence on chronic microglial activation. This study mainly evaluated microglial activation based on the number of processes per cell and mean process length in hippocampus; CA1,CA3,DG and perirhinal cortex (PrH) as both are involved in object recognition memory. rLLB showed significant decreases in processess (p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001) as well as mean process length (p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001) per microglia cell due to microglial activation in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex compared to control whereas MCC950 treatment significantly prevented microglial activation in both brain regions (**Figure 4.2-4.4**).



Figure 4.2 MCC950 suppressed rLLB Induced chronic microglial activation. Graphs represents mean process length and number of processes of microglial cell in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex at day 30 in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=4-5), one-way ANOVA, p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001 Mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.3 Step by step process of microglia skeleton analysis performed using ImageJ.



Figure 4.4 Representative images of microglia morphology (number of processes and processes length) in control, rLLB and MCC950 treated groups. Microglia cells in control group has a greater number of processes per cell in all direction and mean process length per cell whereas, injured group has a smaller number of processes per cell and mean process length per cell.

4.4.3 MCC950 decreased rLLB induced chronic microglial activation and nlrp3 protein expression.

Similar to our earlier work, there is a significant increase in microglial activation following rLLB at chronic time points. This study also examined NLRP3 expression in microglia as our hypothesis is mainly based on microglia-NLRP3 mediated pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1β release and behavioral deficits. So double immunofluorescence was performed on; Iba-1+NLRP3 to examine NLRP3 positive microglial cells in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex at chronic time point. There is a significant increase (p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001) in total microglial cells (like our earlier work) in hippocampus and a trend in perirhinal cortex whereas, MCC950 treatment decrease total microglial number. Furthermore, I observed a significant increase in NLRP3+ microglial cells (p*<0.05,

p**<0.01, p***<0.001) in injured group compared with control. MCC950 treatment significantly decreases NLRP3 expression in microglia (p***<0.001) compared to the injured group in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex (**Figure 4.5-4.9**)



Figure 4.5 MCC950 suppressed rLLB Induced chronic microglial activation and NLRP3 protein Expression. A) Graph represents total microglial number, B) graphs represents NLRP3+microglial cells in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex at day 30 in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=4-5), on-way ANOVA, p*<0.05, p**<0.01, p***<0.001 Mean \pm SEM.



Figure 4.6 NLRP3+ Microglia counting procedure. An image represents whole hippocampus region, B images CA1, CA3 and DG region of hippocampus selected for counting NLRP3+ microglia (C, D). C image represents counting total microglia within the region. D represents NLRP3 positive microglia (yellow arrow) and NLRP3 negative microglia (blue arrow).



Figure 4.7 Representation of NLRP3+Microglia (colocalized cells) in hippocampus (DG) in Control.



Figure 4.8 Representation of NLRP3+Microglia (colocalized cells) in hippocampus (DG) in rLLB. More expression of NLRP3+microglial cell in rLLB group compared with control.



Figure 4.9 Representation of NLRP3+Microglia (colocalized cells) in hippocampus (DG) in MCC950 treated group. Colocalized NLRP3+microglial cell was less in treatment group compared to injured (rLLB) group.

4.4.4 MCC950 decreased rLLB induces acute and chronic nlrp3 protein expression

This study mainly examined total NLRP3 inflammasome protein expression in hippocampus region. There is a significant increase in NLRP3 proteins expression as early as day $1(p^{**}<0.01)$ which persisted until 30 days ($p^{***}<0.001$) after rLLB compared to the control group. On other hand, MCC950 treatment significantly decreased NLRP3 expression at both time points ($p^{*}<0.05$) compared to the injured group (**Figure 4.10**).



Figure 4.10 MCC950 decreased rLLB Induced acute and chronic NLRP3 inflammasome protein expression. Graphs represents NLRP3 expression at day 1(1D) and day 30 (30D) in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=3), one-way ANOVA, $p^*<0.05$, $p^{**}<0.01$, $p^{***}<0.001$, Mean ± SEM.

4.4.5 MCC950 decreased rLLB induced acute and chronic active caspase-1 enzymes expression

As this study noticed an increase in NLRP3 protein expression and chronic proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β release, this study further examined total cleaved/active caspase-1, p20 enzyme in hippocampus region. There is a significant increase as early as day 1(p***<0.001) which almost persisted until 30 days (p<0.06) after rLLB compared to control group. On other hand, MCC950 treatment decreased cleaved/active caspase 1, p20 enzyme expression at both time points compared to the injured group (**Figure 4.11**).



Figure 4.11 MCC950 decreased rLLB Induced acute and chronic active caspase-1 enzyme expression. Graphs represents active caspase-1 expression at day 1(1D) and day 30 (30D) in control, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=3), one-way ANOVA, $p^{***}<0.001$, Mean \pm SEM.

4.4.6 MCC950 decreased rLLB induces chronic pro-inflammatory cytokine il-1β release

ELISA results indicate that rLLB induced an increase in IL-1 β release as early as 1D (p***<0.001) and persisted even after 30D (p***<0.001) of post-injury compared to control group (**Figure 4.12**). On the other side, MCC950 treatment showed a significant decrease in IL-1 β release at 1D and 30D compared to the injured group (p**<0.01).



Figure 4.12. MCC950 suppressed rLLB induced chronic pro-inflammatory cytokine IL- 1β release. Left and Right graphs represent concentration (pg/ml) of IL- 1β at day 1(1D) and day 30 (30D) respectively in vehicle, treatment (rLLB+MCC950) and rLLB groups (n=4), one-way ANOVA, p**<0.01, p***<0.001, Mean ± SEM.

4.5 Discussion

Recent studies demonstrated the involvement of the NLRP3 inflammasome in chronic neuroinflammatory response following a TBI event [247]. The current study explored the role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in rLLB and provided evidence that administration of a selective NLRP3 inhibitor, MCC950, significantly ameliorated rLLB-induced chronic neuroinflammation and long-term memory impairments in our rat model.

In this study, I found that MCC950 treatment improved short-term object recognition memory as assessed by discrimination for the novel object in the NOR task. Reason for choosing NOR test was based on previous literature where wide range of BOPs can show impact on short-term recognition memory compared to spatial memory [180] and

hippocampus has high susceptibility wide range of BOPs and this vulnerability increased with repetition [48]. As I examined pathological changes in hippocampus and perirhinal cortex where both regions involved in novel object recognition test. I observed significant improvements at 1 day post-blast with a similar trend at 30 days. Neurocognitive outcomes have improved following treatment with several drugs targeting the NLRP3 inflammasome in other rodent models of TBI. MCC950 itself has been shown to improve neurological severity score at 1 and 3 days after TBI in rat and mouse injury models [248]. A study by Zheng et al. examined the effect of dexmedetomidine (Dex), an α 2-selective adrenergic receptor agonist, on NLRP3 inflammasome expression after TBI and found that Dex administration improved spatial learning and memory. This effect was further enhanced when Dex was co-administered with the NLRP3 inhibitor BAY-11-7082 [233]. Additionally, Lin et al. found a neuroprotective role of omega-3 fatty acid against NLRP3mediated chronic neuropathological changes which improved memory following TBI [234]. Thus, the significant improvement in object recognition memory after MCC950 administration as reported in this chapter suggests that the NLRP3 inflammasome is an appropriate target for improvement of cognitive outcomes following rLLB as well as other forms of TBI.

When examining the effects of treatment on proteins and cytokines involved in NLRP3-mediated neuroinflammation, I found that MCC950 decreased NLRP3 and cleaved caspase-1 expression and reduced IL-1β release in the rat hippocampus and perirhinal cortex at 1 and 30 days post-blast. Previously, Ismael et al. reported that MCC950 administration mitigated TBI-induced NLRP3 and caspase-1 expression and IL-1β release at 1 and 3 days post-injury and simultaneously decreased brain water content

and neurological severity score in mice [116]. In rats, Zhao et al. found that MCC950 treatment decreased apoptotic cell death, brain water content, NLRP3 expression, caspase-1 enzyme levels, and IL-1 β release at 1 and 3 days after TBI [248]. Dex administration decreased NLRP3 and caspase-1 expression, reduced IL-1 β release, and increased neuronal viability in a rat model of CCI; these effects were also enhanced by co-administration of BAY-11-7082 [233]. Several other studies have also demonstrated NLRP3 inhibition-mediated neuroprotection following TBI [206, 232, 239, 240, 249-251].

Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and subsquent caspase-1 cleavage and IL- 1β release are key components in a neuroinflammatory mechanism that is specific to microglia compared to other cell types in the CNS [115]. Consequently, I evaluated microglial activation based on process length and number of processes per cell and assessed the number of microglia expressing NLRP3 in the soma after injury and/or treatment. I observed a significant reduction in microglial process length and number of processes after rLLB, and this effect was reversed by treatment with MCC950. In addition to microglial activation, I also observed significant increase in NLRP3+microglial number following rLLB at chronic time points whereas, MCC50 treatment decreased NLRP3 expression in microglia.Xu et al. examined MCC950 treatment after TBI and observed suppressed microglial activation and decreased pro-inflammatory cytokine release, BBB permeability, and brain water content at 3 days post-injury. Furthermore, this group also evaluated microglia specific NLRP3 expression and its role in chronic neuroinflammation and longterm neurological changes by inducing microglial depletion via PLX3397. They found that the protective role of MCC950 was abolished in microglial-depleted animals. Treatment with Dex also resulted in suppression of microglial activation which was enhanced when co-administered with the NLRP3 inhibitor BAY-11-7082 [233].

Although there are a small number of studies referenced above using MCC950 as a treatment in rodent models of TBI, these studies only examined the therapeutic efficacy of MCC950 at acute time points after TBI. In aim 3, the effects of MCC950 were also assessed at chronic time points (30 days post-blast) in our rat model of rLLB. I found that MCC950 treatment ameliorated short-term memory deficits and suppressed NLRP3 expression and microglial activation at both acute and chronic time points. Hence, rLLBinduced chronic behavioral deficits could be mediated through the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway.

CHAPTER 5

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Low-level blast is the mildest form of bTBI. Military and law enforcement personnel attend training sessions periodically throughout their service as part of combat readiness in which they are exposed to these low-level blasts repeatedly [11, 13]. Unlike single moderate-severe bTBIs, TBIs caused by rLLB exposure do not show any diagnosable symptoms immediately after a training session; however, studies on soldiers participating in these trainings reported chronic neuropsychological, neuromotor, and neurocognitive problems [252-254]. However, these reports are anecdotal and have not been validated with preclinical research, especially using animal models. The major gap in understanding the impact of these repetitive low-level exposures on the CNS over time is due to the lack of an accurate animal model. In this study, we have developed a rat model of rLLB in order to examine acute and long-term neurobehavioral and neuropathological changes in this form of TBI.

In Chapter 2, I investigated the influence of rLLB on neurobehavioral changes at 1 and 30 days post-blast. I found both acute and chronic anxiety, short-term recognition memory impairments, and motor deficits. In Chapter 3, I investigated several possible factors contributing to the behavioral changes observed following rLLB exposure, including NOX1-mediated oxidative stress, microglial activation, NLRP3 inflammasome expression, and astrocytosis, in the hippocampus. I noticed a significant increase of all these factors at both acute and chronic time points following rLLB. In Chapter 4, I examined NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated IL-1 β release and its influence on chronic microglial activation, neuroinflammation, and neurobehavioral changes.

For this, I administered MCC950, a selective NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor, and analyzed its therapeutic efficacy in terms of suppression of microglial activation, NLRP3 protein expression and IL-1β release as well as improvement in behavioral outcomes. Here, I found that MCC950 treatment mitigated chronic neuroinflammation mediated through NLRP3 and IL-1β release and improved short-term recognition memory.

The physical mechanism to explain how a blast wave causes damage to the brain is still controversial. However, like other forms of TBI, bTBI causes a primary injury (exposure to blast wave) and secondary injury (develops over time). Primary injury occurs mainly due to the transmission of energy in the form of a blast wave to the brain, which might induce the shearing of brain tissues as in diffuse axonal injury (DFI). Known blastinduced primary injuries include BBB disruption, hemorrhage, and microvascular injury; of these, BBB disruption has been well documented at different BOPs in bTBI [20, 21, 30, 31, 255]. Possible secondary injury mechanisms that result in rLLB-induced chronic microglial activation might occur due to (1) disruption of BBB and vascular endothelium, which might induce compromised permeability and spillage of bloodborne macromolecules respectively and (2) induction of acute and chronic free radical generation and oxidative stress [256]. One known enzyme that documented in single moderate bTBI is NOX1 and 2 [208]. I observed an increase in NOX1 expression which persisted for 30 days post-injury. At day 1, I found that the total number of microglia in the control and rLLB group was not significantly different, but the number of activated microglia was greater in rLLB rats compared to control. This discrepancy might be accounted for by several possible primary and secondary injury mechanisms that could induce microglial activation, such as (1) physical displacement of the surrounding extracellular fluid, (2)
rLLB-induced BBB disruption, or (3) NOX-mediated oxidative stress and free radical generation. I also observed an increase in the total number of microglia as well as the number of activated microglia, which might be caused by NOX and IL-1 β -mediated microglial proliferation [257]. Microglial activation and proliferation not only cause chronic release of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , TNF- α), chemokines, and ROS but also disrupt the integrity of the BBB [258]. Furthermore, proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β induces BBB disruption via downregulation of sonic hedgehog production in astrocytes, which plays a crucial role in BBB formation, and upregulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1) and its target vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA) in astrocytes [259, 260]. Hence, chronic microglial activation could result in biphasic opening of the BBB after injury.

Chronic neuroinflammation due to sustained microglial activation is a frequent observation in bTBI [79, 80]. One of the key players for contributing to chronic neuroinflammation is the NLRP3 inflammasome complex, which predominently expressed in microglia [115]. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome complex requires (1) a priming signal consisting of Nf-kB-mediated upregulation of NLRP3 components and pro-IL-1 β and (2) an activation signal and results in caspase-1-mediated clevage of pro-IL-1 β to IL-1 β . In the present study, I did not examine the mechanism behind the priming step, but I speculate that rLLB might cause BBB disruption or neuronal damage which might result in the release of DAMPs such as heat shock proteins (HSPs), high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1), S100 β , DNA, etc. These components have receptors on microglia (e.g., TLR, RAGE receptors) which can induce Nf-kB activation. Increased Nf-kB activation has been reported along with inflammation and ROS generation as early as 2 hours to 3 days following blast [261]. Activation and oligomerization of NLRP3, which are the focus of this study, are triggered by a wide range of signals including ATP, ionic imbalance (K⁺ efflux, Ca⁺² flux, Cl⁻ efflux), mitochondrial DNA, ROS, and proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α [90]. I observed acute and chronic ROS generation via NOX1 expression, so I assume that initial NLRP3 activation in microglia might be due to ROS. In contrast, chronic NLRP3 activation resulting in microglial activation and proliferation is likely mediated by IL-1 β , as I observed a significant increase in levels of this cytokine at days 1 and 30.

NLRP3 inflammasome activation results in cleavage of pro-IL-1 β to IL-1 β . Increased IL-1 β release can activate neighboring microglia and astrocytes, which causes an amplification of glial activation and induces chronic neuroinflammation. Studies are well documented that external administration of IL-1 β can cause altered neurotransmitter release and behavioral changes including impaired spatial memory, anxiety [262], motor deficits [263], decreased exploratory activity, and sleep disurbances [72-78]. IL-1 β receptors are widely distributed all over the brain but are most densly populated in the hippocampus [71]. A study has shown that IL-1 β can induce structural changes (plasticity) in the hippocampus, especially CA1, by reducing dendritic spines which can cause memory impairments [264]. In this study, I observed acute and chronic IL-1 β levels, NLRP3 and cleaved caspase-1 expression in hippocampus which accompanied by acute and chronic short-term memory impairments (NOR) following rLLB. These behavioral deficits improved after treatment with MCC950, a selective NLRP3 inhibitor, with a corresponding decrease in NLRP3 and cleaved caspase-1 expression and IL-1^β levels. Similarly, in an lipopolysaccharide (LPS) injury model, researchers observed an improvement in short-

term recognition memory (NOR) and anxiety-like symptoms (elevated zero maze, EZM) in hippocampal lentivirus-mediated IL-1 β knock-down mice [265]. The increased anxietylike symptoms that I observed in EPM also might be due to the involvment of IL-1 β . Studies have shown that IL-1 β can interact with the endocannabinoid system, particularly type-1 cannabinoid receptors (CB1R) [266]. CB1Rs are crucial for regulating excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission in different brain regions such that increased IL-1 β can downregulate GABAergic synaptic transmission via interactions with CB1Rs [266, 267]. Similarly, persistent motor definitions following rLLB might be due to elevated IL-1 β . Though this study did not examine IL-1 β levels in any brain regions other than the hippocampus, I speculate that similar increases might occur in the frontal cortex, motor cortex, and cerebellum, resulting in altered motor coordination after rLLB. Elevated levels of IL-1 β due to microglial activation have been previously shown to cause motor deficits following LPS injection, whereas blocking IL-1 β reversed these deficits [263]. Furthermore, increased IL-1 β also alters neurotransmitter concentrations within the brain, especially levels of the monoamines norepinephrine, serotonin, and dopamine [268]. Of these, altered norepinephrine levels lead to attention, learning, and memory deficits [269]. Thus, an increase in IL-1 β might induce acute and chronic pathological and behavioral changes through diverse pathways following rLLB.

As previously mentioned, an increase in IL-1 β can also have a detrimental impact on neurons, which could result in IL-1 β -mediated behavioral deficits following rLLB. My preliminary data have shown a significant decrease in neuronal cell counts in the CA1, CA3, DG, and PRh regions following rLLB at 30 days post-injury which was significantly prevented by treatement with MCC950 after rLLB. Thus, I speculate that this neuronal loss is mediated by IL-1 β because the treatment prevented neuronal loss, implying that MCC950 supressed NLRP3-mediated IL-1 β release and subsequent IL-1 β -mediated neurotoxicity. This neuronal cell loss can occur through several different mechanisms, including oxidative stress, apoptosis, necrosis, pyroptosis, and glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity. The neuronal cell loss that I observed in rLLB could be the result of any of these pathways. First, the blast wave itself causes NOX-mediated free radical generation and lipid, protein, and DNA oxidation, which can cause neuronal cell death [270-276]. Second, increased IL-1 β release can cause additional glial activation and proliferation [277] followed by excessive release of ROS and proinflammatory cytokine which results in further neurotoxicity. Third, IL-1ß can induce caspase-3 activation, cytochrome C release, downregulation of Bcl-2, activation of p53 (tumor supressor gene), upregulation of p38 (mitogen-activated protein kinase), thereby triggering neuronal apoptosis [278-280]. can cause glutamate-mediated neuronal excitotoxicity. Fourth, IL-1β Proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α released by glial cells can increase enzyme activity of glutaminase 1, an amidohydrolase which converts glutamine to glutamate within neurons. Excess extracellular glutamate interacts with NMDA receptors to induce excitotoxicity. A study observed glutaminase 1 activity, glutamate production, and NMDA-mediated excitotoxicity in the presence of elevated IL-1 β which was blocked by administration of NMDA receptor antagonist MK-801 [281]. Increased extracelluar glutamate can also serve as a signal for NLRP3 inflammasome activation which causes further release of IL-1 β . In addition to neuronal cells, microglia also release excess glutamate when activated or in the presence of oxidative stress or lipid peroxidation [282]. In the presence of DAMPs released from necrotic cells, microglial glutaminase levels are

elevated via TLR-MyD88-mediated Nf-kB activation, resulting in excess glutamate release from microglia [283]. Fifth, neuronal loss could occur via pyroptosis, as IL-1 β interacts with neurons and serves as a signal for inflammasome complex activation. Besides producing IL-1 β , the inflammasome complex can also induce pyroptosis via pore formation through caspase-1-mediated gasdermin D activation. Neuronal cells predominantly express the NLRP1 isoform compared to NLRP3, so chronic IL-1 β release via microglial NLRP3 can activate NLRP1 in neurons, leading to neuronal cell death via pyroptosis [284-286].

In summary, the current animal model using low-level blast exposures successively within a short span of about 5-10 minutes closely mimics a true exposure, allowing for investigation of rLLB-mediated chronic neurological changes that may potentially occur in service members. Accordingly, this model is also a useful preclinical model to formulate therapeutic interventions which are greatly needed to prevent cognitive and behavioral deficits in those who are required to participate in training sessions where they will inevitably be exposed to rLLB (**Figure 5.1**).

As a future study, the following are suggested:

- 1. This study is limited to anxiety, motor, and memory impairments. There is a need to examine PTSD, depression, sleep disturbances, attention deficits, hearing loss, and fear conditioning following rLLB. These are the other behavioral symptoms manifested by soldiers or law enforcement personnel after the training.
- 2. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction (BBB) is a secondary injury mechanism that is widely observed after single moderate blast. However, there is a possibility of that BBB is involved in the chronic neuroinflammation following rLLB.
- 3. This study investigated one possible secondary injury mechanism, neuroinflammation after rLLB. Neuronal loss or synaptic protein changes may also

play an important role in manifesting behavioral abnormalities and need to be studied.

- 4. In addition to neuronal loss and the influence of altered synaptic transmission on behavior, there is a need to examine electrophysiological changes following rLLB.
- 5. This study mainly focused on designing an appropriate animal model for rLLB and investigated rLLB influence on neurological changes at 30 days (chronic time points). However, there is a need to examine long-term (3, 6, 9, 12 months) effects of rLLB.



Figure 5.1 Schematic of dissertation work on rLLB induced NLRP3 mediated neurological changes. rLLB induced chronic microglia activation through NLRP3 mediated proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β release which leads to pathological and behavioral changes. MCC950 treatment mitigated pathological changes and ameliorated short-term memory impairments.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pearn, M.L., I.R. Niesman, J. Egawa, A. Sawada, A. Almenar-Queralt, S.B. Shah, J.L. Duckworth, and B.P. Head, *Pathophysiology Associated with Traumatic Brain Injury: Current Treatments and Potential Novel Therapeutics*. Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology, 2017. **37**(4): p. 571-585.
- 2. Faul, M., M.M. Wald, L. Xu, and V.G. Coronado, *Traumatic Brain Injury In The United States; Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations, And Deaths, 2002-2006.* 2010.
- Trotter, B.B., M.E. Robinson, W.P. Milberg, R.E. McGlinchey, and D.H. Salat, *Military Blast Exposure, Ageing and White Matter Integrity*. Brain, 2015. 138(8): p. 2278-2292.
- 4. Ling, G.S. and J.M. Ecklund, *Traumatic Brain Injury in Modern War*. Current Opinion in Anesthesiology, 2011. **24**(2): p. 124-130.
- 5. Mathews, Z.R. and A. Koyfman, *Blast Injuries*. The Journal of Emergency Medicine, 2015. **49**(4): p. 573-587.
- 6. Moore, B., *Blast Injuries-a Prehospital Perspective*. Australasian Journal of Paramedicine, 2015. **4**(1).
- 7. Elsayed, N.M., *Toxicology of Blast Overpressure*. Toxicology, 1997. **121**(1): p. 1-15.
- 8. DePalma, R.G., D.G. Burris, H.R. Champion, and M.J. Hodgson, *Blast Injuries*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2005. **352**(13): p. 1335-42.
- 9. Mishra, V., M. Skotak, H. Schuetz, A. Heller, J. Haorah, and N. Chandra, *Primary Blast Causes Mild, Moderate, Severe and Lethal TBI With Increasing Blast Overpressures: Experimental Rat Injury Model.* Scientific Reports, 2016. **6**(1): p. 26992.
- 10. Kuriakose, M., M. Skotak, A. Misistia, S. Kahali, A. Sundaramurthy, and N. Chandra, *Tailoring the Blast Exposure Conditions in the Shock Tube for*

Generating Pure, Primary Shock Waves: The End Plate Facilitates Elimination of Secondary Loading of the Specimen. PloS One, 2016. **11**(9): p. e0161597.

- Kamimori, G.H., L.A. Reilly, C.R. LaValle, and U.B. Olaghere Da Silva, *Occupational Overpressure Exposure Of Breachers And Military Personnel*. Shock Waves, 2017. 27(6): p. 837-847.
- Carr, W., J.R. Stone, T. Walilko, L.A. Young, T.L. Snook, M.E. Paggi, J.W. Tsao, C.J. Jankosky, R.V. Parish, and S.T. Ahlers, *Repeated Low-Level Blast Exposure: A Descriptive Human Subjects Study*. Military Medicine, 2016. 181(suppl_5): p. 28-39.
- 13. Skotak, M., C. LaValle, A. Misistia, M.J. Egnoto, N. Chandra, and G. Kamimori, *Occupational Blast Wave Exposure During Multiday 0.50 Caliber Rifle Course*. Frontiers in Neurology, 2019. **10**(797).
- Carr, W., E. Polejaeva, A. Grome, B. Crandall, C. LaValle, S.E. Eonta, and L.A. Young, *Relation Of Repeated Low-Level Blast Exposure With Symptomology Similar To Concussion*. Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 2015. 30(1): p. 47-55.
- Tate, C.M., K.K. Wang, S. Eonta, Y. Zhang, W. Carr, F.C. Tortella, R.L. Hayes, and G.H. Kamimori, Serum Brain Biomarker Level, Neurocognitive Performance, And Self-Reported Symptom Changes In Soldiers Repeatedly Exposed To Low-Level Blast: A Breacher Pilot Study. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. 30(19): p. 1620-30.
- 16. Skotak, M., M.T. Townsend, K.V. Ramarao, and N. Chandra, *A Comprehensive Review of Experimental Rodent Models of Repeated Blast TBI*. Frontiers in Neurology, 2019. **10**(1015).
- 17. Harrison, C.L. and M. Dijkers, *Traumatic Brain Injury Registries in the United States: an Overview.* Brain Injury, 1992. **6**(3): p. 203-212.
- 18. Mayorga, M.A., *The Pathology of Primary Blast Overpressure Injury*. Toxicology, 1997. **121**(1): p. 17-28.
- Kumar, A. and D.J. Loane, *Neuroinflammation After Traumatic Brain Injury: Opportunities For Therapeutic Intervention.* Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2012.
 26(8): p. 1191-201.

- 20. Kuriakose, M., K.V. Rama Rao, D. Younger, and N. Chandra, *Temporal and Spatial Effects of Blast Overpressure on Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability in Traumatic Brain Injury*. Scientific Reports, 2018. **8**(1): p. 8681.
- 21. Kuriakose, M., D. Younger, A.R. Ravula, E. Alay, K.V. Rama Rao, and N. Chandra, *Synergistic Role of Oxidative Stress and Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability as Injury Mechanisms in the Acute Pathophysiology of Blast-induced Neurotrauma.* Scientific Reports, 2019. **9**(1): p. 7717.
- 22. Abbott, N.J., A.A. Patabendige, D.E. Dolman, S.R. Yusof, and D.J. Begley, *Structure And Function Of The Blood-Brain Barrier*. Neurobiology of Disease, 2010. **37**(1): p. 13-25.
- 23. Abdul-Muneer, P.M., N. Chandra, and J. Haorah, *Interactions of Oxidative Stress* and Neurovascular Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Traumatic Brain Injury. Molecular Neurobiology, 2015. **51**(3): p. 966-79.
- 24. Baldwin, S.A., I. Fugaccia, D.R. Brown, L.V. Brown, and S.W. Scheff, *Blood-Brain Barrier Breach Following Cortical Contusion in the Rat.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 1996. **85**(3): p. 476-481.
- 25. Başkaya, M.K., A.M. Rao, A. Doğan, D. Donaldson, and R.J. Dempsey, *The Biphasic Opening of the Blood–Brain Barrier in the Cortex and Hippocampus After Traumatic Brain Injury in Rats.* Neuroscience Letters, 1997. **226**(1): p. 33-36.
- 26. Higashida, T., C.W. Kreipke, J.A. Rafols, C. Peng, S. Schafer, P. Schafer, J.Y. Ding, D. Dornbos III, X. Li, and M. Guthikonda, *The Role of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1α, Aquaporin-4, and Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 in Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption and Brain Edema After Traumatic Brain Injury: Laboratory Investigation.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2011. **114**(1): p. 92-101.
- 27. Shapira, Y., D. Setton, A.A. Artru, and E. Shohami, *Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability, Cerebral Edema, and Neurologic Function After Closed Head Injury in Rats.* Anesthesia & Analgesia, 1993. **77**(1): p. 141-148.
- Elder, G.A., M.A. Gama Sosa, R. De Gasperi, J.R. Stone, D.L. Dickstein, F. Haghighi, P.R. Hof, and S.T. Ahlers, *Vascular And Inflammatory Factors In The Pathophysiology Of Blast-Induced Brain Injury*. Frontiers in Neurology, 2015. 6: p. 48.

- Hue, C.D., F.S. Cho, S. Cao, C.R.D. Bass, D.F. Meaney, and B. Morrison III, Dexamethasone Potentiates in Vitro Blood-Brain Barrier Recovery after Primary Blast Injury by Glucocorticoid Receptor-Mediated Upregulation of ZO-1 Tight Junction Protein. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 2015. 35(7): p. 1191-1198.
- 30. Kawoos, U., M. Gu, J. Lankasky, R.M. McCarron, and M. Chavko, *Effects of Exposure to Blast Overpressure on Intracranial Pressure and Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability in a Rat Model*. PloS one, 2016. **11**(12): p. e0167510-e0167510.
- 31. Readnower, R.D., M. Chavko, S. Adeeb, M.D. Conroy, J.R. Pauly, R.M. McCarron, and P.G. Sullivan, *Increase in Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability, Oxidative Stress, and Activated Microglia in a Rat Model of Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury.* Journal of Neuroscience Research, 2010. **88**(16): p. 3530-9.
- 32. Matthew Kuriakose, D.Y., Arun Reddy Ravula, Eren Alay, Kakulavarapu V. Rama Rao & Namas Chandra synergistic Role of oxidative stress and Blood-Brain Barrier permeability as Injury Mechanisms in the Acute pathophysiology of Blastinduced Neurotrauma. Scientific Reports, 2019.
- 33. Stokum, J.A., K. Keledjian, E. Hayman, J.K. Karimy, A. Pampori, Z. Imran, S.K. Woo, V. Gerzanich, and J.M. Simard, *Glibenclamide Pretreatment Protects Against Chronic Memory Dysfunction and Glial Activation in Rat Cranial Blast Traumatic Brain Injury*. Behavioural Brain Research, 2017. 333: p. 43-53.
- 34. Kabu, S., H. Jaffer, M. Petro, D. Dudzinski, D. Stewart, A. Courtney, M. Courtney, and V. Labhasetwar, *Blast-Associated Shock Waves Result in Increased Brain Vascular Leakage and Elevated ROS Levels in a Rat Model of Traumatic Brain Injury*. PLoS One, 2015. 10(5): p. e0127971.
- 35. Abdul-Muneer, P.M., H. Schuetz, F. Wang, M. Skotak, J. Jones, S. Gorantla, M.C. Zimmerman, N. Chandra, and J. Haorah, *Induction of Oxidative and Nitrosative Damage Leads to Cerebrovascular Inflammation in an Animal Model of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Induced by Primary Blast.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2013. **60**: p. 282-291.
- Khatri, N., M. Thakur, V. Pareek, S. Kumar, S. Sharma, and A.K. Datusalia, Oxidative Stress: Major Threat in Traumatic Brain Injury. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 2018. 17(9): p. 689-695.

- 37. Kontos, H.A. and E.P. Wei, *Superoxide Production in Experimental Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurosurgery, 1986. **64**(5): p. 803-807.
- 38. Angeloni, C., C. Prata, F.V. Dalla Sega, R. Piperno, and S. Hrelia, *Traumatic Brain Injury and NADPH Oxidase: a Deep Relationship.* Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2015. **2015**: p. 370312-370312.
- 39. Loane, D.J., B.A. Stoica, K.R. Byrnes, W. Jeong, and A.I. Faden, *Activation of mGluR5 and Inhibition of NADPH Oxidase Improves Functional Recovery After Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(5): p. 403-412.
- Lucke-Wold, B.P., Z.J. Naser, A.F. Logsdon, R.C. Turner, K.E. Smith, M.J. Robson, J.E. Bailes, J.M. Lee, C.L. Rosen, and J.D. Huber, *Amelioration of Nicotinamide Adenine dinucleotide Phosphate–Oxidase Mediated Stress Reduces Cell Death After Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury*. Translational Research, 2015. 166(6): p. 509-528.e1.
- Rama Rao, K.V., S. Iring, D. Younger, M. Kuriakose, M. Skotak, E. Alay, R.K. Gupta, and N. Chandra, A Single Primary Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury in a Rodent Model Causes Cell-Type Dependent Increase in Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase Isoforms in Vulnerable Brain Regions. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2018. 35(17): p. 2077-2090.
- 42. Zhang, Q.G., M.D. Laird, D. Han, K. Nguyen, E. Scott, Y. Dong, K.M. Dhandapani, and D.W. Brann, *Critical Role of NADPH Oxidase in Neuronal Oxidative Damage and Microglia Activation Following Traumatic Brain Injury*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(4): p. e34504.
- Zhang, T., X. Tian, Q. Wang, Y. Tong, H. Wang, Z. Li, L. Li, T. Zhou, R. Zhan, L. Zhao, Y. Sun, D. Fan, L. Lu, J. Zhang, Y. Jin, W. Xiao, X. Guo, and D. Chui, Surgical Stress Induced Depressive and Anxiety Like Behavior Are Improved by Dapsone via Modulating NADPH Oxidase Level. Neuroscience Letters, 2015. 585: p. 103-108.
- 44. Nayernia, Z., V. Jaquet, and K.-H. Krause, *New Insights on NOX Enzymes in the Central Nervous System.* Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 2014. **20**(17): p. 2815-2837.

- 45. Schiavone, S., M. Neri, L. Trabace, and E. Turillazzi, *The NADPH Oxidase NOX2 Mediates Loss of Parvalbumin Interneurons in Traumatic Brain Injury: Human Autoptic Immunohistochemical Evidence*. Scientific Reports, 2017. **7**(1): p. 8752-8752.
- 46. Lu, X.-Y., H.-D. Wang, J.-G. Xu, K. Ding, and T. Li, *NADPH Oxidase Inhibition Improves Neurological Outcome In Experimental Traumatic Brain Injury*. Neurochemistry International, 2014. **69**: p. 14-19.
- 47. Cooney, S.J., S.L. Bermudez-Sabogal, and K.R. Byrnes, *Cellular and Temporal Expression of NADPH Oxidase (NOX) Isotypes After Brain Injury.* Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2013. **10**(1): p. 917.
- 48. Effgen, G.B., T. Ong, S. Nammalwar, A.I. Ortuno, D.F. Meaney, C.R. 'Dale'Bass, and B. Morrison Iii, *Primary Blast Exposure Increases Hippocampal Vulnerability* to Subsequent Exposure: Reducing Long-Term Potentiation. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2016. **33**(20): p. 1901-1912.
- 49. Schimmel, S.J., S. Acosta, and D. Lozano, *Neuroinflammation In Traumatic Brain Injury: A Chronic Response To An Acute Injury*. Brain circulation, 2017. **3**(3): p. 135-142.
- 50. Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., M. Rancan, V.I. Otto, P.F. Stahel, and T. Kossmann, *Role Of Cerebral Inflammation After Traumatic Brain Injury: A Revisited Concept.* Shock, 2001. **16**(3): p. 165-77.
- 51. Loane, D.J. and K.R. Byrnes, *Role of Microglia in Neurotrauma*. Neurotherapeutics, 2010. **7**(4): p. 366-77.
- Schousboe, A. and H.S. Waagepetersen, *Role of Astrocytes in Glutamate Homeostasis: Implications For Excitotoxicity*. Neurotoxicity Research, 2005. 8(3-4): p. 221-5.
- Zhao, Z., S. Alam, R.W. Oppenheim, D.M. Prevette, A. Evenson, and A. Parsadanian, Overexpression of Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in the CNS Rescues Motoneurons From Programmed Cell Death and Promotes Their Long-Term Survival Following Axotomy. Experimental Neurology, 2004. 190(2): p. 356-372.

- Myer, D.J., G.G. Gurkoff, S.M. Lee, D.A. Hovda, and M.V. Sofroniew, *Essential Protective Roles of Reactive Astrocytes in Traumatic Brain Injury*. Brain, 2006. 129(10): p. 2761-2772.
- 55. Fernández-Arjona, M.d.M., J.M. Grondona, P. Granados-Durán, P. Fernández-Llebrez, and M.D. López-Ávalos, *Microglia Morphological Categorization in a Rat Model of Neuroinflammation by Hierarchical Cluster And Principal Components Analysis.* Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 2017. **11**: p. 235.
- Torres-Platas, S.G., S. Comeau, A. Rachalski, G. Dal Bo, C. Cruceanu, G. Turecki, B. Giros, and N. Mechawar, *Morphometric Characterization of Microglial Phenotypes in Human Cerebral Cortex*. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2014. 11(1): p. 1-14.
- Nimmerjahn, A., F. Kirchhoff, and F. Helmchen, *Resting Microglial Cells Are Highly Dynamic Surveillants Of Brain Parenchyma In Vivo*. Science, 2005. 308(5726): p. 1314-1318.
- 58. Boche, D., V. Perry, and J. Nicoll, *Activation Patterns of Microglia And Their Identification in the Human Brain*. Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology, 2013. **39**(1): p. 3-18.
- 59. Evilsizor, M.N., H.F. Ray-Jones, T.W. Ellis Jr, J. Lifshitz, and J.M. Ziebell, *Microglia in Experimental Brain Injury*, in *Brain neurotrauma: Molecular*, *Neuropsychological*, *And Rehabilitation Aspects*. 2015, CRC Press/Taylor & Francis.
- 60. Sica, A., T. Schioppa, A. Mantovani, and P. Allavena, *Tumour-Associated Macrophages Are a Distinct M2 Polarised Population Promoting Tumour Progression: Potential Targets of Anti-Cancer Therapy.* European Journal of Cancer, 2006. **42**(6): p. 717-727.
- Block, M.L., L. Zecca, and J.S. Hong, *Microglia-Mediated Neurotoxicity:* Uncovering the Molecular Mechanisms. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2007. 8(1): p. 57-69.
- 62. Kadhim, H.J., J. Duchateau, and G. Sébire, *Cytokines and Brain Injury: Invited review.* Journal of Intensive Care Medicine, 2008. **23**(4): p. 236-249.

- 63. Gibson, R.M., N.J. Rothwell, and R.A. Le Feuvre, *CNS Injury: The Role of The Cytokine IL-1*. The Veterinary Journal, 2004. **168**(3): p. 230-237.
- 64. del Rey, A., D. Balschun, W. Wetzel, A. Randolf, and H.O. Besedovsky, *A cytokine Network Involving Brain-Borne IL-1 beta*, *IL-1ra*, *IL-18*, *IL-6*, *and TNF alpha Operates During Long-Term Potentiation and Learning*. Brain Behavior and Immunity, 2013. **33**: p. 15-23.
- 65. Wang, X., F.C. Barone, N.V. Aiyar, and G.Z. Feuerstein, *Interleukin-1 Receptor And Receptor Antagonist Gene Expression After Focal Stroke In Rats.* Stroke, 1997. **28**(1): p. 155-162.
- 66. Luheshi, N.M., K.J. Kovács, G. Lopez-Castejon, D. Brough, and A. Denes, Interleukin-1α Expression Precedes IL-1β After Ischemic Brain Injury And Is Localised to Areas of Focal Neuronal Loss And Penumbral Tissues. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2011. 8(1): p. 1-5.
- 67. McColl, B.W., N.J. Rothwell, and S.M. Allan, Systemic Inflammatory Stimulus Potentiates the Acute Phase And CXC Chemokine Responses to Experimental Stroke And Exacerbates Brain Damage via Interleukin-1-And Neutrophil-Dependent Mechanisms. Journal of Neuroscience, 2007. 27(16): p. 4403-4412.
- Boutin, H., R. LeFeuvre, R. Horai, M. Asano, Y. Iwakura, and N. Rothwell, *Role of IL-1α and IL-1β in Ischemic Brain Damage*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2001. 21(15): p. 5528-5534.
- 69. Qian, H., Q. Li, and W. Shi, *Hyperbaric Oxygen Alleviates the Activation of NLRP* -3 -Inflammasomes in Traumatic Brain IInjury. Molecular Medicine Reports, 2017. **16**(4): p. 3922-3928.
- Bachstetter, A.D., R.K. Rowe, M. Kaneko, D. Goulding, J. Lifshitz, and L.J. Van Eldik, *The p38α MAPK Regulates Microglial Responsiveness to Diffuse Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2013. **33**(14): p. 6143-6153.
- 71. Farrar, W., P. Kilian, M. Ruff, J. Hill, and C. Pert, *Visualization and Characterization of Interleukin 1 Receptors in Brain*. The Journal of Immunology, 1987. **139**(2): p. 459-463.

- 72. Connor, T., C. Song, B. Leonard, Z. Merali, and H. Anisman, An Assessment of The Effects of Central Interleukin-1β,-2,-6, and Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Administration on Some Behavioural, Neurochemical, Endocrine and Immune Parameters in the Rat. Neuroscience, 1998. 84(3): p. 923-933.
- 73. Dunn, A.J., Systematic Interleukin-1 Administration Stimulates Hypothalamic Norepinephrine Metabolism Parallelling the Increased Plasma Corticosterone. Life sciences, 1988. **43**(5): p. 429-435.
- 74. Gibertini, M., C. Newton, H. Friedman, and T.W. Klein, *Spatial Learning Impairment in Mice Infected with Legionella Pneumophila or Administered Exogenous Interleukin-1-β*. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 1995. **9**(2): p. 113-128.
- 75. Kent, S., R.-M. Bluthé, K.W. Kelley, and R. Dantzer, *Sickness Behavior as a New Target for Drug Development*. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 1992. **13**: p. 24-28.
- 76. Moldofsky, H., *Sleep, Neuroimmune and Neuroendocrine Functions in Fibromyalgia and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome.* Advances in Neuroimmunology, 1995. **5**(1): p. 39-56.
- 77. Song, C., X. Li, B.E. Leonard, and D.F. Horrobin, *Effects of Dietary n-3 or n-6 Fatty Acids on Interleukin-1β-Induced Anxiety, Stress, and Inflammatory Responses in Rats.* Journal of Lipid Research, 2003. 44(10): p. 1984-1991.
- 78. Song, C., Z. Merali, and H. Anisman, *Variations of Nucleus Accumbens Dopamine* and Serotonin Following Systemic Interleukin-1, Interleukin-2 or Interleukin-6 treatment. Neuroscience, 1999. **88**(3): p. 823-836.
- 79. Cho, H.J., V. Sajja, P.J. Vandevord, and Y.W. Lee, *Blast Induces Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, Neuronal Loss and Subsequent Short-Term Memory Impairment In Rats.* Neuroscience, 2013. **253**: p. 9-20.
- Shetty, A.K., V. Mishra, M. Kodali, and B. Hattiangady, *Blood Brain Barrier* Dysfunction And Delayed Neurological Deficits In Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Induced By Blast Shock Waves. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 2014. 8: p. 232-232.

- Chu, J., L.M. Thomas, S.C. Watkins, L. Franchi, G. Núñez, and R.D. Salter, *Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins Induce Rapid Release of Mature Il-1β From Murine Macrophages In A Nlrp3 Inflammasome And Cathepsin B-Dependent Manner*. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 2009. 86(5): p. 1227-1238.
- 82. Cruz, C.M., A. Rinna, H.J. Forman, A.L. Ventura, P.M. Persechini, and D.M. Ojcius, *ATP Activates a Reactive Oxygen Species-Dependent Oxidative Stress Response And Secretion Of Proinflammatory Cytokines In Macrophages*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2007. **282**(5): p. 2871-2879.
- Nakahira, K., J.A. Haspel, V.A. Rathinam, S.-J. Lee, T. Dolinay, H.C. Lam, J.A. Englert, M. Rabinovitch, M. Cernadas, and H.P. Kim, *Autophagy Proteins Regulate Innate Immune Responses by Inhibiting The Release Of Mitochondrial DNA Mediated By The NALP3 Inflammasome*. Nature Immunology, 2011. 12(3): p. 222-230.
- 84. Walsh, J.G., D.A. Muruve, and C. Power, *Inflammasomes in the CNS*. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2014. **15**(2): p. 84-97.
- Swanson, K.V., M. Deng, and J.P.-Y. Ting, *The NLRP3 Inflammasome: Molecular Activation and Regulation To Therapeutics*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2019. 19(8): p. 477-489.
- 86. Shi, J., Y. Zhao, K. Wang, X. Shi, Y. Wang, H. Huang, Y. Zhuang, T. Cai, F. Wang, and F. Shao, *Cleavage Of GSDMD By Inflammatory Caspases Determines Pyroptotic Cell Death.* Nature, 2015. **526**(7575): p. 660-665.
- Bauernfeind, F.G., G. Horvath, A. Stutz, E.S. Alnemri, K. MacDonald, D. Speert, T. Fernandes-Alnemri, J. Wu, B.G. Monks, and K.A. Fitzgerald, *Cutting Edge: NF-Kb Activating Pattern Recognition and Cytokine Receptors License NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation By Regulating NLRP3 Expression*. The Journal of Immunology, 2009. 183(2): p. 787-791.
- Halle, A., V. Hornung, G.C. Petzold, C.R. Stewart, B.G. Monks, T. Reinheckel, K.A. Fitzgerald, E. Latz, K.J. Moore, and D.T. Golenbock, *The NALP3 Inflammasome Is Involved in The Innate Immune Response To Amyloid-B*. Nature Immunology, 2008. 9(8): p. 857.

- 89. Mariathasan, S., D.S. Weiss, K. Newton, J. McBride, K. O'Rourke, M. Roose-Girma, W.P. Lee, Y. Weinrauch, D.M. Monack, and V.M. Dixit, *Cryopyrin Activates the Inflammasome In Response To Toxins And ATP*. Nature, 2006. **440**(7081): p. 228-232.
- 90. Guo, H., J.B. Callaway, and J.P.Y. Ting, *Inflammasomes: Mechanism of Action, Role In Disease, And Therapeutics.* Nature Medicine, 2015. **21**(7): p. 677-687.
- Cragnolini, A.B., H.B. Schiöth, and T.N. Scimonelli, Anxiety-Like Behavior Induced By IL-1β Is Modulated By A-MSH Through Central Melanocortin-4 Receptors. Peptides, 2006. 27(6): p. 1451-1456.
- Murray, C.L., P. Obiang, D. Bannerman, and C. Cunningham, *Endogenous IL-1 In Cognitive Function And Anxiety: A Study In IL-1RI-/- Mice*. PloS one, 2013. 8(10): p. e78385-e78385.
- 93. Bortolato, B., A.F. Carvalho, J.K. Soczynska, G.I. Perini, and R.S. McIntyre, *The Involvement Of TNF-A In Cognitive Dysfunction Associated with Major Depressive Disorder: An Opportunity for Domain Specific Treatments.* Current Neuropharmacology, 2015. **13**(5): p. 558-576.
- 94. Smith, J.A., A. Das, S.K. Ray, and N.L. Banik, *Role Of Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines Released from Microglia In Neurodegenerative Diseases.* Brain Research Bulletin, 2012. **87**(1): p. 10-20.
- 95. Song, L., L. Pei, S. Yao, Y. Wu, and Y. Shang, *NLRP3 Inflammasome in Neurological Diseases, from Functions to Therapies.* Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 2017. **11**(63).
- 96. Wallisch, J.S., D.W. Simon, H. Bayır, M.J. Bell, P.M. Kochanek, and R.S. Clark, *Cerebrospinal Fluid NLRP3 Is Increased After Severe Traumatic Brain Injury In Infants And Children.* Neurocritical care, 2017. **27**(1): p. 44-50.
- 97. Hickman, S.E., N.D. Kingery, T.K. Ohsumi, M.L. Borowsky, L.-c. Wang, T.K. Means, and J. El Khoury, *The Microglial Sensome Revealed by Direct RNA Sequencing*. Nature Neuroscience, 2013. **16**(12): p. 1896-1905.

- Lee, S.W., S. Gajavelli, M.S. Spurlock, C. Andreoni, J.P. de Rivero Vaccari, M.R. Bullock, R.W. Keane, and W.D. Dietrich, *Microglial Inflammasome Activation in Penetrating Ballistic-Like Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2018. 35(14): p. 1681-1693.
- Adamczak, S., G. Dale, J.P. de Rivero Vaccari, M.R. Bullock, W.D. Dietrich, and R.W. Keane, *Inflammasome Proteins in Cerebrospinal Fluid Of Brain-Injured Patients As Biomarkers Of Functional Outcome*. Journal of Neurosurgery, 2012. 117(6): p. 1119-1125.
- 100. Ma, J., W. Xiao, J. Wang, J. Wu, J. Ren, J. Hou, J. Gu, K. Fan, and B. Yu, *Propofol Inhibits NLRP3 Inflammasome and Attenuates Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury In Rats.* Inflammation, 2016. **39**(6): p. 2094-2103.
- 101. Coll, R.C., J.R. Hill, C.J. Day, A. Zamoshnikova, D. Boucher, N.L. Massey, J.L. Chitty, J.A. Fraser, M.P. Jennings, and A.A. Robertson, *MCC950 Directly Targets the NLRP3 ATP-Hydrolysis Motif For Inflammasome Inhibition*. Nature Chemical Biology, 2019. 15(6): p. 556-559.
- 102. Ward, R., W. Li, Y. Abdul, L. Jackson, G. Dong, S. Jamil, J. Filosa, S.C. Fagan, and A. Ergul, NLRP3 Inflammasome Inhibition with MCC950 Improves Diabetes-Mediated Cognitive Impairment and Vasoneuronal Remodeling After Ischemia. Pharmacological Research, 2019. 142: p. 237-250.
- 103. Schuh, E., C. Groß, D. Wagner, M. Schlüter, O. Groß, and T. Kümpfel, MCC950 Blocks Enhanced Interleukin-1β Production in Patients With NLRP3 Low Penetrance Variants. Clinical Immunology, 2019. 203: p. 45-52.
- 104. Coll, R.C., A.A.B. Robertson, J.J. Chae, S.C. Higgins, R. Munoz-Planillo, M.C. Inserra, I. Vetter, L.S. Dungan, B.G. Monks, A. Stutz, D.E. Croker, M.S. Butler, M. Haneklaus, C.E. Sutton, G. Nunez, E. Latz, D.L. Kastner, K.H.G. Mills, S.L. Masters, K. Schroder, M.A. Cooper, and L.A.J. O'Neill, *A Small-Molecule Inhibitor of The NLRP3 Inflammasome For The Treatment Of Inflammatory Diseases*. Nature Medicine, 2015. **21**(3): p. 248-+.
- Mangan, M.S., E.J. Olhava, W.R. Roush, H.M. Seidel, G.D. Glick, and E. Latz, *Targeting The NLRP3 Inflammasome In Inflammatory Diseases*. Nature Reviews Drug discovery, 2018. 17(8): p. 588-606.

- Sanman, L.E., Y. Qian, N.A. Eisele, T.M. Ng, W.A. van der Linden, D.M. Monack, E. Weerapana, and M. Bogyo, *Disruption Of Glycolytic Flux Is A Signal For Inflammasome Signaling And Pyroptotic Cell Death.* Elife, 2016. 5: p. e13663.
- 107. Jiao, J., G. Zhao, Y. Wang, P. Ren, and M. Wu, MCC950, A Selective Inhibitor of NLRP3 Inflammasome, Reduces The Inflammatory Response And Improves Neurological Outcomes In Mice Model Of Spinal Cord Injury. Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences, 2020. 7.
- 108. Schwaid, A.G. and K.B. Spencer, *Strategies For Targeting the NLRP3 Inflammasome In The Clinical And Preclinical Space.* Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 2020.
- 109. Ferrara-Bowens, T.M., J.K. Chandler, M.A. Guignet, J.F. Irwin, K. Laitipaya, D.D. Palmer, L.J. Shumway, L.B. Tucker, J.T. McCabe, and M.D. Wegner, Neuropathological And Behavioral Sequelae In IL-1R1 And IL-1Ra Gene Knockout Mice After Soman (GD) Exposure. Neurotoxicology, 2017. 63: p. 43-56.
- 110. Lemarchand, E., J. Barrington, A. Chenery, M. Haley, G. Coutts, J.E. Allen, S.M. Allan, and D. Brough, *Extent Of Ischemic Brain Injury After Thrombotic Stroke Is Independent of The NLRP3 (NACHT, LRR And PYD Domains-Containing Protein 3) Inflammasome*. Stroke, 2019. **50**(5): p. 1232-1239.
- 111. Gordon, R., E.A. Albornoz, D.C. Christie, M.R. Langley, V. Kumar, S. Mantovani, A.A. Robertson, M.S. Butler, D.B. Rowe, and L.A. O'Neill, *Inflammasome Inhibition Prevents A-Synuclein Pathology and Dopaminergic Neurodegeneration In Mice*. Science Translational Medicine, 2018. **10**(465): p. eaah4066.
- 112. Dempsey, C., A.R. Araiz, K. Bryson, O. Finucane, C. Larkin, E. Mills, A. Robertson, M. Cooper, L. O'Neill, and M. Lynch, *Inhibiting The NLRP3 Inflammasome with MCC950 Promotes Non-Phlogistic Clearance Of Amyloid-B And Cognitive Function In APP/PS1 Mice*. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2017. 61: p. 306-316.
- 113. Déniz-Naranjo, M., C. Muñoz-Fernandez, M. Alemany-Rodríguez, M. Pérez-Vieitez, Y. Aladro-Benito, J. Irurita-Latasa, and F. Sánchez-García, Cytokine IL-1 Beta but Not IL-1 Alpha Promoter Polymorphism Is Associated With Alzheimer Disease In A Population From The Canary Islands, Spain. European Journal of Neurology, 2008. 15(10): p. 1080-1084.

- 114. Wang, W., X. Wang, J. Chun, A. Vilaysane, S. Clark, G. French, N.A. Bracey, K. Trpkov, S. Bonni, H.J. Duff, P.L. Beck, and D.A. Muruve, *Inflammasome-Independent NLRP3 Augments TGF-Beta Signaling in Kidney Epithelium*. Journal of Immunology, 2013. **190**(3): p. 1239-1249.
- 115. Xu, X., D. Yin, H. Ren, W. Gao, F. Li, D. Sun, Y. Wu, S. Zhou, L. Lyu, and M. Yang, Selective NLRP3 Inflammasome Inhibitor Reduces Neuroinflammation and Improves Long-Term Neurological Outcomes In A Murine Model Of Traumatic Brain Injury. Neurobiology of Disease, 2018. 117: p. 15-27.
- 116. Ismael, S., S. Nasoohi, and T. Ishrat, MCC950, The Selective Inhibitor of Nucleotide Oligomerization Domain (NOD)-Like Receptor Protein-3 Inflammasome, Protects Mice Against Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2018. 35(11): p. 1294-1303.
- 117. Carron, S.F., D.S. Alwis, and R. Rajan, *Traumatic Brain Injury and Neuronal Functionality Changes In Sensory Cortex*. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 2016. **10**: p. 47.
- 118. Butler, D., J. Buono, F. Erdtmann, and P. Reid. *Traumatic Brain Injury and The Military Health System*. in *Systems Engineering to Improve Traumatic Brain Injury Care in the Military Health System: Workshop Summary*. 2009. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US).
- 119. Fausti, S.A., D.J. Wilmington, F.J. Gallun, P.J. Myers, and J.A. Henry, *Auditory And Vestibular Dysfunction Associated with Blast-Related Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development, 2009. **46**(6): p. 797-810.
- 120. Lindquist, L.K., H.C. Love, and E.B. Elbogen, *Traumatic Brain Injury in Iraq And Afghanistan Veterans: New Results From A National Random Sample Study.* The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 2017. **29**(3): p. 254-259.
- 121. Scherer, M.R. and M.C. Schubert, *Traumatic Brain Injury and Vestibular Pathology As A Comorbidity After Blast Exposure*. Physical Therapy, 2009. **89**(9): p. 980-92.
- 122. Trudeau, D.L., J. Anderson, L.M. Hansen, D.N. Shagalov, J. Schmoller, S. Nugent, and S. Barton, *Findings Of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury In Combat Veterans With PTSD And A History Of Blast Concussion*. Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience, 1998. 10(3): p. 308-13.

- 123. Elder, G.A., *Update on TBI and Cognitive Impairment in Military Veterans*. Curr Neurology and Neuroscience Reports, 2015. **15**(10): p. 68.
- Hicks, R.R., S.J. Fertig, R.E. Desrocher, W.J. Koroshetz, and J.J. Pancrazio, *Neurological Effects of Blast Injury*. The Journal of Trauma, 2010. 68(5): p. 1257-1263.
- Taber, K.H., D.L. Warden, and R.A. Hurley, *Blast-Related Traumatic Brain Injury: What Is Known?* The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 2006.
 18(2): p. 141-5.
- 126. Sajja, V.S., W.B. Hubbard, C.S. Hall, F. Ghoddoussi, M.P. Galloway, and P.J. VandeVord, *Enduring Deficits in Memory And Neuronal Pathology After Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury*. Scientific Reports, 2015. 5: p. 15075.
- 127. Baalman, K.L., R.J. Cotton, S.N. Rasband, and M.N. Rasband, *Blast Wave Exposure Impairs Memory and Decreases Axon Initial Segment Length*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(9): p. 741-751.
- 128. Beamer, M., S.R. Tummala, D. Gullotti, C. Kopil, S. Gorka, A. Ted, C.R. Bass, B. Morrison, 3rd, A.S. Cohen, and D.F. Meaney, *Primary Blast Injury Causes Cognitive Impairments and Hippocampal Circuit Alterations*. Experimental Neurology, 2016. 283(Pt A): p. 16-28.
- 129. Sajja, V.S., E.S. Ereifej, and P.J. VandeVord, *Hippocampal Vulnerability and Subacute Response Following Varied Blast Magnitudes*. Neuroscience Letters, 2014. **570**: p. 33-7.
- 130. Tweedie, D., L. Rachmany, V. Rubovitch, Y. Li, H.W. Holloway, E. Lehrmann, Y. Zhang, K.G. Becker, E. Perez, B.J. Hoffer, C.G. Pick, and N.H. Greig, *Blast Traumatic Brain Injury-Induced Cognitive Deficits Are Attenuated By Preinjury Or Postinjury Treatment With The Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist, Exendin-4.* Alzheimers and Dementia, 2016. **12**(1): p. 34-48.
- 131. Tweedie, D., L. Rachmany, V. Rubovitch, Y. Zhang, K.G. Becker, E. Perez, B.J. Hoffer, C.G. Pick, and N.H. Greig, *Changes In Mouse Cognition And Hippocampal Gene Expression Observed In A Mild Physical- And Blast-Traumatic Brain Injury*. Neurobiology of Disease, 2013. 54: p. 1-11.

- Vorhees, C.V. and M.T. Williams, Assessing Spatial Learning and Memory in Rodents. The official journal of the Institute for Laboratory Animal Research, 2014. 55(2): p. 310-32.
- 133. Budde, M.D., A. Shah, M. McCrea, W.E. Cullinan, F.A. Pintar, and B.D. Stemper, Primary Blast Traumatic Brain Injury in The Rat: Relating Diffusion Tensor Imaging And Behavior. Frontiers in Neurology, 2013. 4: p. 154.
- 134. Ning, Y.L., N. Yang, X. Chen, Z.A. Zhao, X.Z. Zhang, X.Y. Chen, P. Li, Y. Zhao, and Y.G. Zhou, *Chronic Caffeine Exposure Attenuates Blast-Induced Memory Deficit in Mice*. Chinese Journal of Traumatology, 2015. **18**(4): p. 204-11.
- 135. Ahlers, S.T., E. Vasserman-Stokes, M.C. Shaughness, A.A. Hall, D.A. Shear, M. Chavko, R.M. McCarron, and J.R. Stone, Assessment Of the Effects Of Acute And Repeated Exposure To Blast Overpressure In Rodents: Toward A Greater Understanding Of Blast And The Potential Ramifications For Injury In Humans Exposed To Blast. Frontiers in Neurology, 2012. 3: p. 32.
- 136. Hall, A.A., M.I. Mendoza, H. Zhou, M. Shaughness, E. Maudlin-Jeronimo, R.M. McCarron, and S.T. Ahlers *Repeated Low Intensity Blast Exposure Is Associated with Damaged Endothelial Glycocalyx and Downstream Behavioral Deficits*. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 2017. **11**, 104 DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00104.
- 137. Kamnaksh, A., S.K. Kwon, E. Kovesdi, F. Ahmed, E.S. Barry, N.E. Grunberg, J. Long, and D. Agoston, *Neurobehavioral, Cellular, And Molecular Consequences of Single And Multiple Mild Blast Exposure*. Electrophoresis, 2012. 33(24): p. 3680-92.
- Kamnaksh, A., E. Kovesdi, S.K. Kwon, D. Wingo, F. Ahmed, N.E. Grunberg, J. Long, and D.V. Agoston, *Factors Affecting Blast Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2011. 28(10): p. 2145-2153.
- 139. Rosenfeld, J.V. and N.L. Ford, *Bomb Blast, Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychiatric Morbidity: A Review.* Injury, 2010. **41**(5): p. 437-443.
- 140. Collen, J., N. Orr, C.J. Lettieri, K. Carter, and A.B. Holley, *Sleep Disturbances Among Soldiers with Combat-Related Traumatic Brain Injury*. Chest, 2012. 142(3): p. 622-630.

- 141. Kovesdi, E., A. Kamnaksh, D. Wingo, F. Ahmed, N.E. Grunberg, J.B. Long, C.E. Kasper, and D.V. Agoston, *Acute Minocycline Treatment Mitigates the Symptoms Of Mild Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury*. Frontiers in Neurology, 2012. 3: p. 111.
- 142. Perez-Garcia, G., M.A. Gama Sosa, R. De Gasperi, M. Lashof-Sullivan, E. Maudlin-Jeronimo, J.R. Stone, F. Haghighi, S.T. Ahlers, and G.A. Elder, *Chronic Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder-Related Traits In A Rat Model Of Low-Level Blast Exposure*. Behavior and Brain Research, 2016.
- 143. Sajja, V.S.S.S., W.B. Hubbard, and P.J. VandeVord, *Subacute Oxidative Stress and Glial Reactivity in the Amygdala are Associated with Increased Anxiety Following Blast Neurotrauma*. Shock (Augusta, Ga.), 2015. **44 Suppl 1**: p. 71-8.
- 144. Stemper, B.D., A.S. Shah, M.D. Budde, C.M. Olsen, A. Glavaski-Joksimovic, S.N. Kurpad, M. McCrea, and F.A. Pintar, *Behavioral Outcomes Differ between Rotational Acceleration and Blast Mechanisms of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. Frontiers in Neurology, 2016. 7: p. 31.
- 145. Awwad, H.O., L.P. Gonzalez, P. Tompkins, M. Lerner, D.J. Brackett, V. Awasthi, and K.M. Standifer, *Blast Overpressure Waves Induce Transient Anxiety and Regional Changes in Cerebral Glucose Metabolism and Delayed Hyperarousal in Rats.* Frontiers in Neurology, 2015. **6**: p. 132.
- 146. Park, E., R. Eisen, A. Kinio, and A.J. Baker, *Electrophysiological White Matter Dysfunction and Association With Neurobehavioral Deficits Following Low-Level Primary Blast Trauma*. Neurobiology of Disease, 2013. **52**: p. 150-9.
- 147. Perez-Garcia, G., R. De Gasperi, M.A. Gama Sosa, G.M. Perez, A. Otero-Pagan, A. Tschiffely, R.M. McCarron, S.T. Ahlers, G.A. Elder, and S. Gandy, *PTSD-Related Behavioral Traits in a Rat Model of Blast-Induced mTBI Are Reversed by the mGluR2/3 Receptor Antagonist BCI-838*. eNeuro, 2018. 5(1).
- 148. Heffernan, M.E., W. Huang, K.M. Sicard, B.T. Bratane, E.M. Sikoglu, N. Zhang, M. Fisher, and J.A. King, *Multi-Modal Approach for Investigating Brain And Behavior Changes In An Animal Model Of Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(11): p. 1007-1012.

- 149. Cernak, I., A.C. Merkle, V.E. Koliatsos, J.M. Bilik, Q.T. Luong, T.M. Mahota, L. Xu, N. Slack, D. Windle, and F.A. Ahmed, *The Pathobiology of Blast Injuries And Blast-Induced Neurotrauma As Identified Using A New Experimental Model Of Injury In Mice*. Neurobiology of Disease, 2011. 41(2): p. 538-551.
- 150. Akin, F.W. and O.D. Murnane, *Head injury and Blast Exposure: Vestibular Consequences*. Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America, 2011. **44**(2): p. 323-334.
- 151. Gattu, R., F.W. Akin, A.T. Cacace, C.D. Hall, O.D. Murnane, and E.M. Haacke, Vestibular, Balance, Microvascular and White Matter Neuroimaging Characteristics Of Blast Injuries And Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Four Case Reports. Brain Injury, 2016. **30**(12): p. 1501-1514.
- 152. Vanderploeg, R.D., G. Curtiss, C.A. Luis, and A.M. Salazar, *Long-Term Morbidities Following Self-Reported Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 2007. **29**(6): p. 585-98.
- 153. Wares, J.R., K.W. Hoke, W. Walker, L.M. Franke, D.X. Cifu, W. Carne, and C. Ford-Smith, *Characterizing Effects of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury And Posttraumatic Stress Disorder On Balance Impairments In Blast-Exposed Servicemembers And Veterans Using Computerized Posturography.* Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development, 2015. **52**(5): p. 591-603.
- 154. Hamm, R.J., B.R. Pike, D.M. O'Dell, B.G. Lyeth, and L.W. Jenkins, *The Rotarod Test: An Evaluation of Its Effectiveness in Assessing Motor Deficits Following Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 1994. **11**(2): p. 187-196.
- 155. Buitrago, M.M., J.B. Schulz, J. Dichgans, and A.R. Luft, *Short And Long-Term Motor Skill Learning In An Accelerated Rotarod Training Paradigm*. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 2004. **81**(3): p. 211-6.
- 156. Scott, D. and K.E. Saatman, *Cognitive and Motor Function Assessments in Rodent Models of Traumatic Brain Injury*, in *Pre-Clinical and Clinical Methods in Brain Trauma Research*. 2018, Springer. p. 139-154.
- 157. Wang, Y., Y.L. Wei, S. Oguntayo, W. Wilkins, P. Arun, M. Valiyaveettil, J. Song, J.B. Long, and M.P. Nambiar, *Tightly Coupled Repetitive Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury: Development and Characterization in Mice*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2011. 28(10): p. 2171-2183.

- 158. Vandevord, P.J., R. Bolander, V.S. Sajja, K. Hay, and C.A. Bir, *Mild Neurotrauma Indicates A Range-Specific Pressure Response To Low Level Shock Wave Exposure.* Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 2012. **40**(1): p. 227-36.
- 159. Carr, W., K.C. Dell, M.A. Yanagi, D.M. Hassan, and M.L. LoPresti, *Perspectives* on Repeated Low-Level Blast and the Measurement of Neurotrauma in Humans as an Occupational Exposure Risk. Shock Waves, 2017. **27**(6): p. 829-836.
- Capo-Aponte, J.E., G.M. Jurek, D.V. Walsh, L.A. Temme, W.A. Ahroon, and D.W. Riggs, *Effects Of Repetitive Low-Level Blast Exposure On Visual System And Ocular Structures*. Journal of Rehabilitation Research Development, 2015. 52(3): p. 273-90.
- 161. Divani, A.A., A.J. Murphy, J. Meints, H. Sadeghi-Bazargani, J. Nordberg, M. Monga, W.C. Low, P.M. Bhatia, G.J. Beilman, and K.S. SantaCruz, A Novel Preclinical Model of Moderate Primary Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2015. **32**(14): p. 1109-16.
- 162. Cernak, I., A.C. Merkle, V.E. Koliatsos, J.M. Bilik, Q.T. Luong, T.M. Mahota, L. Xu, N. Slack, D. Windle, and F.A. Ahmed, *The Pathobiology Of Blast Injuries And Blast-Induced Neurotrauma As Identified Using A New Experimental Model Of Injury In Mice*. Neurobiology of Disease, 2011. 41(2): p. 538-51.
- 163. Elder, G.A., N.P. Dorr, R. De Gasperi, M.A. Gama Sosa, M.C. Shaughness, E. Maudlin-Jeronimo, A.A. Hall, R.M. McCarron, and S.T. Ahlers, *Blast Exposure Induces Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder-Related Traits in a Rat Model of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2012. 29(16): p. 2564-2575.
- 164. Kovesdi, E., A.B. Gyorgy, S.K. Kwon, D.L. Wingo, A. Kamnaksh, J.B. Long, C.E. Kasper, and D.V. Agoston, *The Effect of Enriched Environment On The Outcome Of Traumatic Brain Injury; A Behavioral, Proteomics, And Histological Study.* Frontiers in Neuroscience, 2011. 5: p. 42.
- 165. Alay, E., M. Skotak, A. Misistia, and N. Chandra, Dynamic Loads on Human And Animal Surrogates At Different Test Locations In Compressed-Gas-Driven Shock Tubes. Shock Waves, 2018. 28(1): p. 51-62.
- 166. Chandra, N., A. Sundaramurthy, and R.K. Gupta, Validation Of Laboratory Animal and Surrogate Human Models In Primary Blast Injury Studies. Military Medicine, 2017. 182(suppl_1): p. 105-113.

- 167. Ganpule, S., R. Salzar, B. Perry, and N. Chandra, *Role Of Helmets in Blast Mitigation: Insights from Experiments on PMHS Surrogate.* International Journal of Experimental and Computational Biomechanics, 2016. **4**(1): p. 13-31.
- 168. Ravula, A.R., J. Rodriguez, D. Younger, V. Perumal, N. Shao, K.V. Rama Rao, B. Pfister, and N. Chandra, *Animal Model of Repeated Low-Level Blast Traumatic Brain Injury Displays Acute And Chronic Neurobehavioral And Neuropathological Changes*. Experimental Neurology, 2021: p. 113938.
- 169. Walf, A.A. and C.A. Frye, *The Use of The Elevated Plus Maze As An Assay of Anxiety-Related Behavior In Rodents*. Nature Protocols, 2007. **2**(2): p. 322-328.
- Antunes, M. and G. Biala, *The Novel Object Recognition Memory: Neurobiology, Test Procedure, and Its Modifications.* Cognitive Processing, 2012. 13(2): p. 93-110.
- 171. Baxter, M.G., "I've Seen It All Before": Explaining Age-Related Impairments in Object Recognition. Behavioral Neuroscience, 2010. **124**(5): p. 706-709.
- 172. Silvers, J.M., S.B. Harrod, C.F. Mactutus, and R.M. Booze, *Automation of the Novel Object Recognition Task For Use In Adolescent Rats.* Journal of Neuroscience Methods, 2007. **166**(1): p. 99-103.
- 173. Goulart, B., M. De Lima, C. De Farias, G. Reolon, V. Almeida, J. Quevedo, F. Kapczinski, N. Schröder, and R. Roesler, *Ketamine Impairs Recognition Memory Consolidation and Prevents Learning-Induced Increase In Hippocampal Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels*. Neuroscience, 2010. 167(4): p. 969-973.
- 174. Bevins, R.A. and J. Besheer, *Object Recognition in Rats And Mice: A One-Trial Non-Matching-To-Sample Learning Task To Study 'recognition Memory'*. Nature Protocols, 2006. **1**(3): p. 1306.
- 175. Taglialatela, G., D. Hogan, W.-R. Zhang, and K.T. Dineley, *Intermediate-And Long-Term Recognition Memory Deficits in Tg2576 Mice Are Reversed With Acute Calcineurin Inhibition.* Behavioural Brain Research, 2009. **200**(1): p. 95-99.
- 176. Murugan, M., A. Ravula, A. Gandhi, G. Vegunta, S. Mukkamalla, W. Mujib, and N. Chandra, *Chemokine signaling mediated monocyte infiltration affects anxiety-like behavior following blast injury*. Brain Behavior and Immunity, 2020.

- 177. Mouzon, B., H. Chaytow, G. Crynen, C. Bachmeier, J. Stewart, M. Mullan, W. Stewart, and F. Crawford, *Repetitive Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in A Mouse Model Produces Learning And Memory Deficits Accompanied By Histological Changes.* Journal of Neurotrauma, 2012. **29**(18): p. 2761-73.
- 178. Elder, G.A., N.P. Dorr, R. De Gasperi, M.A.G. Sosa, M.C. Shaughness, E. Maudlin-Jeronimo, A.A. Hall, R.M. McCarron, and S.T. Ahlers, *Blast Exposure Induces Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder-Related Traits in a Rat Model of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2012. **29**(16): p. 2564-2575.
- 179. Perez-Garcia, G., M.A. Gama Sosa, R. De Gasperi, M. Lashof-Sullivan, E. Maudlin-Jeronimo, J.R. Stone, F. Haghighi, S.T. Ahlers, and G.A. Elder, *Chronic Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder-Related Traits In A Rat Model Of Low-Level Blast Exposure*. Behavioural Brain Research, 2016. 340: p. 117-125.
- Aravind, A., A.R. Ravula, N. Chandra, and B.J. Pfister, *Behavioral Deficits in* Animal Models of Blast Traumatic Brain Injury. Frontiers in Neurology, 2020. 11: p. 990-990.
- 181. Ahmed, F.A., A. Kamnaksh, E. Kovesdi, J.B. Long, and D.V. Agoston, Long-Term Consequences of Single And Multiple Mild Blast Exposure On Select Physiological Parameters And Blood-Based Biomarkers. Electrophoresis, 2013. 34(15): p. 2229-33.
- Arun, P., W.B. Rittase, D.M. Wilder, Y. Wang, I.D. Gist, and J.B. Long, *Defective Methionine Metabolism in The Brain After Repeated Blast Exposures Might Contribute To Increased Oxidative Stress.* Neurochemistry International, 2018. 112: p. 234-238.
- 183. Heyburn, L., R. Abutarboush, S. Goodrich, R. Urioste, A. Batuure, J. Statz, D. Wilder, S.T. Ahlers, J.B. Long, and V.S.S.S. Sajja, *Repeated Low-Level Blast Overpressure Leads to Endovascular Disruption and Alterations in TDP-43 and Piezo2 in a Rat Model of Blast TBI.* Frontiers in Neurology, 2019. **10**(766).
- 184. Kamnaksh, A., F. Ahmed, E. Kovesdi, E.S. Barry, N.E. Grunberg, J.B. Long, and D.V. Agoston, *Molecular Mechanisms of Increased Cerebral Vulnerability After Repeated Mild Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury*. Translational Proteomics, 2014. 3: p. 22-37.

- 185. Meabon, J.S., B.R. Huber, D.J. Cross, T.L. Richards, S. Minoshima, K.F. Pagulayan, G. Li, K.D. Meeker, B.C. Kraemer, and E.C. Petrie, *Repetitive Blast Exposure in Mice And Combat Veterans Causes Persistent Cerebellar Dysfunction*. Science Translational Medicine, 2016. 8(321): p. 321ra6-321ra6.
- 186. Wang, Y., Y. Wei, S. Oguntayo, W. Wilkins, P. Arun, M. Valiyaveettil, J. Song, J.B. Long, and M.P. Nambiar, *Tightly Coupled Repetitive Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury: Development and Characterization In Mice*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2011. 28(10): p. 2171-83.
- 187. Karch, S.J., J.E. Capó-Aponte, D.S. McIlwain, M. Lo, S. Krishnamurti, R.N. Staton, and K. Jorgensen-Wagers, *Hearing Loss and Tinnitus in Military Personnel with Deployment-Related Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. U.S. Army Medical Department journal, 2016(3-16): p. 52-63.
- 188. Mao, J.C., E. Pace, P. Pierozynski, Z. Kou, Y. Shen, P. VandeVord, E.M. Haacke, X. Zhang, and J. Zhang, *Blast-Induced Tinnitus and Hearing Loss in Rats: Behavioral and Imaging Assays.* Journal of Neurotrauma, 2011. 29(2): p. 430-444.
- Scherer, M.R. and M.C. Schubert, *Traumatic Brain Injury and Vestibular Pathology as a Comorbidity After Blast Exposure*. Physical Therapy, 2009. 89(9): p. 980-992.
- 190. Studlack, P.E., K. Keledjian, T. Farooq, T. Akintola, V. Gerzanich, J.M. Simard, and A. Keller, *Blast-Induced Brain Injury In Rats Leads To Transient Vestibulomotor Deficits And Persistent Orofacial Pain.* Brain Injury, 2018. **32**(13-14): p. 1866-1878.
- 191. Papesh, M.A., J.E. Elliott, M.L. Callahan, D. Storzbach, M.M. Lim, and F.J. Gallun, Blast Exposure Impairs Sensory Gating: Evidence from Measures of Acoustic Startle and Auditory Event-Related Potentials. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2018. 36(5): p. 702-712.
- 192. Elder, G.A. and A. Cristian, *Blast-Related Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Mechanisms of Injury And Impact On Clinical Care.* Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine, 2009. **76**(2): p. 111-8.
- 193. Ashafaq, M., H. Tabassum, and S. Parvez, *Modulation Of Behavioral Deficits and Neurodegeneration By Tannic Acid In Experimental Stroke Challenged Wistar Rats.* Molecular Neurobiology, 2017. **54**(8): p. 5941-5951.

- 194. Bergold, P.J., *Treatment of traumatic brain injury with anti-inflammatory drugs*. Experimental Neurology, 2016. **275**: p. 367-380.
- 195. Habtemariam, S., Antioxidant and Anti-inflammatory Mechanisms of Neuroprotection by Ursolic Acid: Addressing Brain Injury, Cerebral Ischemia, Cognition Deficit, Anxiety, and Depression. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2019. 2019: p. 8512048.
- 196. Zhu, S., J. Wang, Y. Zhang, J. He, J. Kong, J.-F. Wang, and X.-M. Li, *The Role Of Neuroinflammation And Amyloid In Cognitive Impairment In An APP/PS1 Transgenic Mouse Model Of Alzheimer's Disease*. CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 2017. 23(4): p. 310-320.
- Arun, P., W.B. Rittase, D.M. Wilder, Y. Wang, I.D. Gist, and J.B. Long, *Defective Methionine Metabolism In The Brain After Repeated Blast Exposures Might Contribute To Increased Oxidative Stress.* Neurochemistry International, 2018. 112: p. 234-238.
- 198. Rana, P., K.V. Rama Rao, A. Ravula, R. Trivedi, M. D'Souza, A.K. Singh, R.K. Gupta, and N. Chandra, Oxidative Stress Contributes to Cerebral Metabolomic Profile Changes In Animal Model Of Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury. Metabolomics, 2020. 16(3): p. 39.
- 199. Readnower, R.D., M. Chavko, S. Adeeb, M.D. Conroy, J.R. Pauly, R.M. McCarron, and P.G. Sullivan, *Increase In Blood–Brain Barrier Permeability, Oxidative Stress, And Activated Microglia In A Rat Model Of Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury.* Journal of Neuroscience Research, 2010. 88(16): p. 3530-3539.
- 200. Hernandez, A., C. Tan, F. Plattner, A.F. Logsdon, K. Pozo, M.A. Yousuf, T. Singh, R.C. Turner, B.P. Luke-Wold, J.D. Huber, C.L. Rosen, and J.A. Bibb, *Exposure To Mild Blast Forces Induces Neuropathological Effects, Neurophysiological Deficits And Biochemical Changes.* Molecular Brain, 2018. **11**(1): p. 64.
- 201. Ning, Y.L., N. Yang, X. Chen, Z.A. Zhao, X.Z. Zhang, X.Y. Chen, P. Li, Y. Zhao, and Y.G. Zhou, *Chronic Caffeine Exposure Attenuates Blast-Induced Memory Deficit In Mice*. Chinease Journal of Traumatology, 2015. **18**(4): p. 204-11.

- 202. Chang, Y., J. Zhu, D. Wang, H. Li, Y. He, K. Liu, X. Wang, Y. Peng, S. Pan, and K. Huang, NLRP3 Inflammasome-Mediated Microglial Pyroptosis Is Critically Involved In The Development Of Post-Cardiac Arrest Brain Injury. J Neuroinflammation, 2020. 17(1): p. 219.
- 203. Liu, H.-D., W. Li, Z.-R. Chen, Y.-C. Hu, D.-D. Zhang, W. Shen, M.-L. Zhou, L. Zhu, and C.-H. Hang, *Expression of the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Cerebral Cortex After Traumatic Brain Injury in a Rat Model*. Neurochemical Research, 2013. 38(10): p. 2072-2083.
- 204. Tan, S.W., Y. Zhao, P. Li, Y.L. Ning, Z.Z. Huang, N. Yang, D. Liu, and Y.G. Zhou, HMGB1 Mediates Cognitive Impairment Caused by The NLRP3 Inflammasome In The Late Stage of Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2021. 18(1): p. 241.
- 205. Wallisch, J.S., D.W. Simon, H. Bayir, M.J. Bell, P.M. Kochanek, and R.S.B. Clark, *Cerebrospinal Fluid NLRP3 Is Increased After Severe Traumatic Brain Injury in Infants And Children.* Neurocritical Care, 2017. **27**(1): p. 44-50.
- 206. Yan, C., H. Yan, J. Mao, Y. Liu, L. Xu, H. Zhao, J. Shen, Y. Cao, Y. Gao, K. Li, and W. Jin, *Neuroprotective Effect of Oridonin on Traumatic Brain Injury via Inhibiting NLRP3 Inflammasome in Experimental Mice*. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 2020. 14: p. 557170.
- 207. Yuan, D., S. Guan, Z. Wang, H. Ni, D. Ding, W. Xu, and G. Li, *HIF-1α Aggravated Traumatic Brain Injury by NLRP3 Inflammasome-Mediated Pyroptosis And Activation Of Microglia*. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy, 2021. **116**: p. 101994.
- 208. Rama Rao, K.V., S. Iring, D. Younger, M. Kuriakose, M. Skotak, E. Alay, R.K. Gupta, and N. Chandra, A Single Primary Blast-Induced Traumatic Brain Injury in a Rodent Model Causes Cell-Type Dependent Increase in Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase Isoforms in Vulnerable Brain Regions. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2018. 35(17): p. 2077-2090.
- 209. Fernández-Arjona, M.d.M., J.M. Grondona, P. Granados-Durán, P. Fernández-Llebrez, and M.D. López-Ávalos, *Microglia Morphological Categorization in a Rat Model of Neuroinflammation by Hierarchical Cluster and Principal Components Analysis.* Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 2017. 11(235).

- 210. Sheng, J.G., R.E. Mrak, and W.S. Griffin, *Neuritic Plaque Evolution in Alzheimer's* Disease Is Accompanied By Transition Of Activated Microglia From Primed To Enlarged To Phagocytic Forms. Acta Neuropathologica, 1997. **94**(1): p. 1-5.
- 211. Torres-Platas, S.G., S. Comeau, A. Rachalski, G.D. Bo, C. Cruceanu, G. Turecki, B. Giros, and N. Mechawar, *Morphometric Characterization Of Microglial Phenotypes In Human Cerebral Cortex*. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2014. 11(1): p. 12.
- 212. Cernak, I., Z. Wang, J. Jiang, X. Bian, and J. Savic, *Cognitive Deficits Following Blast Injury-Induced Neurotrauma: Possible Involvement of Nitric Oxide*. Brain Injury, 2001. **15**(7): p. 593-612.
- Jimenez, J.C., K. Su, A.R. Goldberg, V.M. Luna, J.S. Biane, G. Ordek, P. Zhou, S.K. Ong, M.A. Wright, and L. Zweifel, *Anxiety Cells in a Hippocampal-Hypothalamic circuit*. Neuron, 2018. 97(3): p. 670-683. e6.
- 214. Kerr, M.S.D., P. Sacré, K. Kahn, H.-J. Park, M. Johnson, J. Lee, S. Thompson, J. Bulacio, J. Jones, J. González-Martínez, C. Liégeois-Chauvel, S.V. Sarma, and J.T. Gale, *The Role of Associative Cortices and Hippocampus During Movement Perturbations*. Frontiers in Neural Circuits, 2017. **11**: p. 26-26.
- 215. Revest, J.M., D. Dupret, M. Koehl, C. Funk-Reiter, N. Grosjean, P.V. Piazza, and D.N. Abrous, *Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis Is Involved in Anxiety-Related Behaviors*. Molecular Psychiatry, 2009. **14**(10): p. 959-967.
- Kreisman, N.R., S. Soliman, and D. Gozal, *Regional Differences in Hypoxic Depolarization and Swelling in Hippocampal Slices*. Journal of Neurophysiology, 2000. 83(2): p. 1031-1038.
- 217. Wang, X., N. Li, L. Yu, H. Zhao, and Y. Zhang, *Duplication And Functional Diversification of Pancreatic Ribonuclease (RNASE1) Gene*. Chinese Science Bulletin, 2010. 55(1): p. 2-6.
- 218. Almeida, M.F., T. Piehler, K.E. Carstens, M. Zhao, M. Samadi, S.M. Dudek, C.J. Norton, C.M. Parisian, K.L.G. Farizatto, and B.A. Bahr, *Distinct And Dementia-Related Synaptopathy In The Hippocampus After Military Blast Exposures*. Brain Pathology, 2021. **31**(3): p. e12936.

- 219. Effgen, G.B., T. Ong, S. Nammalwar, A.I. Ortuño, D.F. Meaney, C.R. 'Dale' Bass, and B. Morrison, *Primary Blast Exposure Increases Hippocampal Vulnerability to Subsequent Exposure: Reducing Long-Term Potentiation*. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2015. **33**(20): p. 1901-1912.
- 220. Sajja, V.S.S.S., E.S. Ereifej, and P.J. VandeVord, *Hippocampal Vulnerability And Subacute Response Following Varied Blast Magnitudes*. Neuroscience Letters, 2014. **570**: p. 33-37.
- 221. Haorah, J., S.H. Ramirez, K. Schall, D. Smith, R. Pandya, and Y. Persidsky, Oxidative Stress Activates Protein Tyrosine Kinase And Matrix Metalloproteinases Leading To Blood–Brain Barrier Dysfunction. Journal of neurochemistry, 2007. 101(2): p. 566-576.
- 222. Bruce-Keller, A.J., S. Gupta, T.E. Parrino, A.G. Knight, P.J. Ebenezer, A.M. Weidner, H. LeVine, J.N. Keller, and W.R. Markesbery, *NOX Activity Is Increased in Mild Cognitive Impairment*. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 2010. **12**(12): p. 1371-1382.
- 223. Ibi, M., J. Liu, N. Arakawa, S. Kitaoka, A. Kawaji, K.-I. Matsuda, K. Iwata, M. Matsumoto, M. Katsuyama, K. Zhu, S. Teramukai, T. Furuyashiki, and C. Yabe-Nishimura, *Depressive-Like Behaviors Are Regulated by NOX1/NADPH Oxidase by Redox Modification of NMDA Receptor 1*. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 2017. **37**(15): p. 4200-4212.
- 224. Russo, R., F. Cattaneo, P. Lippiello, C. Cristiano, F. Zurlo, M. Castaldo, C. Irace, T. Borsello, R. Santamaria, R. Ammendola, A. Calignano, and M.C. Miniaci, *Motor Coordination and Synaptic Plasticity Deficits Are Associated With Increased Cerebellar Activity Of NADPH Oxidase, CAMKII, And PKC At Preplaque Stage In The Tgcrnd8 Mouse Model Of Alzheimer's Disease.* Neurobiology of Aging, 2018. 68: p. 123-133.
- 225. Dheen, S.T., C. Kaur, and E.A. Ling, *Microglial Activation and Its Implications In The Brain Diseases.* Current Medicinal Chemistry, 2007. **14**(11): p. 1189-97.
- 226. Younger, D., M. Murugan, K.V. Rama Rao, L.J. Wu, and N. Chandra, *Microglia Receptors in Animal Models of Traumatic Brain Injury*. Molecular Neurobiology, 2019. **56**(7): p. 5202-5228.

- 227. Murugan, M., A. Ravula, A. Gandhi, G. Vegunta, S. Mukkamalla, W. Mujib, and N. Chandra, *Chemokine Signaling Mediated Monocyte Infiltration Affects Anxiety-Like Behavior Following Blast Injury*. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2020.
- Paul Tompkins, Y.T., 2 Megan Lerner, 3 Larry P. Gonzalez, 4 Stan Lightfoot, 5 Craig H. Rabb, 1 and Daniel J. Brackett3, *Brain Injury: Neuro-Inflammation, Cognitive Deficit, and Magnetic Resonance Imaging in a Model of Blast Induced Traumatic Brain Injury.* Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. 30(22): p. 1888-1897.
- 229. Biswas, S.K., *Does the Interdependence between Oxidative Stress and Inflammation Explain the Antioxidant Paradox?* Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2016. **2016**: p. 5698931.
- 230. Qin, L., Y. Liu, T. Wang, S.J. Wei, M.L. Block, B. Wilson, B. Liu, and J.S. Hong, NADPH Oxidase Mediates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Neurotoxicity and Proinflammatory Gene Expression In Activated Microglia. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2004. 279(2): p. 1415-21.
- 231. Wang, J., M.W. Ma, K.M. Dhandapani, and D.W. Brann, *Regulatory Role of NADPH Oxidase 2 In The Polarization Dynamics And Neurotoxicity Of Microglia/Macrophages After Traumatic Brain Injury.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2017. **113**: p. 119-131.
- 232. Zou, P., X. Liu, G. Li, and Y. Wang, *Resveratrol Pretreatment Attenuates Traumatic Brain Injury in Rats By Suppressing NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation Via SIRT1*. Molecular Medicine Reports, 2018. **17**(2): p. 3212-3217.
- 233. Zheng, B., S. Zhang, Y. Ying, X. Guo, H. Li, L. Xu, and X. Ruan, Administration Of Dexmedetomidine Inhibited NLRP3 Inflammasome and Microglial Cell Activities In Hippocampus Of Traumatic Brain Injury Rats. Bioscience Reports, 2018. 38(5).
- 234. Lin, C., H. Chao, Z. Li, X. Xu, Y. Liu, Z. Bao, L. Hou, Y. Liu, X. Wang, Y. You, N. Liu, and J. Ji, Omega-3 Fatty Acids Regulate NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation and Prevent Behavior Deficits After Traumatic Brain Injury. Experimental Neurology, 2017. 290: p. 115-122.
- 235. Zhou, Y., A. Shao, Y. Yao, S. Tu, Y. Deng, and J. Zhang, *Dual Roles of Astrocytes In Plasticity And Reconstruction After Traumatic Brain Injury.* Cell Communication and Signaling, 2020. **18**(1): p. 1-16.

- 236. Tompkins, P., Y. Tesiram, M. Lerner, L.P. Gonzalez, S. Lightfoot, C.H. Rabb, and D.J. Brackett, *Brain Injury: Neuro-Inflammation, Cognitive Deficit, And Magnetic Resonance Imaging in A Model Of Blast Induced Traumatic Brain Injury.* Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(22): p. 1888-97.
- 237. Goodrich, J.A., J.H. Kim, R. Situ, W. Taylor, T. Westmoreland, F. Du, S. Parks, G. Ling, J.Y. Hwang, A. Rapuano, F.A. Bandak, and N.C. de Lanerolle, *Neuronal And Glial Changes in The Brain Resulting From Explosive Blast In An Experimental Model*. Acta Neuropathologica Communications, 2016. **4**(1): p. 124-124.
- 238. Chen, Y., J. Meng, Q. Xu, T. Long, F. Bi, C. Chang, and W. Liu, *Rapamycin Improves the Neuroprotection Effect Of Inhibition Of NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation After TBI*. Brain Research, 2019. **1710**: p. 163-172.
- 239. Chen, D., B.J. Dixon, D.M. Doycheva, B. Li, Y. Zhang, Q. Hu, Y. He, Z.D. Guo, D. Nowrangi, J. Flores, V. Filippov, J.H. Zhang, and J.P. Tang, *IRE1 Alpha Inhibition Decreased TXNIP/NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation Through Mir-17-5p After Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury in Rats.* Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2018. 15: p. 18.
- Irrera, N., G. Pizzino, M. Calo, G. Pallio, F. Mannino, F. Fama, V. Arcoraci, V. Fodale, A. David, C. Francesca, L. Minutoli, E. Mazzon, P. Bramanti, F. Squadrito, D. Altavilla, and A. Bitto, *Lack of the Nlrp3 Inflammasome Improves Mice Recovery Following Traumatic Brain Injury*. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 2017. 8: p. 10.
- 241. Yi, H.J., J.E. Lee, D.H. Lee, Y.I. Kim, C.B. Cho, I.S. Kim, J.H. Sung, and S.H. Yang, *The Role of NLRP3 In Traumatic Brain Injury and Its Regulation By Pioglitazone*. Journal of Neurosurgery, 2019. **133**(4): p. 1083-1091.
- Zack, G.W., W.E. Rogers, and S.A. Latt, *Automatic measurement of sister chromatid exchange frequency*. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 1977. 25(7): p. 741-53.
- Arganda-Carreras, I., R. Fernandez-Gonzalez, A. Munoz-Barrutia, and C. Ortiz-De-Solorzano, 3D Reconstruction Of Histological Sections: Application To Mammary Gland Tissue. Microscope Research and Technique, 2010. 73(11): p. 1019-29.

- 244. Morrison, H.W. and J.A. Filosa, A Quantitative Spatiotemporal Analysis Of Microglia Morphology During Ischemic Stroke And Reperfusion. J Neuroinflammation, 2013. 10: p. 4.
- 245. Morrison, H.W. and J.A. Filosa, Sex Differences In Astrocyte And Microglia Responses Immediately Following Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion In Adult Mice. Neuroscience, 2016. **339**: p. 85-99.
- 246. Har-Even, M., V. Rubovitch, W.A. Ratliff, B. Richmond-Hacham, B.A. Citron, and C.G. Pick, *Ketogenic Diet As A Potential Treatment For Traumatic Brain Injury In Mice*. Scientific Reports, 2021. **11**(1): p. 23559.
- 247. Mortezaee, K., N. Khanlarkhani, C. Beyer, and A. Zendedel, *Inflammasome: Its Role in Traumatic Brain And Spinal Cord Injury*. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 2018. **233**(7): p. 5160-5169.
- 248. Zhao, J., X. Guo, B. Wang, Z. Yang, T. Huang, D. Guo, M. Zhang, and J. Song, MCC950 Inhibits NLRP3 Inflammasome and Alleviates Axonal Injures in Early Stages of Diffuse Axonal Injury in Rats. Neurochemical Research, 2020. **45**(9): p. 2020-2031.
- 249. Shaheen, M.J., A.M. Bekdash, H.A. Itani, and J.M. Borjac, *Saffron Extract Attenuates Neuroinflammation in Rmtbi Mouse Model By Suppressing NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation Via SIRT1*. PLoS One, 2021. **16**(9): p. e0257211.
- 250. Wei, X., C.C. Hu, Y.L. Zhang, S.L. Yao, and W.K. Mao, *Telmisartan Reduced Cerebral Edema by Inhibiting NLRP3 Inflammasome In Mice With Cold Brain Injury*. Journal of Huazhong University of Science and Technology, 2016. 36(4): p. 576-583.
- Xu, F.L., G. Shen, Z.P. Su, Z.J. He, and L.T. Yuan, *Glibenclamide Ameliorates the* Disrupted Blood-Brain Barrier In Experimental Intracerebral Hemorrhage By Inhibiting The Activation Of NLRP3 Inflammasome. Brain and Behavior, 2019. 9(4): p. 9.
- 252. Rhea, C.K., N.A. Kuznetsov, S.E. Ross, B. Long, J.T. Jakiela, J.M. Bailie, M.A. Yanagi, F.J. Haran, W.G. Wright, R.K. Robins, P.D. Sargent, and J.L. Duckworth, *Development of a Portable Tool for Screening Neuromotor Sequelae From Repetitive Low-Level Blast Exposure*. Military Medicine, 2017. 182(suppl_1): p. 147-154.

- 253. Tate, C.M., K.K. Wang, S. Eonta, Y. Zhang, W. Carr, F.C. Tortella, R.L. Hayes, and G.H. Kamimori, *Serum Brain Biomarker Level, Neurocognitive Performance, and Self-Reported Symptom Changes in Soldiers Repeatedly Exposed to Low-Level Blast: a Breacher Pilot Study.* Journal of Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(19): p. 1620-30.
- 254. Vartanian, O., PhD, L. Coady, MSc, K. Blackler, MSc, B. Fraser, BA, and B. Cheung, PhD, Neuropsychological, Neurocognitive, Vestibular, and Neuroimaging Correlates of Exposure to Repetitive Low-Level Blast Waves: Evidence From Four Nonoverlapping Samples of Canadian Breachers. Military Medicine, 2021. 186(3-4): p. e393-e400.
- 255. Kawoos, U., R. Abutarboush, M. Gu, Y. Chen, J.K. Statz, S.Y. Goodrich, and S.T. Ahlers, *Blast-Induced Temporal Alterations In Blood–Brain Barrier Properties In A Rodent Model*. Scientific Reports, 2021. 11(1): p. 5906.
- 256. Du, X., D.L. Ewert, W. Cheng, M.B. West, J. Lu, W. Li, R.A. Floyd, and R.D. Kopke, *Effects Of Antioxidant Treatment On Blast-Induced Brain Injury*. PloS one, 2013. 8(11): p. e80138.
- Mander, P.K., A. Jekabsone, and G.C. Brown, *Microglia Proliferation Is Regulated* By Hydrogen Peroxide From NADPH Oxidase. The Journal of Immunology, 2006. 176(2): p. 1046-1052.
- 258. Shigemoto-Mogami, Y., K. Hoshikawa, and K. Sato, *Activated Microglia Disrupt The Blood-Brain Barrier And Induce Chemokines And Cytokines In A Rat In Vitro Model.* Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 2018: p. 494.
- 259. Argaw, A.T., Y. Zhang, B.J. Snyder, M.-L. Zhao, N. Kopp, S.C. Lee, C.S. Raine, C.F. Brosnan, and G.R. John, *IL-1β Regulates Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability Via Reactivation Of The Hypoxia-Angiogenesis Program.* The Journal of Immunology, 2006. **177**(8): p. 5574-5584.
- 260. Wang, Y., S. Jin, Y. Sonobe, Y. Cheng, H. Horiuchi, B. Parajuli, J. Kawanokuchi, T. Mizuno, H. Takeuchi, and A. Suzumura, *Interleukin-1β Induces Blood–Brain Barrier Disruption By Downregulating Sonic Hedgehog In Astrocytes*. PloS one, 2014. 9(10): p. e110024.
- 261. Wang, H., W. Zhang, J. Liu, J. Gao, L.e. Fang, Z. Liu, B. Xia, X. Fan, C. Li, and Q. Lu, NF-Kb And Fosb Mediate Inflammation And Oxidative Stress In The Blast Lung Injury Of Rats Exposed To Shock Waves. Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica, 2021. 53(3): p. 283-293.
- 262. Kovacs, D., N. Eszlari, P. Petschner, D. Pap, S. Vas, P. Kovacs, X. Gonda, G. Juhasz, and G. Bagdy, *Effects Of IL1B Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms On Depressive And Anxiety Symptoms Are Determined By Severity And Type Of Life Stress.* Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2016. 56: p. 96-104.
- 263. Pott Godoy, M.C., R. Tarelli, C.C. Ferrari, M.I. Sarchi, and F.J. Pitossi, Central And Systemic IL-1 Exacerbates Neurodegeneration And Motor Symptoms In A Model Of Parkinson's Disease. Brain, 2008. 131(7): p. 1880-1894.
- 264. Herrera, G., G. Calfa, H.B. Schiöth, M. Lasaga, and T. Scimonelli, Memory Consolidation Impairment Induced By Interleukin-1β Is Associated With Changes In Hippocampal Structural Plasticity. Behavioural Brain Research, 2019. 370: p. 111969.
- 265. Li, M., C. Li, H. Yu, X. Cai, X. Shen, X. Sun, J. Wang, Y. Zhang, and C. Wang, Lentivirus-Mediated Interleukin-1β (IL-1β) Knock-Down In The Hippocampus Alleviates Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Induced Memory Deficits And Anxiety-And Depression-Like Behaviors In Mice. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2017. 14(1): p. 1-12.
- 266. Rossi, S., L. Sacchetti, F. Napolitano, V. De Chiara, C. Motta, V. Studer, A. Musella, F. Barbieri, M. Bari, and G. Bernardi, *Interleukin-1β Causes Anxiety By Interacting With The Endocannabinoid System*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2012. 32(40): p. 13896-13905.
- 267. Gentile, A., D. Fresegna, A. Musella, H. Sepman, S. Bullitta, F. De Vito, R. Fantozzi, A. Usiello, M. Maccarrone, and N.B. Mercuri, *Interaction Between Interleukin-1β And Type-1 Cannabinoid Receptor Is Involved In Anxiety-Like Behavior In Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis*. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2016. **13**(1): p. 1-14.
- 268. Shintani, F., S. Kanba, T. Nakaki, M. Nibuya, N. Kinoshita, E. Suzuki, G. Yagi, R. Kato, and M. Asai, *Interleukin-1 Beta Augments Release Of Norepinephrine, Dopamine, And Serotonin In The Rat Anterior Hypothalamus*. Journal of Neuroscience, 1993. 13(8): p. 3574-3581.
- 269. Egawa, T., K. Mishima, N. Egashira, M. Fukuzawa, K. Abe, T. Yae, K. Iwasaki, and M. Fujiwara, *Impairment Of Spatial Memory In Kaolin-Induced Hydrocephalic Rats Is Associated With Changes In The Hippocampal Cholinergic And Noradrenergic Contents.* Behavioural brain research, 2002. **129**(1-2): p. 31-39.

- Gandhi, S. and A.Y. Abramov, *Mechanism of Oxidative Stress in Neurodegeneration*. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2012. 2012: p. 428010.
- 271. Lee, S.-H., M.-W. Lee, D.-G. Ko, B.-Y. Choi, and S.-W. Suh, *The Role of NADPH Oxidase in Neuronal Death and Neurogenesis after Acute Neurological Disorders*. Antioxidants, 2021. **10**(5): p. 739.
- 272. Lewen, A. and L. Hillered, *Involvement Of Reactive Oxygen Species In Membrane Phospholipid Breakdown And Energy Perturbation After Traumatic Brain Injury In The Rat.* Journal of Neurotrauma, 1998. **15**(7): p. 521-530.
- 273. Schaur, R.J., W. Siems, N. Bresgen, and P.M. Eckl, *4-Hydroxy-nonenal-A Bioactive Lipid Peroxidation Product*. Biomolecules, 2015. **5**(4): p. 2247-2337.
- 274. Sharma, P., A.B. Jha, R.S. Dubey, and M. Pessarakli, *Reactive Oxygen Species,* Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful Conditions. Journal of Botany, 2012. **2012**: p. 217037.
- 275. Shen, J., R. Rastogi, X. Geng, and Y. Ding, Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase Activation And Neuronal Death After Ischemic Stroke. Neural Regeneration Research, 2019. 14(6): p. 948-953.
- Singh, A., R. Kukreti, L. Saso, and S. Kukreti, Oxidative Stress: A Key Modulator in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland), 2019. 24(8): p. 1583.
- 277. Monif, M., C.A. Reid, K.L. Powell, K.J. Drummond, T.J. O'Brien, and D.A. Williams, *Interleukin-1β Has Trophic Effects In Microglia And Its Release Is Mediated By P2X7R Pore*. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2016. **13**(1): p. 1-15.
- 278. Guadagno, J., P. Swan, R. Shaikh, and S. Cregan, Microglia-Derived IL-1β Triggers P53-Mediated Cell Cycle Arrest And Apoptosis In Neural Precursor Cells. Cell Death & Disease, 2015. 6(6): p. e1779-e1779.
- 279. Guo, L., D. Wang, Y. Xu, and K. Cui, *Effects Of IL-1β On Hippocampus Cell Apoptosis And Learning Ability Of Vascular Dementia Rats.* European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Science, 2018. 22(18): p. 6042-6048.

- 280. Wang, X.-j., K.-m. Kong, W.-l. Qi, W.-l. Ye, and P.-s. Song, Interleukin-1 Beta Induction Of Neuron Apoptosis Depends On P38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Activity After Spinal Cord Injury. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 2005. 26(8): p. 934-942.
- 281. Ye, L., Y. Huang, L. Zhao, Y. Li, L. Sun, Y. Zhou, G. Qian, and J.C. Zheng, *IL-1β* And TNF-A Induce Neurotoxicity Through Glutamate Production: A Potential Role For Neuronal Glutaminase. Journal of Neurochemistry, 2013. **125**(6): p. 897-908.
- 282. Barger, S.W., M.E. Goodwin, M.M. Porter, and M.L. Beggs, *Glutamate Release From Activated Microglia Requires The Oxidative Burst And Lipid Peroxidation*. Journal of Neurochemistry, 2007. 101(5): p. 1205-1213.
- 283. Pais, T.F., C. Figueiredo, R. Peixoto, M.H. Braz, and S. Chatterjee, Necrotic Neurons Enhance Microglial Neurotoxicity Through Induction Of Glutaminase By A Myd88-Dependent Pathway. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2008. 5(1): p. 1-12.
- 284. Griswold, A.R., H.-C. Huang, and D.A. Bachovchin, *The NLRP1 Inflammasome Induces Pyroptosis in Human Corneal Epithelial Cells.* Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science, 2022. **63**(3): p. 2-2.
- 285. Masters, S.L., M. Gerlic, D. Metcalf, S. Preston, M. Pellegrini, J.A. O'Donnell, K. McArthur, T.M. Baldwin, S. Chevrier, and C.J. Nowell, *NLRP1 Inflammasome Activation Induces Pyroptosis Of Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells*. Immunity, 2012. **37**(6): p. 1009-1023.
- 286. Meng, X.-F., X.-L. Wang, X.-J. Tian, Z.-H. Yang, G.-P. Chu, J. Zhang, M. Li, J. Shi, and C. Zhang, Nod-Like Receptor Protein 1 Inflammasome Mediates Neuron Injury Under High Glucose. Molecular Neurobiology, 2014. 49(2): p. 673-684.